METABOLIC AND PHYSIOLOGICAL STUDIES IN A RAT MODEL OF TYPE 2 DIABETES

ENOKA WIJEKOON







### METABOLIC AND PHYSIOLOGICAL STUDIES IN A RAT MODEL OF TYPE 2

### DIABETES

by

Enoka Wijekoon B.V.Sc (Sri Lanka)

A thesis submitted to the

**School of Graduate Studies** 

in partial fulfillment of the

requirements for the degree of

**Doctor of Philosophy** 

**Department of Biochemistry** 

Memorial University of Newfoundland

November, 2006

St. John's

Newfoundland



Library and Archives Canada

Published Heritage Branch

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada Bibliothèque et Archives Canada

Direction du Patrimoine de l'édition

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

> Your file Votre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-31335-0 Our file Notre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-31335-0

### NOTICE:

The author has granted a nonexclusive license allowing Library and Archives Canada to reproduce, publish, archive, preserve, conserve, communicate to the public by telecommunication or on the Internet, loan, distribute and sell theses worldwide, for commercial or noncommercial purposes, in microform, paper, electronic and/or any other formats.

The author retains copyright ownership and moral rights in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission.

### AVIS:

L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque et Archives Canada de reproduire, publier, archiver, sauvegarder, conserver, transmettre au public par télécommunication ou par l'Internet, prêter, distribuer et vendre des thèses partout dans le monde, à des fins commerciales ou autres, sur support microforme, papier, électronique et/ou autres formats.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur et des droits moraux qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

In compliance with the Canadian Privacy Act some supporting forms may have been removed from this thesis.

While these forms may be included in the document page count, their removal does not represent any loss of content from the thesis.



Conformément à la loi canadienne sur la protection de la vie privée, quelques formulaires secondaires ont été enlevés de cette thèse.

Bien que ces formulaires aient inclus dans la pagination, il n'y aura aucun contenu manquant.

#### Abstract

Mild hyperhomocysteinemia is a risk factor for many diseases, including cardiovascular disease. We determined the effects of insulin resistance and of Type 2 diabetes on homocysteine and amino acid metabolism using Zucker diabetic fatty rats (ZDF/Gmi-fa/fa and ZDF/Gmi +/?). Plasma total homocysteine was reduced in ZDF fa/fa rats by 24% in the pre-diabetic insulin-resistant stage while in the frank diabetic stage there was a 59% reduction. Hepatic activities of several enzymes that remove homocysteine: cystathionine  $\beta$ -synthase, cystathionine  $\gamma$ -lyase and betaine:homocysteine methyltransferase were increased as well as methionine adenosyltransferase. Cystathionine  $\beta$ -synthase and betaine:homocysteine methyltransferase mRNA levels and the hepatic level of S-adenosylmethionine were also increased in the ZDF fa/fa rats. Studies with primary hepatocytes showed that homocysteine export and the transsulfuration flux in cells from ZDF fa/fa rats were particularly sensitive to the presence of betaine, which reduced these fluxes. Interestingly, the liver betaine concentration was found to be significantly lower in the ZDF fa/fa rats at both 5 and 11 weeks. We conclude that the decreased insulin action and the elevation of the counterregulatory hormones observed in diabetes may be responsible for the more efficient homocysteine removal seen in the ZDF fa/fa rats.

Amino acids were measured in plasma, liver and skeletal muscle and the ratios of plasma: liver and plasma: skeletal muscle, were calculated (Chapter 4). At the insulinresistant stage, the plasma concentrations of the gluconeogenic amino acids aspartate, serine, glutamine, glycine and histidine were decreased in the ZDF fa/fa rats while taurine,  $\alpha$ -aminoadipic acid, methionine, phenylalanine, tryptophan and the three branched-chain amino acids were significantly increased. At the diabetic stage, a larger number of gluconeogenic amino acids showed decreased plasma concentrations. The three branched chain amino acids again showed elevated plasma concentrations. In the liver and the skeletal muscles, many of the gluconeogenic amino acids showed lowered concentrations at both stages while the levels of one or all of the branched-chain amino acids were elevated. These changes in amino acid concentration are similar to changes seen in Type 1 diabetes. However, it is evident that insulin resistance alone is capable of bringing about many of the changes in amino acid metabolism observed in Type 2 diabetes.

The next part of the study focused on the effects of the insulin-sensitizing drug, Rosiglitazone, on homocysteine metabolism (Chapter 5). Rosiglitazone is an agonist of the peroxisome proliferator activated receptor  $\gamma$  and is used as an anti-diabetic agent to treat Type 2 diabetes. Male ZDF fa/fa and ZDF fa/+ rats, aged 6 weeks were each divided into 2 groups: Rosiglitazone-treated (RSG) and untreated, and were killed at 12 weeks of age. Rosiglitazone treatment was able to maintain a normal plasma glucose level in the ZDF fa/fa (RSG) rats. At 12 weeks of age, ZDF fa/fa (untreated) rats developed type 2 diabetes as indicated by a 3-fold increase in plasma glucose, while plasma insulin level was similar to ZDF fa/+ rats. The significant reduction observed in plasma homocysteine in the ZDF fa/fa (untreated) rats was returned towards normal by Rosiglitazone treatment. The elevated activity of the transsulfuration enzyme, cystathionine  $\gamma$ -lyase, in the ZDF fa/fa (untreated) rats was corrected by Rosiglitazone treatment while cystathionine  $\beta$ synthase was unaffected. The elevated activity of betaine:homocysteine methyltransferase observed in the ZDF fa/fa (untreated) rats was further increased by Rosiglitazone treatment. That the increased activity of betaine:homocysteine methyltransferase in the ZDF fa/fa (RSG) rats may be a function of increased lipid output from the liver in the face of the lipid redistribution seen with Rosiglitazone is supported by the changes that were observed in phospholipid metabolism.

Type 1 and Type 2 diabetes as well as insulin resistance prior to the development of Type 2 diabetes have been reported to cause endothelial dysfunction. Hyperglycemia has been suggested to play a major role in this development of endothelial dysfunction. Hyperhomocysteinemia has also been identified as a causative agent of endothelial dysfunction. Our earlier studies (Chapter 3 and 5) showed plasma homocysteine to be lower in both insulin resistance and during Type 2 diabetes in ZDF fa/fa rats. We, therefore, designed a study to determine the effects of increased glucose and decreased homocysteine on the function of mesenteric arteries and the effects of normalization of these two parameters with the treatment of Rosiglitazone. 6 week old ZDF fa/+ and ZDF fa/fa rats were randomly assigned to RSG treated and untreated groups as in Chapter 3, and were killed at 6, 12 and 18 weeks of age.

The endothelium dependent vasorelaxation in response to acetylcholine, the proteinase-activated receptor-2 (PAR2) agonist 2-furoyl-LIGRLO-amide (2fli) and arachidonic acid were preserved in the ZDF fa/fa mesenteric arteries despite the hyperinsulinemia at 6 weeks and the hyperglycemia at 12 and 18 weeks. Despite the normalization of plasma glucose and near normalization of plasma homocysteine with the treatment of Rosiglitazone the endothelium dependent vasorelaxation in response to the above agonists did not change, reflecting the lack of any endothelial defects in the mesenteric arteries of these rats.

The inability of the nitric oxide synthase inhibitor  $N_{\omega}$ -Nitro-L-arginine methyl ester hydrochloride (L-NAME) to completely abolish vasorelaxation in response to both acetylcholine and 2fli demonstrates the important role played by endothelium-derived-hyperpolarizing factor in the relaxation of small caliber blood vessels in response to these 2 agonists. Studies conducted with inhibitors of cyclo-oxygenase 1/2 (COX1/2) and calcium activated potassium channels ( $K_{Ca}$ ) to identify the possible nitric oxide synthase independent mechanisms of vasorelaxation indicated both COX and Kca channels to be involved. Kca channels however, were shown to play a greater role than COX 1/2 as previously reported.

We also observed an increased sensitivity towards the PAR2 agonist 2fli by the ZDF fa/fa rat vessels. This may be consistent with the increase in pro-inflammatory substances in the ZDF rat model, as PAR2 expression has been shown to increase during stress to the blood vessels and in the presence of various cytokines and pro-inflammatory substances.

Our data also did not indicate a reduction in vascular smooth muscle cell responsiveness to nitric oxide in the ZDF fa/fa rats compared to ZDF fa/+ rats. Both groups of rats however, displayed a reduced relaxation response to sodium Nitroprusside compared to previously reported values. Treatment with Rosiglitazone was able to successfully restore this responsiveness in both groups of rats. A similar increase in responsiveness was also seen in the ZDF fa/+ and ZDF fa/fa untreated rat vessels as well as ZDF fa/fa (RSG) vessels incubated with L-NAME.

The normal endothelium dependent vasorelaxation displayed by the ZDF fa/fa rats despite the hyperglycemia indicates that hyperglycemia alone may not be able to cause

endothelial dysfunction. Since plasma homocysteine levels in these rats were decreased, it leaves us with the interesting possibility that homocysteine may act as a balance point for development of endothelial dysfunction in this model of Type 2 diabetes.

#### Acknowledgement

I would like to express my deepest gratitude to my supervisor Dr. Sean Brosnan for allowing me the opportunity to work in his lab and for his guidance and help throughout the study. You are undoubtedly the best teacher I have ever known and will always value the kindness and understanding you show towards your students. I would also like to thank Dr. Margaret Brosnan for all the time spent reading my manuscripts and listening to my talks and for your many helpful ideas and comments. My appreciation also goes to Dr. Gene Herzberg for sitting in my supervisory committee and for your valuable comments. I am also thankful to Dr. John McGuire for letting me work in his lab and for all his help in the blood vessel work. I am indebted to Mrs. Bea Hall, without whose expert technical support, this thesis would not have been possible. I would also like to express my gratitude to Mrs. Donna Hunt for her help with HPLC and Dr Shobhitha Ratnam for doing all the molecular work for this thesis. Bea, Donna, Shobhitha and Mr. Barry Walters, you have all made me feel at home thousands of miles away from home, and this I will always remember and your friendship I will always treasure. I would also like to thank Sarah Halfyard for her immense patience in teaching me the blood vessel work and for her help when I was conducting the experiments. The help of Mr. Craig Skinner in analyzing the amino acids is greatly appreciated. To the many students who passed through this lab, you have made this the best place to work. Your friendship and camaraderie is greatly appreciated. Finally, my family, without your love and support this would not be a task that I could have undertaken. I am greatly indebted to you.

# **Table of Contents**

Abstract	ii	
Acknowledgments	vii	
Table of contents	viii	
List of figures	xv	
List of tables	xviii	
List of abbreviations	xxi	
Chapter 1: Introduction	1	
1.1 History and epidemiology	2	
1.2 Plasma forms of Hcy	4	
1.3 Metabolism 5		
1.4 Factors influencing methionine and Hcy metabolism		
1.4.1 Gender and age	16	
1.4.2 Lifestyle	18	
1.4.3 Diet	19	
1.4.4 Methylation demand	20	
1.4.5 Hormonal regulation of plasma Hcy	22	
1.4.6 Redox regulation	24	
1.5 Non-physiological causes of HHcy	26	
1.5.1 Vitamin Deficiency	26	
1.5.2 Genetic disorders	27	
1.5.3 Renal Disorders	30	

1.5.4 Pharmacological intervention	30
1.6 Diabetes Mellitus	32
1.7 Insulin Resistance	33
1.8 Leptin	40
1.9 Treatment of insulin resistance and diabetes with peroxisome-	40
proliferator activated receptor $\gamma$ (PPAR- $\gamma$ ) agonists	
1.10 Cardiovascular disease, diabetes and insulin resistance	42
1.11 Hcy levels in insulin resistance and diabetes	47
1.12 Hcy and cardiovascular disease in diabetes	50
1.13 HHcy and pathogenesis of atherosclerosis	53
1.14 Endothelial dysfunction	56
1.15 Pathophysiology of endothelial dysfunction	58
1.16 Pathophysiological effects of endothelial dysfunction	60
1.17 Perspective	61
1.18 Problems of investigation and objectives	
Chapter 2: Materials and methods	63
2.1 Animals	64
2.2 Rosiglitazone treatment protocol	64
2.3 Metabolism assays	65
2.4 Analytical Procedure	
2.4.1 Plasma Hcy	65
2.4.2 Plasma glucose, creatinine and insulin	67

2.5 Enzyme analysis	67
2.5.1 Methionine adenosyltransferase	87
2.5.2 Glycine <i>N</i> -methyltransferase	87
2.5.3 Cystathionine $\beta$ -synthase	88
2.5.4 Cystathionine $\gamma$ -lyase	88
2.5.5 Methionine synthase	89
2.5.6 Methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase	89
2.5.7 Betaine:homocysteine methyltransferase	90
2.5.8 Choline dehydrogenase	90
2.6 S-adenosylmethionine and S-adenosylhomocysteine	91
2.7 Reverse Transcriptase-PCR	94
2.8 Isolation of hepatocytes	95
2.9 Transsulfuration Flux	96
2.10 Hcy export from isolated hepatocytes	
2.11 Amino acid analysis	98
2.12 Calculation of intracellular concentrations of amino acids	99
2.13 Isolated blood vessel assays	99
2.13.1 Conditions for isometric tension measurements	99
2.13.2 Vascular function protocol	100
2.13.3 Relaxation inhibitor studies	101
2.13.4 Data analysis	101
2.14 Phospholipid metabolism	
2.14.1 Cytosol and membrane preparation	102

2.14.2 CTP: phosphocholine cytidyltransferase	103
2.14.3 Choline kinase	103
2.14.4 Phosphatidylethanolamine N-methyltransferase	104
2.14.5 Phosphatidylethanolamine and phosphatidylcholine	104
mass in liver and plasma	
2.15 Triacylgycerol	105
2.15.1 Extraction of lipid from liver	105
2.15.2 Plasma and hepatic triacylgycerol	105
2.16 Glomerular filtration rate	105
Chapter 3: Homocysteine metabolism in ZDF (type 2) diabetic rats	106
3.1 Background	107
3.2 Statistical analysis	108
3.3 Results	108
3.3.1 Plasma homocysteine and hepatic enzymes of homocysteine	109
metabolism	
3.3.2 mRNA levels	109
3.3.3 S-adenosylmethionine, S-adenosylhomocysteine and	114
SAM/SAH ratio	
3.3.4 Transsulfuration Flux	114
3.3.5 Homocysteine export	121
3.3.6 Choline and related metabolites	121
3.4 Discussion	125

Chapter 4: Amino acid metabolism in the Zucker Diabetic Fatty Rat:	130
Effects of insulin resistance and of type 2 diabetes	
4.1 Introduction	131
4.2 Results	132
4.2.1 Plasma amino acid concentration	133
4.2.2 Hepatic amino acids	135
4.2.3 Skeletal muscle amino acids	135
4.2.4 Branched-chain amino acids	138
4.3 Discussion	143
Chapter 5: Effect of Rosiglitazone on homocysteine metabolism	149
in ZDF (Type 2) diabetic rats	
5.1 Background	150
5.2 Results	151
5.2.1 Body weight, hepato-somatic index, food intake,	151
water intake and urinary output	
5.2.2 Plasma glucose, insulin, creatinine, and the	153
glomeruler filtration rate	
5.2.3 Plasma Homocysteine	155
5.2.4 Hepatic activities of enzymes of homocysteine metabolism	155
5.2.5 S-adenosylmethionine, S-adenosylhomocysteine and	159
SAM/SAH ratio	
5.2.6 Relative mRNA levels of CBS and BHMT	161

5.2.7 Hepatic activities of enzymes of phospholipid metabolism	161
5.2.8 Phosphatidylcholine and phosphatidylethanolamine levels	165
5.2.9 Hepatic and plasma triacylglycerol levels	165
5.3 Discussion	168

Chapter 6: Type 2 diabetes and vascular function: Effects of Rosiglitazone	178
6.1 Background	179
6.2 Results	181
6.2.1 Contractile function of arteries from ZDF rats	181
6.2.2 Acetylcholine induced endothelial function of the	186
small mesenteric arteries from ZDf rats	
6.2.2.1 Acetylcholine-induced relaxations	186
6.2.3 SNP-induced relaxations	194
6.2.4 PAR2 agonist-induced relaxation	199
6.2.5 Arachidonic acid induced relaxations	199
6.3 Discussion	203
6.3.1 General findings	203
6.3.2 Relaxations by ACh	207
6.3.2.1 Mechanisms of ACh relaxations	207
6.3.3 Relaxations by PAR2 agonist	209
6.3.4 Relaxations by arachidonic acid	210
6.3.5 Relaxations by SNP	211
6.3.6 Rosiglitazone effects on vascular function	211

6.3.7 Hcy plasma levels, rosiglitazone, vascular function	213
6.3.8 Impact of information regarding vascular function,	214
homocysteine, hyperglycemia, diabetes	
Chapter 7: General discussion and conclusions	216

### References

223

# List of Figures

# Chapter 1

1.1	Plasma Forms of Hcy	7
1.2	Methionine metabolic pathway	10
1.3	The choline oxidation pathway	15
1.4	Chemical structure of Rosiglitazone	44

# Chapter 2

•

2.1	Standard curve for Hcy	69
2.2	Dependence of hepatic methionine adenosyltransferase activity	72
	on protein and time	
2.3	Dependence of hepatic glycine N-methyltransferase activity	74
	on protein and time	
2.4	Dependence of cystathionine production by hepatic	76
	cystathionine $\beta$ -synthase on time and protein	
2.5	Dependence of hepatic cystathionine $\gamma$ -lyase activity on protein	78
2.6	Dependence of hepatic methionine synthase activity	80
	on time and protein	
2.7	Dependence of liver Methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase	82
	activity on time and protein	
2.8	Dependence of hepatic betaine:homocysteine methyltransferase	84
	on protein and time	
2.9	Dependence of hepatic choline dehydrogenase on protein and time	86

# Chapter 3

3.1	Plasma Homocysteine	112
3.2	mRNA abundance	116
3.3	Effect of betaine on transsulfuration flux from isolated	119
	hepatocytes	

93

# Chapter 4

4.1	Concentration of Valine and Isoleucine in arterial blood as a	142
	function of leucine concentration and the concentration of	
	Isoleucine in arterial blood as a function of Valine concentration	

# Chapter 5

5.1	Plasma homocysteine concentration	157
5.2	RT-PCR analysis of hepatic CBS mRNA and BHMT mRNA	163
	at 12 weeks of age	

# Chapter 6

6.1 Cumulative concentration-contraction response for the	
α1-adrenoreceptor agonist cirazoline in mesenteric arteries	
of untreated and RSG treated ZDF rats at 6,12 and 18 weeks of age.	
6.2 Effects of L-NAME on cumulative concentration-relaxation	190

	response relationships for acetylcholine in small mesenteric	
	arteries of untreated and RSG-treated ZDF rats at 6, 12 and 18	
	weeks of age	
6.3	ACh-induced relaxations of mesenteric arteries from untreated and	193
	RSG-treated ZDF rats in the presence of L-NAME + indomethacin,	
	L-NAME + TRAM-34 and L-NAME + TRAM-34 + Apamin	
	at 12 and 18 weeks of age.	
6.4	Effects of L-NAME on cumulative concentration-relaxation	197
	response relationships or sodium nitroprusside (SNP) in	
	mesenteric arteries of untreated and RSG-treated	
	ZDF rats at 6, 12 and 18 weeks of age.	
6.5	Effects of L-NAME on cumulative concentration-relaxation	202
	response relationships for PAR2 agonist 2fly in mesenteric	
	arteries of untreated and RSG-treated ZDF rats at 6, 12 and 18	
	weeks of age.	
6.6	Cumulative concentration-relaxation response relationships for	206
	arachidonic acid Na Salt in small mesenteric arteries of untreated	

and RSG-treated ZDF rats at 6, 12 and 18 weeks of age.

### List of Tables

Chapter 2	
2.1 Experimental conditions used in assaying enzyme activities	70
Chapter 3	
3.1 Body weight, plasma insulin, glucose and creatinine levels and the	110
hepato-somatic index of ZDF +/? and ZDF fa/fa rats at 5 and 11 weeks	
3.2 Hepatic activities of enzymes of homocysteine metabolism	113
3.3 Hepatic SAM, SAH and SAM/SAH ratio	117
3.4 Transsulfuration flux in isolated hepatocytes	120
3.5 Homocysteine export from isolated hepatocytes	122
3.6 Choline and related metabolite concentrations in the liver	123
of ZDF +/? and ZDF fa/fa rats aged 5 and 11 weeks	
3.7 Choline and related metabolite concentrations in the plasma	
124	
of ZDF +/? rats and ZDF fa/fa rats at 5 and 11 weeks of age	
Chapter 4	
4.1 Plasma amino acid concentrations (µmole/liter)	134
4.2 Hepatic amino acid levels (nmoles/g)	136
4.3 Intracellular/extracellular concentration ratios for hepatic amino acids	137

4.4 Skeletal muscle amino acid levels (nmoles/g)139

4.5	Intracellular/extracellular concentration ratios for skeletal	140
	muscle amino acids	

# Chapter 5

5.1	Body Weight, Hepato-somatic index, fat pad weight, feed intake,	152
	water intake and urinary output of RSG treated and control	
	ZDF fa/+ and ZDF fa/fa rats	
5.2	Plasma glucose, insulin, creatinine, total urinary creatinine	154
	and GFR of RSG treated and control ZDF fa/+ and ZDF fa/fa rats.	
5.3	Hepatic activities of enzymes of homocysteine metabolism	158
5.4	S-adenosylmethionine, S-adenosylhomocysteine and the SAM/SAH ratio	160
5.5	Hepatic activities of enzymes of phospholipid metabolism	164
5.6	Phosphatidylcholine and Phosphatidylethanolamine levels	166
5.7	Hepatic and plasma Triacylglycerol levels.	167

# Chapter 6

6.1 Contractile responses of ZDF rat arteries induced by high	182
extracellular concentration of KCl	
6.2 Maximal contractile effect and potency for the $\alpha_1$ -adrenoreceptor	183
agonist cirazoline in mesenteric arteries of untreated and RSG-treated	
ZDF rats at 6, 12 and 18 weeks of age.	
6.3 Maximum relaxation effect and potency of acetylcholine on	188
cirazoline-contracted mesenteric arteries of untreated and	

RSG-treated ZDF rats.

- 6.4 Maximum ACh-induced relaxations of cirazoline-contracted
  191
  mesenteric arteries from ZDF fa/+ and ZDF fa/fa rats in the
  presence of various combinations of inhibitors of NO synthases,
  cyclooxygenases, IK<sub>Ca</sub> and SK<sub>Ca</sub>.
- 6.5 Maximum relaxation responses and potency for SNP in cirazoline-195contracted mesenteric arteries of untreated and RSG-treated ZDF rats.
- 6.6 Maximum SNP-induced relaxations of cirazoline-contracted mesenteric
   198 arteries from untreated and RSG-treated ZDF rats in the presence of the
   inhibitor of NO synthases L-NAME (300 µmole/liter).
- 6.7 Maximum relaxation responses and potency for 2fly in cirazoline-200contracted mesenteric arteries of untreated and RSG-treated ZDF rats.
- 6.8 Maximum relaxation responses and potency for arachidonic acid in
   204
   cirazoline-contracted mesenteric arteries of untreated and RSG-treated
   ZDF rats.

### List of Abbreviations

- 2fli: 2-furoyl-LIGRLO-amide
- AA: Arachidonic acid
- ACh: Acetylcholine
- ADMA: Asymmetric dimethylarginine
- AGAT: L-arginine:glycine amidinotransferase
- ANTS: 8-aminonaphthalene-1,3,6-trisulfonic acid
- ATP: Adenosine triphosphate
- BCAA: Branched chain amino acid
- BCKDC: Branched chain α-ketoacid dehydrogenase complex
- BH<sub>4</sub>: Tetrahydrobiopterin
- BHMT: Betaine:homocysteine methyltransferase
- BMI: Body mass index
- BSA: Bovine serum albumin
- cAMP: Cyclic adenosine mono phosphate
- CBS: Cystathionine  $\beta$ -synthase
- CE: Cholesteryl ester
- CETP: Cholesteryl ester transfer protein
- CGL: Cystathionine  $\gamma$ -lyase
- CN: control
- CoA: Coenzyme A
- COMT: Catechol-O-methyltransferase
- COX: Cyclooxygenase

- CT: CTP: phosphocholine cytidyltransferase
- CVD: Cardiovascular disease
- DDAH: Dimethylarginine dimethylaminohydrolase
- DTT: Dithiothreitol
- ECF: Extracellular fluid volume
- EDHF: Endothelium-derived hyperpolarizing factor
- EDTA: Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
- EGTA: Ethylene-Glycol-bis (β-aminoethyl ether)-N,N,N',N'-tetraaceticacid
- ELISA: Enzyme- Linked ImmnoSorbent Assay
- eNOS: Endothelial Nitric oxide synthase
- FFA: Free fatty acids
- GAA: Guanidinoacetic acid
- GAMT: Guanidinoacetate methyltransferase
- GFR: Glomeruler filtration rate
- GLUT: Glucose transporter
- GMP: Guonosine mono phosphate
- GNMT: Glycine N-methyltransferase
- GPC: Glycerophosphorylcholine
- Hcy: Homocysteine
- HDL: High density lipoprotein
- HHcy: Hyperhomocysteinemia
- HPLC: High performance liquid chromatography
- ICAA: Intracellular concentration of amino acids

- ICAM-1: Intercellular adhesion molecule 1
- ICF: Intra cellular fluid volume
- IMCL: Intra myo-cellular lipid
- iNOS: Inducible nitric oxide synthase
- IRS-1: Insulin receptor substrate-1
- Kca: Calcium activated potassium channels
- LCACoA: Long chain fatty acyl CoA
- LDL: Low density lipoprotein
- L-DOPA: L-3,4-dihydroxyphenylalanine
- LNAA: Large neutral amino acid
- L-NAME:  $N_{\omega}$ -Nitro-L-arginine methyl ester hydrochloride
- LOX: Lipoxygenase
- LOX-1: Lectin-like oxidized LDL receptor 1
- MAT: Methionine adenosyltransferase
- MCP 1: Macrophage chemoattractant peptide 1
- MI: Myocardial infarction
- MMP: Matrix mettalloproteinases
- MRS: Magnetic resonance spectroscopy
- MS: Methionine synthase
- MTHFR: Methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase
- NAD<sup>+</sup>: Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (oxidized)
- NADH: Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (reduced)
- NADPH: Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (reduced)

NF  $\kappa$ B: Nucler factor kappa B

NMR: Nuclear magnetic resonance

NO: Nitric oxide

NOD: Non obese diabetic

NOS: Nitric oxide synthase

OR: Odds ratio

PAI-1: Plasminogen activator inhibitor-1

PAR 2: Proteinase activated receptor-2

PC: Phosphatidylcholine

PCho: Phosphorylcholine

PDME: Phosphatidyl-dimethyl-ethanolamine

PE: Phosphatidylethanolamine

PEMT: phosphatidylethanolamine N-methyltransferase

PEPCK: Phosphoenolpyruvate carboxy kinase

PI3 Kinase: Phosphatidylinositol 3 kinase

PKC: Protein kinase C

PL: Phospholipid

PLP: Pyridoxal 5' phosphate

PMS: Phenazine methosulfate

PPAR: Peroxisome proliferator activated receptor

RBP-4: Retinol binding protein-4

ROS: Reactive oxygen species

RSG: Rosiglitazone

RT PCR: Reverse transcriptase polymerase chain reaction

SAH: S-adenosylhomocysteine

SAHH: S-adenosylhomocysteine hydrolase

SAM: S-adenosylmethionine

SHMT: Serine hydroxymethyltransferase

SNP: Sodium Nitroprusside

SRB 1: Scavenger receptor B1

SSC: Sulfosalicylic acid

SSPG: Steady state plasma glucose

TCA: Trichloroacetic acid

TG: Triacylglycerol

tHcy: Total homocysteine

TM: Thrombomodulin

TNF-α: Tumor necrosis factor-α

TRAM-34: 1((2-chlorophenyl) dipenylmethyl]-1H-pyrazole

TZD: Thiazolidinedione

VCAM 1: Vascular adhesion molecule 1

VLDL: Very low density lipoprotein

ZDF: Zucker diabetic fatty

# Chapter 1

Introduction

#### **1.1 History and Epidemiology**

The original hypothesis linking hyperhomocysteinemia (HHcy) with atherothrombotic vascular disease was proposed after the observation of severe arteriosclerotic lesions in two children with elevated plasma homocysteine (Hcy) concentrations and homocysteinuria (McCully, 1969). This led to the proposal that even less severe increases in plasma Hcy may pose a risk. Since then, a plethora of prospective, retrospective and cross-sectional studies have appeared that link moderate HHcy to atherosclerotic disease. These studies show that patients with coronary, cerebrovascular or peripheral arterial occlusive disease have mean plasma total homocysteine (tHcy) levels greater than control subjects. Kang et al (1992) reported mean plasma tHcy to be significantly higher both in male and female patients with coronary artery disease when compared to controls with angiographically normal coronary arteries. Since crosssectional studies deal with patients who already exhibit disease characteristics, they do not answer the question whether HHcy gives rise to the coronary artery disease or vice versa (Stampfer and Malinow, 1995). Two large prospective studies address this question. The Physicians' Health Study, which studied male physicians in the United States, showed that a plasma Hcy concentration only 1.7 µmole/liter or 12 % greater than the upper limit of normal was associated with a 3.4-fold increase in the risk of myocardial infarction (MI) (Stampfer et al, 1992). The Tromso study, which investigated over 21,000 subjects between the ages of 12-61, showed a relative risk for coronary heart disease of 1.32 for an increase in serum Hcy of 4  $\mu$ mol/liter after adjusting for possible confounders (Arnesen et al, 1995). Meta-analyses confirm Hcy's status as an independent risk factor although they disagree on its strength. A meta-analysis of 27 studies relating Hcy to

coronary, cerebrovascular and peripheral arterial vascular disease showed a very strong relationship between these diseases and tHcy (Boushey *et al*, 1995). It was concluded that a 5 µmol/liter increment in tHcy was comparable to a 0.5 mmol/liter increment in cholesterol in increasing the incidence of coronary artery disease. A more recent metaanalysis that examined 30 prospective and retrospective studies confirmed that increased plasma Hcy is an independent predictor of ischemic heart disease but of only moderate strength (Hcy studies collaboration, 2002). The same group (Klerk *et al*, 2002) has reported a meta-analysis of the MTHFR 677TT polymorphism, which tends to increase plasma Hcy, particularly in the context of low folate. They found that individuals with the MTHFR 677TT genotype had a significantly higher risk of cardiovascular disease (CVD) especially when found in conjunction with a low folate status. The uncertainty about the degree of risk associated with elevated plasma Hcy may be attributed to a number of factors, but Stamm and Reynolds (1999) have emphasized one important factor: tHcy in plasma may not be the most appropriate marker of CVD risk. In particular, risk may be more closely linked to either cellular Hcy or to a particular component of plasma Hcy.

There are certain situations in which the risk attributable to Hcy may be elevated. Certainly, there is evidence that HHcy is a stronger risk factor in patients with Type 2 diabetes (Hoogeveen *et al*, 2000) and in patients with existing coronary disease. In the latter group, Nygard *et al* (1997 A) found a direct relationship between plasma Hcy levels and overall mortality; after a follow up of years from the confirmation of coronary artery disease, Kaplan-Meier estimates of mortality were 3.8% for patients with tHcy levels less than 9  $\mu$ mol/liter, 8.6% for patients with Hcy level between 9 and 14.9  $\mu$ mol/liter, and 24.7% for those with levels 15  $\mu$ mol/liter or higher. There is considerable evidence that the cardiovascular risk posed by Hcy is graded; there does not appear to be a threshold effect. A cross sectional study of elderly subjects from the Framingham Heart Study clearly demonstrated a graded increase in the level of extra-cranial stenosis. Similar observations were made in several other studies with regard to different cardiovascular disease states (Arnesen *et al*, 1995, Genest *et al*, 1990).

### 1.2 Plasma Forms of Hcy

Although the term Hcy is used generically, plasma contains several different forms of this amino acid. Plasma tHcy is made up of free and protein-bound Hcy. The free Hcy consists of homocysteine, homocystine and cysteine-homocysteine mixed disulphides (Kang *et al*, 1992) and a protein-bound fraction is linked to proteins by disulphide linkage, principally to cysteine 34 of albumin (Figure 1.1). Typically, in humans, the protein-bound fraction makes up the bulk of plasma tHcy accounting for >70%, homocystine and cysteine-homocysteine mixed disulphides make up 5-15% each, while only trace amounts ( $\leq 1\%$ ) are found as free reduced homocysteine (Jacobsen, 2001). These different forms of Hcy along with reduced, free-oxidized and protein bound forms of cysteine and cysteinylglycine comprise a dynamic system (Ueland *et al*, 1996). A change in any one of these species leads to alterations in the thiol redox status (Ueland *et al*, 1996). Despite the existence of these different forms, typically the parameter measured is "total plasma Hcy", since assays for the separate forms are not yet satisfactory for routine clinical measurement. HHcy is categorized as being moderate, intermediate or severe with basal tHcy values of between 15 and 30, between 31 and 100 and greater than 100 µmol/liter respectively (Kang *et al*, 1992).

"Total plasma Hcy" does not encompass all forms of Hcy in plasma. Hcy thiolactone (Figure 1.1) can be formed in all human cell types; in general, its concentration is markedly increased under conditions of elevated plasma Hcy. It is a cyclic thioester formed as a result of an error-correcting process in aminoacyl-tRNA synthetase (Jakubowski and Fersht, 1981). Protein homocysteinylation, by means of the formation of an amide bond between the carbonyl group of Hcy thiolactone and the  $\varepsilon$ -amino group of lysyl side chains in cellular and extracellular proteins also occurs and can change the function of the protein so modified (Jakubowski, 1999). Such homocysteinylation of proteins, such as low density lipoproteins, has been proposed as the basis for some of the pathological consequences of HHcy. The N-linked Hcy, which can account for up to 23% of plasma Hcy, is not included in the calculation of plasma tHcy (Jakubowski, 2002). Hcy thiolactone is hydrolyzed to Hcy by Hcy thiolactonase, an enzyme associated with high density lipoprotein (Jakubowski, 2000).

#### 1.3 Metabolism

The liver has been shown to play a significant role in the regulation of plasma Hcy levels (Stead *et al*, 2000) because of its full complement of enzymes involved in methionine and Hcy metabolism. Hcy is an intermediate in the pathway of methionine metabolism. The only dietary-essential sulfur-containing amino acid in mammals, methionine contributes to a variety of fundamental biological processes, including protein Figure 1.1. Plasma forms of Hcy


Homocysteine-Cysteine (Mixed Disulphide)



Homocysteine thiolactone



Protein-bound homocysteine (N-linked)

synthesis, methylation reactions as S-adenosylmethionine (SAM), formation of the polyamines spermine and spermidine and the synthesis of cysteine. Hcy is a key substrate in 3 essential biological processes: (1) recycling of intracellular folates; (2) catabolism of choline and betaine; and (3) formation of the non-essential amino acid cysteine and the anti-oxidant glutathione through the transsulfuration pathway (Finkelstein, 1998).

The pathway of methionine metabolism (Figure 1.2) consists of the ubiquitous methionine cycle and the transsulfuration pathway, which has a more limited distribution. The methionine cycle is made up of the transmethylation and the remethylation pathways. In transmethylation, methionine is converted to the high energy sulfonium compound SAM in a reaction catalyzed by methionine adenosyltransferase (MAT) (EC 2.5.1.6). ATP provides the source of the adenosyl moiety. MAT exists in three isoenzymic forms MAT I, MAT II and MAT III, which are products of two different genes MAT 1A and MAT 2A (Chou, 2000). MAT 1A is expressed in mature liver while MAT 2A is expressed in all tissues and is induced during liver growth and dedifferentiation. The liver-specific isoenzymes MAT I and MAT III are coded for by MAT 1A. MAT I, a tetramer, is also designated as an "intermediate Km" isozyme (Km for methionine ~ 40 µmol/liter) and is slightly inhibited by SAM. MAT III, a dimer which appears to be derived from MAT I by a post- translational modification (Cabrero and Alemany, 1988) is designated as a "high Km<sup> $"</sup> isoform (Km for methionine ~ 200 <math>\mu$ mol/liter) and is activated by its product SAM,</sup> demonstrating a strong, positive cooperative modulation at physiological methionine and SAM concentrations. MAT III allows the liver to adjust immediately to an excess influx of methionine with increased SAM formation. MAT II, found in extra-hepatic tissues and

# Figure 1.2. Methionine metabolic Pathway

The abbreviations used are: MAT: Methionine adenosyltransferase, GNMT: Glycine *N*methyltransferase, SAHH: S-adenosylhomocysteine hydrolase, BHMT: Betaine:homocysteine methyltransferase, MS: Methionine synthase, MTHFR: Methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase, CBS: Cystathionine  $\beta$ -synthase and CGL: Cystathionine  $\gamma$ -lyase, SHMT: Serine hydroxymethyltransferase.



fetal liver and encoded by the gene *MAT 2A*, has a low Km (~8 μmol/liter) for methionine and is inhibited by S-adenosylmethionine (Sullivan and Hoffman, 1983).

SAM, once formed, appears to be retained by the cell of origin and serves as the methyl donor for virtually all known biological methylation reactions. This transfer of the methyl group of SAM to a suitable methyl acceptor is catalyzed by any one of a large number of methyltransferases, leading to the formation of such diverse cellular components as creatine, epinephrine, carnitine, phospholipids as well as methylated proteins, DNA and RNA (Clarke and Banfield, 2001). Essentially all these methyltransferases are inhibited by the common product, S-adenosylhomocysteine (SAH). However, glycine N-methyltransferase (GNMT) which converts glycine to sarcosine has unique kinetic properties. It is only weakly inhibited by SAH, has a relatively high Km for SAM and shows a sigmoidal dependence on SAM concentration (Takata *et al*, 2003). GNMT thus functions as a benign high-capacity, SAM-dependent methyltransferase that is able to convert excess methionine/SAM to sarcosine, a non toxic product. Sarcosine is then transported into mitochondria where its metabolism regenerates glycine.

The inhibition (albeit to different degrees) of essentially all of the different methyltransferases by SAH necessitates its rapid removal. S-adenosylhomocysteine hydrolase, which occurs in all cells, converts SAH to Hcy and adenosine (Finkelstein, 1998). Although the equilibrium of this reaction favors the formation of SAH it is driven forward under physiological conditions due to the rapid removal of the products, Hcy and adenosine. Adenosine can be removed by either of 2 enzymes, adenosine deaminase (EC 3.5.4.4) or adenosine kinase (EC 3.5.4.4). Hcy, on the other hand, occupies a central

position in the pathway of methionine metabolism, lying at a cross-road between the transsulfuration and the remethylation pathways. SAH can also be removed by intracellular binding to specific, saturable protein sites and by export from the cell (Finkelstein, 1998). Once exported, the kidney appears to be active in the removal of SAH from the extracellular fluid (Finkelstein, 1998). Hcy can also bind to intracellular proteins and can be exported from cells (Svardal *et al*, 1986). However, unlike SAH, Hcy can be taken up by many tissues including the liver (Finkelstein, 1998). Plasma Hcy, therefore, represents Hcy that has been exported from the cells of origin, to be transported to other cells/tissues that would catabolize it.

The remethylation of Hcy to methionine completes the methionine cycle and in turn functions to conserve the carbon skeleton of methionine. Interestingly, the methylation of Hcy to methionine is one exception where SAM does not provide the methyl group. Two different methyl donors, N<sup>5</sup>-methyltetrahydrofolate or betaine, provide the methyl group necessary to convert Hcy to methionine by two independent pathways. Methionine synthase which transfers a methyl group from N<sup>5</sup>methyltetrahydrofolate to Hcy is widely distributed in mammalian tissue and contains  $N^{5}$ group of methylcobalamin as an essential co-factor. The methyl methyltetrahydrofolate is synthesized by the folate coenzyme system using serine as the major donor of the one carbon units (Davis et al, 2004). N<sup>5</sup>-methyltetrahydrofolate is formed by the irreversible reduction of N<sup>5,10</sup>-methylenetetrahydrofolate, catalyzed by the flavoenzyme N<sup>5,10</sup>-methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase (MTHFR) (EC 1.1.1.68) which uses NADPH as the reducing agent.

Betaine:homocysteine methyltransferase (BHMT) catalyzes a second route by which Hcy is converted to methionine, using pre-formed methyl groups from betaine, an intermediate in the pathway of choline oxidation (Finkelstein *et al*, 1972). BHMT, a zinc metalloenzyme (Breksa and Garrow, 1999), has a more limited distribution, being present only in liver, kidney and lens in humans (Finkelstein *et al*, 1972). BHMT is feed-back inhibited by its product N,N-dimethylglycine (Finkelstein *et al*, 1983). Dimethylglycine is converted to glycine in a series of reactions by which the methyl groups are oxidized and provide the methylene groups of N<sup>5,10</sup>-methylenetetrahydrofolate (Figure 1.3)

If the carbon chain of methionine is not to be conserved, or if cysteine is required Hcy can be irreversibly converted to cysteine through the transsulfuration pathway which is catalyzed by two pyridoxal 5'-phosphate (PLP)-containing enzymes, cystathionine  $\beta$ -synthase (CBS) (EC 4.2.1.22) and cystathionine  $\gamma$ -lyase (CGL) (EC 4.4.1.1). CBS catalyzes the condensation of Hcy with serine to form cystathionine and commits the Hcy moiety to the transsulfuration pathway (Finkelstein, 1998). Cystathionine is hydrolyzed by CGL to form cysteine,  $\alpha$ -ketobutyrate and ammonium, thereby making cysteine a non-essential amino acid. Both the pyruvate dehydrogenase complex and the branched-chain  $\alpha$ -keto acid dehydrogenase complex can catalyze the oxidative decarboxylation of  $\alpha$ -ketobutyrate to propionyl CoA, which enters the Krebs' cycle at succinyl CoA (Stead *et al*, 2000). Cysteine is a precursor of several essential molecules (e.g. glutathione, taurine, coenzyme A) as well as inorganic sulphate.

The transsulfuration pathway has a limited tissue distribution in rat tissues; only liver, kidney, pancreas and small intestine are capable of synthesizing cysteine from methionine or Hcy (Mudd *et al*, 1965). CBS is absent from heart, lung, testes, adrenal and

Figure 1.3. The choline oxidation pathway

.



spleen in rats [Finkelstein, 1998]. In humans, CBS was shown to be absent from heart muscle and primary aortic endothelial cells (Chen *et al*, 1999). The highest levels of CBS mRNA expression in human tissues have been observed in adult liver and fetal liver and fetal brain (Quere *et al*, 1999). Although CBS is present in the brain and adipose tissue of rats, CGL is absent from these tissues (Finkelstein, 1998). In agreement with this finding, very high levels of cystathionine have been found in human brains (Tallan *et al*, 1958). It may be that the function of CBS in the brain is to catalyze the production of H<sub>2</sub>S, a neuromodulator and a smooth muscle relaxant (Chen *et al*, 2004).

## 1.4 Factors influencing methionine and Hcy metabolism

#### 1.4.1 Gender and Age

Plasma Hcy has been shown to increase throughout life in both sexes (Refsum *et al*, 1998). In early childhood, both males and females have similar low plasma Hcy levels, but sex differences become apparent at puberty (Schneede *et al*, 2000). The skewed distribution among the genders continues from puberty into adulthood with plasma Hcy levels being 1-2  $\mu$ mole/liter higher in men than in women, and with a steady increase in both sexes with increasing age (Schneede *et al*, 2000).

The gender differences could arise in a number of ways. It is possible that the differences are due to the higher formation of Hcy in connection with increased creatine synthesis. Creatine synthesis is proportional to muscle mass and, therefore, is higher in men than in women (Mudd and Poole, 1975). A second possibility could be effects of sex steroids, as estrogens have been shown to lower plasma Hcy levels (Kang *et al*, 1986). This is also consistent with the observation that, after menopause, the gender difference in

plasma Hcy concentrations is attenuated. Post-menopausal women have been shown to have higher levels of plasma Hcy than pre-menopausal women (Boers *et al*, 1983). The changes in the plasma Hcy levels that have been observed in the male-to-female and female-to-male transsexuals treated with sex steroids also show the effect of sex hormones on plasma Hcy levels (Giltay *et al*, 1998 A). Plasma Hcy was reduced in maleto-female transsexuals treated with ethinyl estradiol in combination with an anti-androgen while the female-to-male transsexuals treated with testosterone esters displayed an elevation in their plasma Hcy (Giltay *et al*, 1998 A). Women who are pregnant have significantly reduced plasma Hcy levels with tHcy decreasing between the first and the second trimesters and remaining low through the rest of the pregnacy (Andersson *et al*, 1992). Malinow *et al* (1998) suggested an increased uptake of maternal Hcy by the developing fetus as the reason for this lowered plasma Hcy in the mother.

A number of studies, conducted in different ethnic populations, have all demonstrated an age-related increase in plasma Hcy, the increase being most marked in the oldest age-group (Selhub *et al*, 1993). Plasma Hcy is about 30% lower in children than in adults (Schneede *et al*, 2000). The age-dependent increase in plasma Hcy could arise in a number of ways. Renal function is known to decline with age (Norlund *et al*, 1998). It is well established that renal disease is associated with increased plasma Hcy (Bostom *et al*, 1995 A). This may be due to metabolism of Hcy by the kidneys (Bostom *et al*, 1995 B), although the clear–cut data obtained in rats are not evident in humans (van Guldener *et al*, 1998). Sub-optimal vitamin status, in particular impaired folate status (Koehler *et al*, 1997) and cobalamin deficiency (Lindenbaum *et al*, 1994), may also play major roles.

# 1.4.2 Lifestyle

Several lifestyle factors are also known to affect plasma Hcy levels. Chronic, high ethanol consumption (Cravo *et al*, 1996), smoking (Nygard *et al*, 1995) and consumption of caffeinated coffee (Nygard *et al*, 1997 B) are all associated with an increase in the concentration of plasma Hcy. Interestingly, a moderate consumption of alcohol appears to lower the plasma Hcy concentration (Vollset *et al*, 1997). The consumption of beer has also been shown to lower plasma Hcy, probably because beer contains folate (Mayer *et al*, 2001). HHcy associated with chronic alcoholism may arise due to impaired folate, vitamin  $B_{12}$  and  $B_6$  intake (Lindenbaum *et al*, 1994). Acute alcohol intoxication in alcoholics leads to a transient increase in plasma Hcy, which may be a direct result of inhibition of methionine synthase by acetaldehyde (Kenyon *et al*, 1998). In the Hordaland Hcy Study, individuals who consumed more than 6 cups of coffee per day exhibited 2 to 3 µmol/liter higher level of Hcy than individuals who did not consume coffee (Nygard *et al*, 1997 B). Decaffeinated coffee does not have the same effect on plasma Hcy as does regular coffee (Nygard *et al*, 1997 B).

Physical training has been shown to play a positive role in the reduction of plasma Hcy (Nygard *et al*, 1995). The difference in Hcy levels between subjects doing heavy training and those having a sedentary lifestyle was greater in an older age group (65-67 years) where exercise was associated with an approximately 1  $\mu$ mole/liter reduction in Hcy whereas those aged 40-42 years exhibited a reduction of 0.76  $\mu$ mole/liter. Acute exercise however, does not have any effect on the plasma Hcy levels (Wright *et al*, 1998).

## 1.4.3 Diet

SAM and SAH play a major role in the regulation of plasma Hcy levels by affecting the distribution of Hcy among competing pathways. Both these metabolites activate CBS (Finkelstein *et al*, 1974, Finkelstein *et al*, 1975). Finkelstein *et al* (1974) also showed that SAH is capable of inhibiting BHMT. Kutzbach and Stokstad (1971) demonstrated that SAM is a strong allosteric inhibitor of MTHFR while SAH functioned to partially reverse this inhibition. This inhibition will lead to reduced synthesis of N<sup>5</sup>-methyltetrahydrofolate which itself is a modulator of methionine metabolism by its ability to bind and inhibit GNMT (Wagner *et al*, 1985).

These mechanisms can combine to regulate methionine and Hcy metabolism with regard to nutritional status, especially in response to protein and methionine intake, since increased methionine concentrations in the liver will lead to increased SAM levels. The fact that SAM activates MAT III (Cabrero and Alemany, 1988) makes this system highly sensitive to methionine concentrations. The increased SAM will promote disposal via the transsulfuration pathway by activation of CBS and will inhibit remethylation by inhibiting both BHMT and MTHFR. A quantitative study of the methionine cycle *in vivo*, in healthy young men who were supplied with methionine at a rate of 198 µmoles/kg/day, revealed a Hcy synthesis through transmethylation of 238 µmoles/kg; 38% of this Hcy was channeled into remethylation and 62% underwent transsulfuration (Storch *et al*, 1988). These data agreed with the labile methyl balances conducted by Mudd and Poole (1975) who showed that remethylation could vary from 70% to 40% when changing from a restricted methionine intake to a diet containing increased amounts of methionine and choline.

# **1.4.4 Methylation Demand**

The contribution of the different reactions involved in the formation of Hcy must also be considered. SAM is the methyl donor of virtually all known biological methylation reactions, ranging from such diverse processes as metal detoxification, biosynthesis of many small molecules and gene regulation via DNA methylation. Thirty nine different species of SAM-dependent methyltransferases have been well characterized in mammals (Clarke and Banfield, 2001), with the possibility that many more will be identified by means of genomic approaches which use conserved sequence motifs to detect methyltransferases in genomic open reading frames (Katz *et al*, 2003). In fact, Katz *et al* (2003) calculated that class I methyltransferases make up ~0.6-1.6% of the genes in the yeast, human, mouse, *Drosophila melanogaster*, *Caenorhabditis elegans*, *Arabidopsis thaliana*, and *Escherichia coli* genomes.

The first demonstration of the importance of methylation to plasma Hcy levels was provided by studies in patients with Parkinson's disease undergoing treatment with L-3, 4-dihydroxyphenylalanine (L-DOPA). Parkinson's disease is characterized by a severe depletion of nigro-striatal dopaminergic neurons resulting in the deficiency of dopamine in the basal ganglia and melanin in the substantia nigra (Hague *et al*, 2005). These patients are treated with L-DOPA alone or in combination with a peripheral decarboxylase inhibitor (Cheng *et al*, 1997). The dopamine deficiency is relieved by the decarboxylation of L-DOPA in the brain. Parkinson's patients undergoing treatment with L-DOPA have been shown to have plasma Hcy levels that are about 50% higher than controls [Muller *et al*, 2001]. This increase in plasma Hcy arises from the wasteful methylation of L-DOPA by catechol-O-methyltransferase (COMT) which catalyzes the

SAM-dependent methylation of aromatic hydroxyl groups (Cheng *et al*, 1997). Due to the removal of the administered L-DOPA through this reaction, patients need to be given quite high doses (up to several grams per day) to achieve therapeutic levels of L-DOPA. This phenomenon was also evident in rats; the increased plasma tHcy was accompanied by decreased tissue levels of SAM (Miller *et al*, 1997). Pre-treatment with a COMT inhibitor was shown to alleviate or attenuate this response. These studies showed that plasma Hcy levels were sensitive to the methylation of an exogenous substance.

Thereafter, studies conducted by the Brosnan group addressed the issue of the role of methylation demand imposed by physiological substrates on plasma Hcy. Creatine synthesis, where SAM is used to methylate guanidinoacetic acid (GAA), has been considered to use more SAM than all of the other physiological methyltransferases combined (Mudd and Poole, 1975) accounting for about 75% of Hcy formation. Creatine synthesis is an inter-organ pathway in which the two enzymes involved in creatine synthesis occur in two different organs: L-arginine:glycine amidinotransferase occurs in the kidney (AGAT; EC 2.1.4.1) and guanidinoacetate methyltransferase (GAMT; EC 2.1.1.2) is localized to the liver. Stead et al (2001) studied the effect of changes in the methylation demand by modulating the rate of creatine synthesis by feeding rats GAA- or creatine- supplemented diets for 2 weeks. They found that Hcy was significantly elevated in the plasma of rats fed GAA and that it was decreased by ~25% in the rats on a creatinesupplemented diet (Stead et al, 2001). Supplementation by either GAA or creatine resulted in a decrease in the activity of kidney AGAT. Incubation of hepatocytes with GAA resulted in the export of significantly higher amounts of Hcy, giving further evidence for the dependence of the plasma Hcy level on the demand for methylation by physiological substrates. A separate series of studies showed that creatine supplementation was able to lower the plasma level of GAA as well as its arterio-venous difference across the kidney (Edison EE, Brosnan ME and Brosnan JT unpublished observations).

Noga *et al* (2003) demonstrated the importance of another physiological methylation reaction on the plasma Hcy level. Phosphatidylethanolamine *N*-methyltransferase (PEMT), a liver-specific enzyme, is involved in the conversion of phosphatidylethanolamine (PE) to phosphatidylcholine (PC) (Vance and Ridgeway, 1988). 70% of hepatic PC is produced from choline by the activity of the enzymes of the Kennedy pathway; PEMT is responsible for the formation of the remaining 30% (DeLong *et al*, 1999). The synthesis of one molecule of PC through the PEMT pathway requires three successive SAM-dependent methylations. Plasma Hcy in *pemt*<sup>-/-</sup> mice was decreased by about 50% (Noga *et al*, 2003). Hepatocytes isolated from the *pemt*<sup>-/-</sup> mice secreted ~50% less Hcy than the cells isolated from the wild type mice. McArdle RH7777 (rat hepatoma) cells, over-expressing PEMT, produced significantly more Hcy than the wild-type cells. These results clearly demonstrated PC synthesis through the PEMT pathway to be a major contributor to the plasma Hcy levels.

# 1.4.5 Hormonal regulation of plasma Hcy

Most of the early literature on Hcy metabolism focused on traditional factors such as nutrition and genetics. However, studies conducted in many laboratories have now added to our understanding of the hormonal regulation of Hcy metabolism. Diabetes mellitus, both Type 1 and Type 2, leads to increased plasma levels of Hcy when

accompanied by renal insufficiency (Hoogeveen et al, 1998, Hultberg et al, 1991). However, Type 1 diabetic patients with normal plasma creatinine levels have been shown to have plasma tHcy levels significantly lower than healthy subjects (Robillon et al, 1994). Studies conducted in our laboratory confirmed this observation in streptozotocindiabetic rats (Type 1 model) (Jacobs et al, 1998). In these rats the decreased Hcy was accompanied by concomitant increases in the activities of the hepatic transsulfuration enzymes, CBS and CGL, which were restored to normal by insulin treatment, suggesting regulation of plasma Hcy by insulin. Administration of glucagon to rats was shown to reduce plasma Hcy and was accompanied by increased flux of methionine through the transsulfuration pathway and by increases in the activities of the transsulfuration enzymes (Jacobs et al, 2001). The concurrent increase in the activity and the mRNA of CBS suggested that glucagon may act at the level of gene transcription to alter Hcy metabolism. This was directly confirmed by the experiments of Ratnam et al (2002). Glucocorticoids or cAMP increased, and insulin attenuated, the CBS mRNA and protein levels in H4IIE cells, a rat hepatoma cell line, while insulin treatment of HepG2 cells, a human hepatoma cell line, led to a decreased level of CBS protein. The 70% reduction in CBS-1b promoter activity after insulin treatment further confirmed the effect of insulin, while the nuclear run-on experiments provided definitive evidence that both insulin and glucocorticoids act at the level of gene transcription.

MAT is also under hormonal regulation. Adrenalectomy results in a 3-fold decrease in its enzyme activity, immunoreactive protein and mRNA levels in the liver; these effects could be reversed by triamcinolone treatment (Gil *et al*, 1997). MAT mRNA content was increased, in a time- and dose-dependent manner, by both triamcinolone and

dexamethasone., which effect was blocked by insulin. A direct effect of triamcinolone on the transcription of this gene was evident from experiments in which a luciferase reporter gene was driven by 1.4 kb of the 5'-flanking region of the hepatic MAT gene. Triamcinolone treatment resulted in a 3-fold increase in the promoter activity (Gil *et al*, 1997).

A recent study described the modulation of GNMT by insulin and glucocorticoids [Nieman *et al*, 2004]. Pre-treatment with insulin prevented the induction of GNMT by dexamethasone in rat pancreatic AR42J cells or in hepatoma H4IIE cells. It was also found that induction of diabetes by injection of streptozotocin leads to increased activity and abundance of GNMT.

Early studies conducted by Finkelstein *et al* (1971) showed that hydrocortisone increased the activity of BHMT three-fold, whereas thyroxin treatment significantly reduced its activity. Methionine synthase was also shown to be responsive to hormones in tissues other than the liver; the kidney enzyme was increased by 151% by estrogen and decreased by 60% by growth hormone. Hydrocortisone treatment led to a 2-fold increase in the specific activity of methionine synthase in the pancreas (Finkelstein *et al*, 1971).

It is evident therefore, that glucagon and glucocorticoids function to increase the disposal of methionine and/or Hcy, whereas insulin counteracts these effects.

# 1.4.6 Redox Regulation

CBS is a unique enzyme, in that it depends on both heme and pyridoxal 5'phosphate for its function (Kery *et al*, 1994). The 63 Kd CBS subunit binds a molecule each of heme and PLP, and the presence of heme is required for PLP binding. Recently, Taoka *et al* (1998) found evidence for redox-linked regulation of CBS, dependent on heme. Under reducing conditions generated by the addition of titanium citrate they observed a 41% decrease in the activity of CBS. Re-oxidation of the ferrous enzyme with ferricyanide reversed the inhibition. Transsulfuration, catalyzed by the two enzymes, CBS and CGL, leads to the synthesis of cysteine, which is required for glutathione synthesis. The Hcy-dependent transsulfuration pathway plays a major role in the maintenance of the intracellular glutathione pool under oxidative stress conditions and, indeed, the flux through the transsulfuration pathway responds to the oxidant load (Mosharov *et al*, 2000). Approximately 50% of the intracellular glutathione pool in human liver cells is derived from cysteine produced by the transsulfuration pathway; thus the cellular redox environment may affect plasma Hcy concentrations (Mosharov *et al*, 2000).

Two other enzymes in the Hcy metabolic pathway have also been shown to be responsive to redox changes. S-nitrosylation by nitric oxide, under conditions of septic shock or hypoxia, leads to the inactivation of both isoforms of MAT, MAT I and MAT III (Avila *et al*, 1997); this inactivation can be reversed by millimolar concentrations of glutathione.  $H_2O_2$  also inactivates MAT by reversibly and covalently oxidizing cysteine 121, located at a "flexible loop" over the active site cleft of MAT (Sanchez-Gongora *et al*, 1997). The GSH/GSSG ratio also modulates the redox state of MAT (Pajares *et al*, 1992). The second enzyme responsive to redox conditions, methionine synthase, is inhibited by oxidative conditions, potentially due to the oxidation of the cob(I)alamin form of the cobalamine cofactor (Chen *et al*, 1995) This curtailment of remethylation can be understood as a means of increasing the conversion of Hcy to cysteine for GSH synthesis.

# 1.5 Non-physiological causes of HHcy

#### **1.5.1 Vitamin Deficiency**

The original report linking HHcy to the occurrence of cardiovascular disease involved a patient who developed homocysteinuria due to a defect in cobalamin metabolism, now recognized as Cb1 C deficiency (Gaull, 1972). Since then, many studies have confirmed the relationship between vitamins and plasma Hcy levels. Inadequate plasma concentrations of one or more of the B vitamins are responsible for the HHcy in about two thirds of hyperhomocysteinemic cases (Selhub *et al*, 1996).

The ability of folate supplementation to decrease urinary Hcy excretion was documented in patients with homocystinuria and mental retardation as early as 1968 (Carey *et al*, 1968). Kang *et al* (1987) showed that depletion of tissue folate leads to HHcy in non-homocystinuric subjects. Isolated deficiency of vitamin  $B_{12}$  also leads to moderate to intermediate fasting HHcy, with Hcy levels exceeding that found in the obligate heterozygotes for CBS deficiency (Brattstrom *et al*, 1988). Vitamin  $B_6$ , the cofactor for both enzymes of the transsulfuration pathway, is important in determining post-methionine load plasma Hcy levels (Brattstrom *et al*, 1990). Data from the Framingham Heart Study cohort showed that plasma Hcy exhibits a strong inverse association with plasma folate and weaker associations with plasma vitamin  $B_{12}$  and pyridoxal-5'-phosphate (Selhub *et al*, 1996). Vitamin intervention therapy with the three B vitamins alone and various combinations of them has been shown to reduce both basal plasma Hcy as well as levels after a methionine load (Brattstrom, 1996).

A few recent studies have tried to explain the mechanisms behind the Hcy lowering effects of these B vitamins. Supplementation with vitamin  $B_{12}$  was shown to

increase the activity of methionine synthase, an effect ascribed by Gulati *et al* (1996) to a posttranslational regulation of methionine synthase by vitamin  $B_{12}$  since the induction of activity of this enzyme correlates with increased levels of protein. They were later able to show that  $B_{12}$  supplementation induces translational up-regulation by shifting the mRNA from the ribonucleoprotein to the polysome pool. The  $B_{12}$ -responsive element was localized to the 70 bp region located at the 3' end of the 5'-untranslated region of methionine synthase mRNA (Oltean and Banerjee, 2003). Miller *et al* (1994) postulated that deficiency of folate leads to increased plasma Hcy not only through the impairment of Hcy remethylation but also by impairing Hcy removal via the transsulfuration pathway due to lowered tissue SAM levels which are inadequate to stimulate CBS.

## **1.5.2 Genetic Disorders**

The most frequently described genetic defects of HHcy are associated with the enzymes of transsulfuration. Plasma Hcy levels are quite elevated in patients with homozygous CBS deficiency resulting in homocystinuria (Mudd *et al*, 1985). However, this is a rare disorder with a frequency estimated between 1:58,000 and 1:1,000,000 in newborns and a worldwide birth prevalence of 1:300,000. Heterozygosity for CBS in the general population is less than 1% (Mudd *et al*, 1995). The fasting Hcy level in these individuals appears to be normal or only slightly elevated, although post-methionine load levels may be elevated (Tsai *et al*, 1996). Genetically-determined defects have also been described in CGL which leads to cystathioninuria (Frimpter, 1965).

On the other side of the spectrum are the patients with Down syndrome. Down syndrome or trisomy 21, is characterized by the failure of chromosome 21 to segregate

normally during meiosis (Epstein, 1995). The gene for CBS is located on chromosome 21 and as a result is overexpressed in children with Down syndrome. A 157% increase in CBS enzyme activity in patients with Down syndrome is associated with reduced levels of plasma Hcy (Chadefaux, 1985). However, the reduction in plasma Hcy leads to a concurrent reduction in the folate-dependent re-synthesis of methionine, creating a functional intracellular folate deficiency known as the "methyl trap" (Pogribna *et al*, 2001).

MTHFR mutations are also associated with HHcy. Severe MTHFR deficiency (less than 2% of normal enzyme activity) is rare (Rozen, 1996). However, Kang *et al* (1991 A) identified a new variant of MTHFR, which displayed a distinctive thermolability with about 50% of the enzyme activity. This variant is associated with significantly higher levels of plasma Hcy and is inherited as an autosomal recessive trait (Kang *et al*, 1991A). Patients who were postulated to be compound heterozygotes of the allele for the severe mutation and the allele for the thermolabile mutation have also been identified (Kang *et al*, 1991 B).

Two common functional polymorphisms of the MTHFR gene were later identified. C677T polymorphism in exon 4, resulting in an alanine to valine substitution at codon 222 (Frosst *et al*, 1995) gives rise to the thermolability. Individuals homozygous for the C677T polymorphism (TT genotype) have about 30% of normal enzyme activity and results in intermediate HHcy (Kang *et al*, 1988); heterozygotes have about 65% of normal activity (Frosst *et al*, 1995). The phenotypic expression of the TT genotype appears to relate to the folate status. In the Hordeland Hcy study, a majority of subjects with intermediate HHcy exhibited the TT genotype; 88% of these were folate deficient. (Guttormsen *et al*, 1996). The C677T mutation displays ethnic variability. Caucasians have a high (40%) allele frequency (van der Put *et al*, 1997) while it is almost absent in African Americans (McAndrew *et al*, 1996). A second polymorphism, A1298C in exon 7, results in a substitution of glutamate with alanine at codon 429 (van der Put *et al*, 1998). Individuals with 1298CC genotype display 60% of the activity of those with AA genotype but it does not seem to give rise to HHcy.

Cobalamin is bound to methionine synthase and acts as a methyl carrier between methyltetrahydrofolate and Hcy. The methyl group of methyltetrahydrofolate is first transferred to the cobalamine cofactor to form methylcob(III)alamin which in turn becomes cob(I)alamin after transfer of the methyl group (Banerjee, 1997). Over time, cob(I)alamin may be oxidized to cob(II)alamin which renders the enzyme inactive. Cob(II)alamin needs to undergo a reductive methylation with SAM acting as the methyl donor to be converted back to its active state (Ludwig and Matthews, 1997).

Two forms of methionine synthase deficiency are known which lead to the development of HHcy (Harding *et al*, 1997). Patients from the cblG complementation group of folate/cobalamin metabolism have mutations in the methionine synthase gene (Leclerc *et al*, 1996). The second complementation group, cblE, shows reduced methionine synthase activity, due to a defect in the reducing system which keeps the enzyme in the functional state (Gulati *et al*, 1997). cblE patients have been shown to have defective NADPH-dependent reducing activity. Leclerc *et al* (1998) isolated the cDNA corresponding to the reductive activation enzyme which they named methionine synthase reductase and also identified a number of mutations in 3 cblE patients, a 4-bp frame shift in two and a 3-bp deletion in one.

# **1.5.3 Renal Disorders**

Patients with diabetes mellitus, either Type 1 or Type 2, have decreased plasma Hcy levels when kidney function is normal (Robillon et al, 1994, Jacobs et al, 1998, Wijekoon et al, 2005). However, with decreasing kidney function the concentration of plasma Hcy changes and is elevated compared to controls. This has been observed in both Type 1 and Type 2 diabetes mellitus (Hoogeveen et al, 1998, Hultberg et al, 1991). Patients with end-stage renal disease with no diabetes also exhibit elevated plasma Hcy (Bostom et al, 1995 A). These observations agree with the finding of Bostom et al (1995 B) that the rat kidney is a major organ involved in Hcy metabolism. They showed a positive renal arteriovenous difference for Hcy slightly greater than 20% of the mean arterial plasma Hcy concentration, which suggested that the loss of the Hcy metabolizing capacity of the kidneys may be a major cause of the increased plasma Hcy in renal patients. The transsulfuration pathway was shown to be the major route of catabolism of Hcy taken up by rat kidneys, accounting for 78% of the disappearance of Hcy (House et al, 1997). The important role played by the kidneys in maintaining plasma Hcy homeostasis was shown by the ability of the kidneys to handle acute increases in plasma Hcy (House *et al*, 1998). Kidneys were able to significantly increase the uptake of Hcy from the plasma and still manage to metabolize it with no change in urinary excretion, demonstrating the capacity of the kidneys for Hcy catabolism.

## **1.5.4 Pharmacological intervention**

Intervention with a variety of pharmacological agents has been shown to disrupt plasma Hcy metabolism. Many of these drugs act through their disruption of the absorption or the metabolism of the various vitamins of Hcy metabolism. Methotrexate, used in a variety of diseases, interferes with folate metabolism by inhibiting dihydrofolate reductase (Bertino, 1993), thereby reducing methyltetrahydrofolate levels in cells. The time course for the development of HHcy depends on the dose of methotrexate used; thus it varies in patients with different diseases such as cancer (Refsum *et al*, 1991), psoriasis (Refsum *et al*, 1989) and rheumatoid arthritis (Morgan *et al*, 1998). Anticonvulsants also interfere with folate metabolism, thereby leading to HHcy (James *et al*, 1997). They are thought to deplete liver folate stores through inhibition of polyglutamation (Carl *et al*, 1991). Bile acid sequestrants interfering with the absorption of folate also cause HHcy. This has been observed in coronary patients treated with niacin and colestipol as they exhibit significantly higher Hcy levels when compared with similar patients receiving a placebo (Blankenhorn *et al*, 1991). Cholestyramine (Tonstad *et al*, 1998), a bile acid sequestrant, and the antidiabetic drug metformin (Carlsen *et al*, 1997) interfere with the absorption of cobalamine and folate, leading to the development of HHcy with long term use of these drugs.

The anesthetic, nitrous oxide, is a well known pharmacological agent that causes rapid (within 90 minutes) elevations in plasma Hcy (Ermens *et al*, 1991). It is known to oxidize cob(I)alamin to cob(II)alamin, thereby inactivating methionine synthase (Drummond and Matthews, 1994). Azuridine, which is no longer in use, caused HHcy in humans as well as animals probably through its interference with pyridoxal 5-phosphate (Drell and Welch, 1989). Isoniazid (Krishnaswamy, 1974), niacin (Basu and Mann, 1997) and theophylline (Ubbink *et al*, 1996) also cause increases in plasma Hcy by their interference with vitamin B<sub>6</sub> metabolism. The treatment of Parkinson's disease with L- DOPA leads to increased plasma Hcy, the mechanism of which was discussed in the section on methylation demand.

Treatment with some other drugs has been shown to lead to reduction in plasma Hcy. Oral penicillamine has been shown to reduce both free and plasma protein-bound Hcy in homocystinuria patients (Kang *et al*, 1982). Patients with acute lymphoblastic leukemia treated with 2-deoxycoformycin also have markedly reduced plasma Hcy levels (Kredich *et al*, 1981). 2-deoxycoformycin indirectly inhibits S-adenosylhomocysteine hydrolase by blocking adenosine deaminase. The use of estrogen-containing oral contraceptives has also been shown to lower plasma Hcy levels (Steegers-Theunissen *et al*, 1992). Cyclic variations in plasma Hcy have been shown in oral contraceptive users with the variation in hormone levels in the contraceptives.

# **1.6 Diabetes Mellitus**

Diabetes mellitus is one of the most common metabolic disorders affecting over 100-million people worldwide (Spruce *et al*, 2003) and is regarded as a major risk factor for cardiovascular disease (Wilson, 1998). The prevalence of atherosclerosis is 2-6 fold greater in diabetic patients compared to non-diabetic patients (Brand *et al*, 1989). The 7year incidence for myocardial infarction (MI) for diabetic patients who have not experienced MI previously was similar to that of non-diabetic patients who have gone through a previous MI (Haffner *et al*, 1998). Half of all diabetic patients are also likely to die within a year of their first cardiac event, giving rise to a higher mortality rate than non diabetics (Miettinen *et al*, 1998). Diabetes mellitus generally can be divided into two categories. Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus or Type 1 diabetes mellitus usually develops in childhood or adolescence and results from the destruction of pancreatic beta cells by an auto-immune process that may be precipitated by a viral infection (Fajans, 1996). The second form of diabetes, Non-insulin dependent diabetes or Type 2 diabetes usually occurs in middle or later life and results from a highly complex pathogenetic process which has components that still defy biochemical explanation. Despite this complexity of its etiology the disease has two hallmark features: (i) insulin resistance, which is defined as an impaired ability of insulin to suppress hepatic glucose output and promote glucose entry into peripheral tissues and (ii) impaired function of pancreatic  $\beta$ -cells leading to insufficient production of insulin to overcome the insulin resistance (McGarry, 2002). Insulin resistance precedes the development of fulminant diabetes and is characterized by a hyper-secretion of insulin by the  $\beta$  cells to maintain normoglycemia (McGarry, 2002).

# **1.7 Insulin resistance**

J. Dennis McGarry's 1992 article in Science titled "What if Minkowski had been ageusic? an alternative angle on diabetes" draws our attention to an important aspect of this disease (McGarry, 1992). In calling for a more "lipocentric" approach to the diseases as opposed to the traditional "glucocentric" approach, McGarry drew attention to the fact that Type 2 diabetes is almost invariably accompanied by increased levels of circulating free fatty acids (FFA) and triglycerides (TG), and excessive deposition of fat in tissues, in addition to the hyperglycemia (McGarry, 2002). One of the major current hypotheses as to the etiology of insulin resistance concerns the deranged lipid metabolism.

Specific measurement of intramyocellular lipid (IMCL) with the use of  $1^{H}$ magnetic resonance spectroscopy ( $1^{H}$  MRS) was able to uncover a very tight negative correlation between IMCL and whole-body insulin sensitivity (Stein *et al*, 1997, Krssak *et al*, 1999). This finding is interesting especially in the light of the tight association of Type 2 diabetes with obesity. Artificial elevation of free fatty acids (FFA) in healthy human volunteers with concomitant increases in IMCL was also shown to reduce insulin mediated glucose disposal, clearly strengthening the cause and effect case between increased IMCL and insulin resistance (Brechtel *et al*, 2001, Boden *et al*, 1995). Roden *et al* (1996) showed that the FFA induced reduction of insulin sensitivity lead to a reduction in both oxidative glucose disposal and muscle glycogen synthesis by some 40-50% as measured by <sup>13</sup>C-MRS in healthy humans.

With the performance of a hyperglycemic, hyperinsulinemic clamp in healthy individuals and Type 2 diabetic patients, the rate of insulin-stimulated muscle glycogen synthesis as assessed by the incorporation of [ $^{13}$ C] glucose into gastrocnemius/soleus muscle glycogen, was shown to be decreased by >50% in Type 2 diabetic patients compared with healthy age and weight-matched individuals (Shulman *et al*, 1990). Defects in insulin-stimulated muscle glycogen synthesis therefore could be attributed to almost all of the impaired glucose removal component of insulin resistance seen in Type 2 diabetic patients (Petersen and Shulman 2006).

The measurement of the intracellular concentration of glucose, glucose-6phosphate and glycogen in muscle of Type 2 diabetic patients and age and weightmatched controls with <sup>13</sup>C and <sup>31</sup>P MRS studies to identify the rate control step in this defective glycogen synthesis, revealed an approximately 0.1 mM increase in intracellular glucose-6-phosphate concentration in normal individuals but no change in patients with Type 2 diabetes under similar conditions of hyperglycemia and hyperinsulinemia (Rothman et al, 1992). Very interestingly, lean, normoglycemic but insulin-resistant offspring of parents with Type 2 diabetes also showed a 50% reduction in the rate of whole body glucose metabolism mainly due to reduced rates of muscle glycogen synthesis along with reduced increments of intramuscular glucose-6-phosphate in response to insulin (Rothman et al, 1995). These data show the primary nature of this effect with regards to insulin resistance and could arise due to either defects in glucose transport into muscle or hexokinase II activity. Measurement of intracellular glucose concentration with a <sup>13</sup>C NMR method under hyperglycemic hyper-insulinemic conditions revealed that the intracellular glucose concentration was far lower in the diabetic subjects than the concentration expected if hexokinase II was the primary ratelimiting step for glycogen synthesis (Cline et al, 1999). These data lead to the conclusion that glucose transport into muscle cells by GLUT 4 is the primary defect leading to the impaired glycogen synthesis by muscle tissue.

These data stand in contrast to the classic Randle mechanism which suggested that fatty acid induced insulin resistance is brought about by the increased oxidation of fatty acids at the expense of glucose (Randle *et al*, 1963, Randle *et al*, 1965, Randle *et al*, 1964). According to this hypothesis increased fatty acid oxidation leads to increased intramitochondrial acetylCoA/CoA and NADH/NAD<sup>+</sup> ratios with subsequent inactivation of pyruvate dehydrogenase. The resultant increase in citrate inhibits phosphofructokinase which then lead to the accumulation of glucose-6-phosphate and subsequent inhibition of hexokinase  $\Pi$  leading to the accumulation of intracellular glucose.

Since the measurement of both intra-cellular glucose and glucose-6-phosphate using the novel methods indicated a reduction in these molecules rather than an increase as suggested by the Randle mechanism the defect in glucose transport appears to be the more likely cause of the fatty acid induced insulin resistance. Dresner *et al*, (1999) found that elevation of plasma fatty acid concentration abolished insulin stimulated, IRS-1 associated PI<sub>3</sub>-kinase activity compared to a four-fold increase observed with infusion of glycerol. This effect of fatty acids on the activity of PI<sub>3</sub> kinase could result from the effect of fatty acids on upstream insulin signaling as infusion of lipids into rats have been shown to reduce the insulin stimulated IRS-1 tyrosine phosphorylation associated with the activation of protein kinase C  $\theta$  (Griffin *et al*, 1999). Protein kinase C  $\theta$  is a serine kinase known to be activated by diacylglycerol (Chalkley *et al*, 1998).

With the help of these experiments a unifying hypothesis for the common forms of human insulin-resistance was proposed where increased intracellular fatty acid metabolites such as long chain fatty acyl CoA, diacylglycerol or ceramides activate protein kinase C  $\theta$  leading to the serine/threonine phosphorylation of IRS-1. Unlike the tyrosine phosphorylated forms of IRS, the serine/threonine phosphorylated forms fail to activate PI<sub>3</sub> kinase with the result of failure of activation of GLUT 4 transporters in response to insulin (Shulman, 2000). Consistent with this hypothesis is the severe insulinresistance seen in a mouse model of severe lypodystrophy almost totally devoid of white adipose tissue. The intracellular fatty acyl-CoA levels in these mice are almost 2-fold higher in both muscle and liver and show defects in insulin activation of IRS-1 and IRS-2 associated  $PI_3$  kinase activity in muscle and liver respectively (Kim *et al*, 2000). Also in support of this hypothesis is the finding by Bell *et al* (2000) that the reversal observed in insulin-resistance in high fat fed rats after a single meal of high carbohydrate is associated with a reduction in muscle LCACoA levels and loss of membrane bound PKC $\theta$  activity.

Accumulation of intracellular fat metabolites in the liver has also been shown to activate a serine kinase cascade involving PKC– $\varepsilon$ , which leads to the decreased tyrosine phosphorylation of IRS-2- a key mediator of insulin action in the liver (Previs *et al*, 2000, Samuel *et al*, 2004). Studies with mitochondrial glycerol phosphate acyl CoA transferase knockout mice indicates that diacylglycerol, an activator of PKC– $\varepsilon$  is responsible for these effects (Neschen *et al*, 2005).

All these findings emphasize the importance of the location of lipid deposition in the development of insulin resistance and indicate that it is not obesity *per se* that is the culprit. The ability of PPAR- $\gamma$  agonists to restore insulin sensitivity also bears witness to this fact, as discussed later.

Age is also a factor in the development of insulin resistance (Petersen *et al*, 2003). It was noted that lean and otherwise healthy elderly people have increased fat accumulation in muscle and liver tissue and the increased intramyocellular lipid accumulation is accompanied by a 40% reduction in their mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation activity compared with BMI and activity matched young individuals (Petersen *et al*, 2003). The insulin resistant offspring of parents with Type 2 diabetes were also shown to have impaired mitochondrial function with a 30% reduction in mitochondrial ATP synthesis and an 80% increase in intramyocellular lipid content (Petersen *et al*, 2004). Loss of mitochondrial function therefore also appears to be an

important factor in the development of insulin resistance and especially may be involved with the heritability of Type 2 diabetes (Petersen and Shulman, 2006).

Despite playing a minor role in the insulin-stimulated glucose uptake, insulin action and glucose transport in adipose tissue are also important determinants of systemic insulin sensitivity and glucose homeostasis (Abel et al, 2001, Bluher et al, 2002). Similar to skeletal muscles the rate limiting step for utilization of glucose by adipose tissue is the trans-membrane transport of glucose by GLUT 4 (Cline et al, 1999). GLUT 4 gene expression is down-regulated in adipocytes but not in skeletal muscles from humans with Type 2 diabetes and/or obesity (Carvalho et al, 1999, Carvalho et al, 2001). The importance of this finding was emphasized by the adipose-specific GLUT 4 knockout mice that developed insulin resistance and had an increased risk of Type 2 diabetes (Abel et al, 2001). Although the genetic defect was limited to adipose tissue, they developed insulin resistance secondarily in muscle and liver. Mice that over- express GLUT 4 selectively in adipose tissue have enhanced glucose tolerance, insulin sensitivity, fasting hypoglycemia, and hypo-insulinemia (Shepherd et al, 1999). Mice lacking GLUT 4 selectively in muscle are insulin-resistant and diabetic and the insulin resistance confined initially to the muscle spreads later on to adipose tissue and liver (Kim *et al*, 2001, Zierath et al, 1996). Breeding muscle GLUT 4 knockout (MG4KO) mice to mice over-expressing GLUT 4 in adipose tissue (AG4Tg) was able to normalize the fasting hyperglycemia and reverse the whole body insulin resistance in MG4KO mice although it had no effect on the glucose transport in muscle (Carvalho et al, 2005). The crossbred animals were also able to suppress the hepatic glucose production in response to insulin (Carvalho et al, 2005). Although the adipose-selective deletion of GLUT 4 leads to secondary defects in

glucose action in muscle and liver, these muscles have a normal response to insulin exvivo, indicating a circulating factor(s) as the cause of insulin resistance in these mice (Abel *et al*, 2001).

In recent years our view of adipose tissue has deviated from its traditional role as an energy storage depot and we are seeing it as an organ with a secretory function expressing and secreting various peptide hormones and cytokines, including  $TNF-\alpha$ , plasminogen activator inhibiter-1, angiotensinogen, leptin (Kahn and Flier, 2000), along with resistin and adiponectin (Scheen, 2003). TNF- $\alpha$  and resistin have clearly been shown to inhibit insulin action in rodents (Greenberg and McDaniel, 2002). Their effects in humans however have still not been fully elucidated. Adiponectin, synthesized exclusively in adipose tissue, is found at lower levels in the plasma in obesity, in contrast to the other adipocytokines and appears to be a major modulator of insulin action with low adiponectin levels contributing to insulin resistance (Scheen, 2003). Leptin, the other adipocytokine involved in enhancing insulin action, will be discussed in detail in the next section. Retinol binding protein-4 (RBP-4) is a novel adipocyte derived molecule which is elevated in the adipose tissue of adipose-Glut  $4^{-/-}$  mice and the serum of several insulin resistant states in mice and humans (Yang et al, 2005). Transgenic over-expression of human RBP4 or injection of recombinant RBP4 in normal mice causes insulin resistance while genetic deletion of RBP4 enhances insulin sensitivity (Yang et al, 2005). Increased serum RBP 4 was shown to induce the hepatic expression of the gluconeogenic enzyme phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase (PEPCK) and impair insulin signaling in muscle (Yang et al, 2005).

# 1.8 Leptin

Leptin was first discovered in 1994 by positional cloning of a single gene mutation in the *ob/ob* mouse, a model of obesity and diabetes (Zhang *et al*, 1994). The obesity in these mice is caused by the deficiency of the *ob* gene product, leptin, and is reversible with the administration of the peptide (Pellymounter *et al*, 1995). These findings led to the categorization of leptin as an anti-obesity hormone. However, considering the fact that over-weight individuals have higher levels of leptin than non-obese individuals it is now recognized that although leptin deficiency does lead to obesity the primary role of leptin is not the prevention of obesity (Unger *et al*, 1999). Leptin now is regarded to play a role in permitting over-nutrition and deposition of body fat to occur without causing metabolic injury to non-adipose tissue (Unger *et al*, 1999). This is achieved by confining the storage of excess calories to adipose tissue and reducing ectopic fat accumulation and the resulting metabolic trauma or lipotoxicity of these non-adipocytes (Shimabukuro *et al*, 1997, Muoia *et al*, 1997).

# 1.9 Treatment of insulin resistance and diabetes with peroxisome proliferator activated receptor $\gamma$ (PPAR- $\gamma$ ) agonists

The peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors (PPAR) comprise a subfamily of nuclear receptors that heterodimerizes with the retinoid X receptor to regulate the transcription of many genes involved in lipid and glucose homeostasis in a ligand dependent manner (Jones *et al*, 2005). PPAR- $\gamma$ , a member of this subfamily, is mainly expressed in white and brown adipose tissue and is expressed to a lesser extent in macrophages, colon, kidney and liver (Fajas *et al*, 1997). PPAR- $\gamma$  has been shown to take

part in many biological processes such as adipocyte differentiation, glucose homeostasis, atherogenesis, inflammation and tumor suppression (Braissant *et al*, 1996).

A number of fatty acid metabolites including oxidized linoleic acid and arachidonic acid metabolites like 15-deoxy- $\Delta^{12,14}$  prostaglandin J<sub>2</sub> act as endogenous ligands for PPAR- $\gamma$  (Nagy *et al*, 1998, Forman *et al*, 1995). Thiazolidinediones (TZD), a class of compounds known to enhance insulin sensitivity and improve metabolic control in patients with Type 2 diabetes act through the activation of PPAR  $\gamma$  receptors (Saltiel and Olefsky, 1996). These agents have been shown to reduce plasma glucose as well as plasma insulin levels, thereby clearly improving insulin sensitivity in a variety of insulin-resistant or diabetic rat and mice models (Olefsky 2000). The improvement in insulin sensitivity has also been directly demonstrated using the euglycemic glucose clamp technique where treatment with TZDs was shown to improve insulin-stimulated glucose disposal as well as insulin inhibition of hepatic glucose production in a wide array of insulin resistant and diabetic rat models (Olefsky, 2000). These studies clearly demonstrate the efficacy of TZDs in improving insulin sensitivity, however, the mechanisms by which the TZDs bring about this improvement of insulin sensitivity is unclear.

Mutations in human PPAR receptors provide mixed results as to its function. Complete loss-of-function mutations cause insulin resistance, which suggests that these receptors are involved in insulin signaling (Barroso *et al*, 1999). However, quite in contrast to what was expected, individuals carrying the Pro12Ala mutation have been found to have greater insulin sensitivity although having decreased receptor activity (Deeb *et al*, 1998). Similarly, heterozygous PPAR-γ null mice are more insulin sensitive than their wild type littermates and are also protected from high-fat diet-mediated insulin resistance (Miles *et al*, 2000, Kubota *et al*, 1999). Jones *et al* (2005) used the Cre/loxP strategy to develop an adipose specific PPAR- $\gamma$  knockout mouse, which was protected from developing insulin resistance, or glucose intolerance, probably due to the increased insulin stimulated glucose disposal by the liver in the face of an induction of hepatic PPAR- $\gamma$ . These results have led to the suggestion that the normal role of PPAR- $\gamma$ receptors and their endogenous ligands is to dampen insulin action, promoting a state of insulin resistance (Miles *et al*, 2000) and the insulin sensitizing effect of TZDs may reflect their ability to inhibit this dampening effect of the endogenous ligands (Olefsky, 2000).

Rosiglitazone (RSG) (Figure 1.4), one of the TZDs being currently used to treat human Type 2 diabetes, has been shown to reduce insulin resistance and prevent the loss of  $\beta$ -cell mass in obese ZDF rats by maintaining  $\beta$ -cell proliferation and preventing net  $\beta$ cell death (Finegood *et al*, 2001). The insulin-sensitizing effect of RSG is also accompanied by a partitioning of fatty acid uptake into adipose tissue and away from the liver and muscle and a reduction in liver fatty acyl CoA accumulation (Ye *et al*, 2004).

# 1.10 Cardiovascular disease, diabetes and insulin resistance

The risk of CVD and mortality increases greatly with diabetes mellitus with an estimated 75% of Type 2 diabetic patients in the United States dying of cardiovascular complications (Audelin *et al*, 2001). They are also likely to develop CVD at a younger age and have a higher rate of diffuse multi-vessel disease with
Figure 1.4 Chemical structure of Rosiglitazone



impaired coronary vasodilatory reserve and develop congestive heart failure (Audelin *et al*, 2001).

Glycation of extracellular matrix proteins leads to the formation of advanced glycosylation end products which then induce cross linking of collagen and extra-cellular matrix proteins in many tissues including blood vessel walls (Brownlee, 1992, Vlassara and Bucala, 1996). This glycation process results from exposure to hyperglycemia over a period of time as is the case with diabetic patients. Generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) leading to increased oxidative stress together with a decreased synthesis and an increased inactivation of nitric oxide (NO) derived from the endothelium is also a result of the glycosylation process. NO plays a major role in the endothelium-dependent vasorelaxation of blood vessel stiffness, oxidized LDL production and its uptake into macrophages, with the production of foam cells, the secretion of platelet derived growth factor and proliferation of vascular smooth muscle cells. Increased platelet adhesion and aggregation, increased fibrinogen and increased plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 (PAI-1) concentrations also result from theses changes, giving rise to a pro-thrombotic state (Audelin *et al*, 2001).

Insulin resistance *per se*, without the added complications brought along by frank Type 2 diabetes is also associated with increased risk for CVD. The dyslipidemia of insulin resistance appears to be a major player in the increased risk for CVD. Whether the increase in plasma FFA led to the development of insulin resistance or insulin resistance at the level of adipose tissue with increased hydrolysis of TGs led to the release of FFA into the circulation, insulin resistance is associated with a hypertriglyceridemia. Increased entry of these FFA into the liver results in increased release of VLDL by the liver. The progression of insulin resistance towards CVD begins with this VLDL-associated hypertriglyceridemia, which then leads to low HDL cholesterol and increased small dense LDL particles due to the action of cholesteryl ester transfer protein (CETP) where collision of VLDL with HDL leads to the exchange of cholesteryl ester from HDL for TG from VLDL. The TG of HDL is then hydrolyzed by hepatic lipases and probably by LPL which generates a small HDL that sheds some of its surface, including apo A-1. Apo A-1 is excreted through the kidneys making HDL unavailable for reverse cholesterol transport. In a similar fashion small dense LDL particles are formed with the exchange of LDL CE for VLDL TG in the presence of CETP (Bruce *et al*, 1998, Horowitz *et al*, 1993)

As reviewed by Ginsberg (2000) these changes can increase an individual's risk for CVD in several ways. First, the increased VLDL particles can enter the blood vessel wall and accumulate in atherosclerotic plaques. Due to the action of CETP, these VLDL contain more CE and therefore deliver more cholesterol per particle to the vessel wall. In addition, increased VLDL secretion competes for the chylomicron clearance pathways, leading to post-prandial hyperlipidemia, which is independently associated with coronary artery disease. Second, the diminished reverse cholesterol transport reduces the delivery of cholesterol to the liver along with an inability of HDL to fulfill its proposed functions as a direct antiatherogenic substance at the vessel wall. Scavenger receptor B1 (SRB1) is involved in selective delivery of cholesteryl esters to the liver for excretion via the biliary pathway without the endocytosis and delivery of the whole HDL particle (Acton *et al*, 1996). The reduction in CE due to the action of CETP hinders this reverse cholesterol pathway. Third, the small dense LDL may be more likely to undergo oxidation or may more readily enter the artery wall and therefore be more atherogenic than an equal number of larger more CE rich LDL particles.

Fibrinogen, factor VII, and PAI-1, all of which are factors involved in clotting and fibrinolysis were shown to be increased in individuals with insulin resistance (Ginsberg, 2000). Although the connection between insulin resistance and some of these factors is still under investigation PAI-1 levels seem to increase with increased levels of insulin as well as VLDL (Erikssen *et al*, 1998). These effects on clotting definitely add to the CVD risk posed by insulin resistance.

#### 1.11 Hcy levels in insulin resistance and diabetes

Despite the 4-6 fold increase in CVD risk found in diabetic patients compared to their non-diabetic counterparts a clear relationship between Hcy levels and diabetes has not been established. Araki *et al* (1993) observed a significantly higher level of plasma Hcy in Type 2 diabetic patients with macroangiopathy than in diabetic patients without macroangiopathy or non-diabetic subjects, with no difference in the plasma Hcy levels between the two latter groups. Studying both Type 1 and Type 2 diabetic patients, Munshi *et al* (1996) did not observe any differences between plasma Hcy levels in normal volunteers, diabetics without vascular disease or diabetics with vascular disease. However, after a methionine load they observed a higher frequency of HHcy in patients with Type 2 diabetes compared with age matched controls; HHcy was more common in those with macrovascular disease. Measurement of fasting plasma Hcy levels in 122 Type 2 diabetic patients identified 31% of the cohort as being hyperhomocysteinemic while the other 69% had normal values (Buysschaert *et al*, 2000). Here again the prevalence of macroangiopathy was greater in the hyperhomocysteinemic group while they also exhibited impaired renal function evidenced by decreased creatinine clearance.

A study conducted with 50 Type 1 and 30 Type 2 diabetic patients on the other hand, found the mean plasma Hcy concentration in all diabetic patients to be significantly lower than in normal controls (Wollesen, *et al*, 1999). In Type 1 diabetic patients with no renal complications, plasma Hcy levels were found to be lower than in healthy people while those patients with nephropathy had elevated plasma Hcy levels (Matteucci *et al*, 2002). Robillon *et al* (1994) also found decreased levels of plasma Hcy in Type 1 diabetic patients. This decrease was also shown in an animal model of Type 1 diabetes, the streptozotocin-induced diabetic rat (Jacobs *et al*, 1998).

Wollesen *et al* (1999) were also able to show that the reduction in plasma Hcy seen in the diabetic patients was accompanied by relative urinary hyperfiltration with the plasma Hcy levels closely and independently associating with the glomeruler filtration rate (GFR). This association between plasma Hcy and GFR could also explain the age-related increases observed in plasma Hcy. On the other hand the reduced plasma Hcy seen in streptozotocin diabetic rats was associated with an increase in the removal of Hcy via an accelerated transsulfuration pathway giving a metabolic perspective to the reduced plasma Hcy in Type 1 diabetes (Jacobs *et al*, 1998).

Overt nephropathy however gives rise to increased plasma Hcy levels. Chico *et al* (1998) found Type 2 diabetic patients to have increased plasma Hcy compared to nondiabetic control subjects. They found the albumin excretion rate to show the strongest independent association with Hcy. Patients with both types of diabetes, with nephropathy, had higher plasma Hcy concentrations and the increase in Hcy was related to the severity of nephropathy. Ozmen *et al* (2002) also found HHcy in Type 2 diabetes to be associated with deteriorating renal function. Several other studies describing increased plasma Hcy levels in Type 2 diabetes show an association between HHcy and decreased renal function (Emoto *et al*, 2001; Stabler *et al*, 1999; Davies *et al*, 2001). It is clear therefore, that plasma Hcy in diabetes varies depending on the presence or the absence of nephropathy with levels being lower or normal with no nephropathy and higher when there is nephropathy.

The literature on plasma Hcy levels in the insulin resistant state, before the onset of frank diabetes is quite conflicting. Pergola *et al* (2001) found the plasma Hcy level to be independently associated with insulin resistance in normal weight, overweight and obese pre-menopausal women. They observed a gradual increase in plasma Hcy levels across the quartiles into which the study group was divided according to their degree of insulin resistance as assessed by the Homeostatic model assessment (HOMA) (Pergola *et al*, 2001). In agreement with this finding Giltay *et al* (1998 B) also observed a significant association between insulin resistance and plasma Hcy levels in healthy, non-obese subjects. The degree of insulin resistance was determined according to the hyperinsulinemic euglycemic clamp method in this study. The Framingham offspring study with 2011 subjects with no CVD or diabetes found HHcy and an abnormal urinary albumin excretion to be associated with hyperinsulinemia (Meigs *et al*, 2001). Rats made hyperinsulinemic and insulin resistant by feeding a high fat sucrose diet were examined at 6 months and 2 years and were found to have increased plasma levels of Hcy compared to rats fed a low fat complex carbohydrate diet (Fonseca *et al*, 2000). Similarly, patients with polycystic ovary disease who were exhibiting insulin resistance were also found to have increased plasma Hcy levels (Schachter *et al*, 2003).

In contrast to the above studies Abbasi *et al* (1999) found the Hcy levels to be similar in healthy volunteers who were classified as either insulin resistant (SSPG > 180 mg/dl) or insulin sensitive (SSPG <1000 mg/dl) according to the steady-state plasma glucose (SSPG) concentration during the insulin suppression test. A negative correlation between plasma Hcy and plasma insulin where hyperinsulinemic subjects had lower plasma Hcy concentration compared to normoinsulinemic subjects has also been reported (Bar-on *et al*, 2000). A similar negative relationship between insulin resistance and plasma Hcy were obtained by Rosolva *et al* (2002) in healthy volunteers categorized according to their insulin sensitivity as quantitated by the SSPG concentrations after an insulin suppression period.

These differences in plasma Hcy levels in insulin resistance may arise due to the differences in the methods employed to measure insulin resistance and/or the degree of insulin resistance of the subjects at the time of experimentation.

#### **1.12** Hcy and cardiovascular disease in diabetes

Total plasma Hcy, lipids and parameters of fibrinolytic activity was measured in a group of 145 Japanese patients undergoing routine coronary angiography to assess chest pain or suspected coronary artery disease (Okada *et al*, 1999). The presence of diabetes was identified and the severity of the coronary artery stenosis (CAD scoring) was graded as non stenotic, stenotic single-vessel, stenotic two-vessel, or stenotic three-vessel. They found plasma Hcy to be significantly higher in patients with stenotic vessels than in patients who were non-stenotic. Very interestingly thereafter they found that the number of stenotic coronary arteries was related to tHcy level only in patients with diabetes mellitus. 39% of the patients studied exhibited HHcy with the CAD score being highest in the diabetic patients with HHcy. After adjustment for age, HHcy was associated with an odds ratio (OR) for coronary artery stenosis of 2.01 for all patients which increased up to 6.6 in patients with diabetes. They concluded that plasma Hcy level was independently associated with the CAD score only in the Diabetes mellitus group.

The Hoorn study, a cross-sectional survey of glucose tolerance and other cardiovascular risk factors in a 50-75 year old general white population, found the OR per 5µmol/liter increment in Hcy for any cardiovascular disease was 1.38 in subjects with normal glucose tolerance, 1.55 in subjects with impaired glucose tolerance and 2.33 in subjects with Type 2 diabetes mellitus (Hoogeveen et al, 1998). They concluded that high serum Hcy may be a stronger risk factor (1.6-fold) for CVD in subjects with Type 2 diabetes mellitus than in non-diabetic subjects. Another study conducted using the same cohort showed after adjustment for major cardiovascular risk factors, serum albumin and HbA1c, the OR for 5-year mortality was 1.56 for HHcy and 1.26 per 5 µmol/liter increment of Hcy (Hoogeveen et al, 2000). They found that the OR for 5-year mortality for HHcy was 1.34 in non-diabetic subjects and 2.51 in diabetic subjects and that it is a stronger risk factor (1.9 fold) for mortality in Type 2 diabetic patients than in non diabetic subjects. Similarly, another prospective study based on a cohort of 211 Type 2 diabetic patients showed that plasma tHcy concentration is a significant predictor of six-year allcause and cardiovascular mortality, both in patients with normoalbuminuria and in those with microalbuminuria or macroalbuminuria (Stehouwer et al, 1999). Becker et al,

(2003), using the samples collected in the Hoorn study, showed that the incidence rate of coronary events was 2.63 per 100 person-years among diabetic and 1.29 among non diabetic individuals. The risk of coronary events increased 28% for each 5  $\mu$ mol/L increment of Hcy among the diabetic subjects while among the non diabetic participants there was no such association.

All of the above mentioned studies are concerned with Type 2 diabetes. Hoffman *et al*, (1998) were able to show that Type 1 diabetic patients with HHcy had higher plasma levels of thrombomodulin (TM) and a higher prevalence of macroangiopathy among other late diabetic complications. TM, a receptor for thrombin, is regarded as an important anticoagulant and is predominantly expressed on vascular endothelial cells. The form of TM that is found in plasma probably accounts for damaged blood vessels (Hoffman *et al*, 1998). The effect of increased plasma Hcy on atherosclerosis has also been studied in insulin resistance. Rats that were made insulin resistant by feeding a high fat sucrose diet (HFS) were found to have higher plasma Hcy levels along with higher post-endarterectomy intimal hyperplasia causing luminal stenosis compared to rats that had normal insulin sensitivity (Brown *et al*, 2003). In contrast to these studies Mazza *et al* (1999, 2000) reported that in 130 Type 2 diabetic patients without nephropathy, there was no association between the basal level of Hcy or the MTHFR polymorphism and carotid intima-media thickness.

These studies suggest an independent association between plasma levels of Hcy and CVD. Interestingly, the association shown is much stronger in diabetic than nondiabetic subjects. The association between all cause mortality and HHcy was also shown to be greater in diabetic than in non-diabetic patients. HHcy therefore, may play a major role in the development of cardiovascular disease in diabetic patients along with the other known risk factors.

#### 1.13 HHcy and pathogenesis of atherosclerosis

A unifying hypothesis for the mechanism of Hcy mediated vascular injury has not yet been established. However, a few theories have been put forward in the literature. The most frequently described mechanism involves oxidative damage caused by Hcy. Hcy rapidly auto-oxidizes in plasma with its sulfhydryl (-SH) group undergoing oxidation to disulfide (RSSR). In this process Hcy gets converted to homocystine and mixed disulfides with the production of various ROS, including super oxide radicals, hydrogen peroxide and under certain circumstances hydroxyl radicals (Welch, 1998). It has been proposed that  $H_2O_2$  mediated vessel injury exposes the underlying matrix and smooth muscle cells which in turn proliferate and promote the activity of platelets and leukocytes (Harker *et al*, 1974). Superoxide anion in particular is involved in lipid peroxidation at the level of the endothelial plasma membrane and within lipoprotein particles as well as in the generation of oxidized low density lipoproteins (LDL) (Loscalzo, 1996, Heinecke *et al*, 1987). However, cysteine, with a plasma concentration 25 to 30 times greater than Hcy, is not considered a risk factor for cardiovascular disease despite 94-95% of total plasma cysteine being present in the oxidized form (Jacobsen, 2001).

Another mechanism that has been proposed is the creation of a pro-thrombotic environment by Hcy. Hcy has been shown to enhance the activities of factor XII (Ratnoff, 1968) and factor V (Rodgers and Kane, 1986) and reduce the activation of protein C (Rodgers and Conn, 1990). Hcy also induces the expression of tissue factor (Fryer *et al*, 1993), and suppresses the expression of TM (Lentz and Sadler, 1991) and heparin sulfate (Nishinaga *et al*, 1993) by the endothelium, thereby altering the normal antithrombotic properties of the endothelium.

Hcy also has several effects on the endothelium-derived vasoactive small molecule, NO. Formation of S-nitroso-Hcy by the nitrosation of the SH group of Hcy by NO is regarded as a way the normal endothelial cell deals with the problems posed by accumulating Hcy (Stamler et al, 1993). In addition to inhibiting the generation of ROS, S-nitroso-Hcy is also regarded as a potent platelet inhibitor and vasodilator (Stamler et al, 1992). Long term exposure to high levels of Hcy resulting in endothelial damage will limit the production of NO, compromising the protective effect of NO. Hey has also been shown to decrease the synthesis of NO (Welch et al, 1997, Loscalzo, 1996), decrease the expression of NO synthase and directly degrade NO (Chin et al, 1992, Liao et al, 1995, Blom et al, 1995). Evidence is also there to show that Hcy suppresses the expression of glutathione peroxidase, a key player in the cellular anti oxidative machinery (Upchurch et al, 1997). Hey is also a potent mitogen for vascular smooth muscle cells as shown in experiments where infusion of Hcy into baboons leads to the formation of atheroma (Harker et al. 1983). In-vitro experiments have shown exposure to Hey to cause increased vascular smooth muscle cell proliferation brought about partly by increased expression of cyclin D1 and cyclin A (Tsai *et al*, 1994).

Hcy thiolactone, a cyclical oxidative product of Hcy is also considered a potential mechanism involved in vascular pathology. Aggregates formed by the combination of Hcy thiolactone with LDL were shown to be taken up by intimal macrophages to form foam cells and be incorporated into atheromatous plaques (Naruszewicz *et al*, 1994). Hcy

thiolactone is also incorporated into cellular and secretory proteins through lysine acylation leading to the dysfunction of the proteins (Jakubowski, 1997).

Another hypothesis that may account for the mechanism of vascular damage by Hcy is known as the molecular target hypothesis. This mechanism suggests that Hcy itself may interact with specific molecular targets thereby modulating their activity (Jacobsen, 2000). Treatment of rat aortic smooth muscle cells with DL Hcy (0-500  $\mu$ M) was shown to decrease glutathione peroxidase activity, increase superoxide dismutase in a dosedependent manner while catalase activity was unchanged (Nishio ad Watanabe, 1997). Hcy was also able to inactivate purified bovine hepatic glutathione peroxidase in a dosedependent manner (Nishio and Watanabe, 1997). Upchurch *et al* (1997) also found Hcy to decrease the expression of the cellular isoform of glutathione peroxidase in cultured bovine aortic endothelial cells. Hcy was found to decrease the steady state mRNA for glutathione peroxidase by 90%.

The members of the anti-oxidant machinery of the cell are not the only molecules that could be targeted by Hcy. Hcy is able to inhibit the conversion of plasminogen to plasmin by forming a mixed disulfide with cys 9 on annexin II, thereby inhibiting the binding of tissue plasminogen activator (Hajjar *et al*, 1998). Hcy also forms a mixed disulfide with prometalloprotease 2, which activates the protease through a cysteine switch mechanism (Bescond *et al*, 1999). Contrary to the favorable picture painted by formation of nitrosothiol by the reaction of Hcy with NO, this same mechanism is also described to reduce the bioavailability of NO by trapping it as nitrosothiol intracellularly (Jacobsen, 2000). Once entering the cell Hcy can also act to modify intracellular targets (Jacobsen, 2000).

#### 1.14 Endothelial dysfunction

The endothelium, a single layer of cells lining the inner wall of the blood vessels lies in between the blood stream and the vessel wall and is considered the largest organ in the body. The endothelium is able to sense mechanical stimuli, such as pressure and shear stress and hormonal stimuli such as vasoactive substances and to release various agents involved in vasomotor function, inflammation and hemostasis (Endemann and Schiffrin, 2004). NO, prostacyclin, endothelium-derived hyperpolarizing factor (EDHF), bradykinin, adrenomedullin, C-natriuretic protein are vasodilators released by the endothelium while endothelin-1, angiotensin-II, thromboxane A2, prostaglandins and ROS are vasoconstrictors (McGuire et al, 2001). NO, intercellular adhesion molecule -1 (ICAM-1), vascular adhesion molecule-1 (VCAM-1), E-selectin, and NF-KB are inflammatory mediators released by the endothelium while modulators of hemostasis include plasminogen activator, tissue factor inhibitor, von Willebrand factor, NO, prostacyclin, thromboxane A2, plasminogen activator inhibitor-1, and fibrinogen (Endemann and Schiffrin, 2004). In addition to these functions the endothelium also plays a role in mitogenesis, angiogenesis, vascular permeability and fluid balance (Endemann and Schiffrin, 2004).

Since the discovery of the requirement of the endothelium to exert the vasodilatory effects of acetylcholine (Furchgott and Zawadzki, 1980) to the first description of endothelial dysfunction in a human in 1990 (Panza *et al*, 1990), our understanding of the role of the endothelium in vascular homeostasis has greatly increased. Endothelial dysfunction is generally described as impaired vasodilation to specific stimuli such as acetylcholine or bradykinin but also includes impairment of

endothelial dependent regulation of hemostasis and inflammation (Endemann and Schiffrin, 2004). Endothelial dysfunction is implicated in the pathophysiology of several forms of cardiovascular disease such as hypertension, coronary artery disease, chronic heart failure, peripheral arterial disease, diabetes and chronic renal failure (Endemann and Schiffrin, 2004). Some studies have shown endothelial dysfunction to precede development of cardiovascular disease; for example offspring of hypertensive patients, despite being normotensive, have displayed endothelial dysfunction (Taddei *et al*, 1996). Similarly, symptom-free children and young adults at high risk for atherosclerosis have also displayed endothelial dysfunction (Celermajer *et al*, 1992).

Saenz *et al*, 1989 reported endothelial dysfunction in human penile corpura cavernosa for both Type 1 and Type 2 diabetic patients. Endothelial dysfunction has also been described in the peripheral circulation of Type 1 (Johnstone *et al*, 1993) and Type 2 diabetic patients (Ting *et al*, 1996). Endothelial dysfunction has also been reported in non-diabetic but insulin- resistant obese individuals (Steinberg *et al*, 1996). Studies done using 3 different models of Type 2 diabetes and insulin resistance have shown hyperglycemia to be the major risk factor for endothelial dysfunction in diabetes. The study used db/db, ob/ob and TallyHo mice and endothelial dysfunction was only observed in the db/db and TallyHo mice, which displayed both hyperglycemia and dyslipidemia, and not in ob/ob mice that only exhibit dyslipidemia (Triggle *et al*, 2003). Oxidative stress, brought about by the production of various ROS in response to the hyperglycemia, is believed to be the cause of this endothelial dysfunction as ROS decrease the bioavailability of the nitric oxide synthase cofactor, tetrahydrobiopterin (BH<sub>4</sub>) leading to "uncoupled eNOS". Uncoupled eNOS produces superoxide instead of NO (Triggle *et al*, 2003).

#### 1.15 Pathophysiology of endothelial dysfunction

Endothelial dysfunction can be brought about by multiple mechanisms. Reduction in the levels of NO due to reduced activity of eNOS (due to exogenous or endogenous inhibitors of eNOS or due to unavailability of its substrate, L-arginine) or reduced bioavailability of NO leads to endothelial dysfunction. Under oxidative stress, ROS react with NO to produce the cytotoxic oxidant peroxynitrite, which causes nitration of proteins leading to their dysfunction and therefore to endothelial dysfunction (Koppenol *et al*, 1992). Peroxynitrite is also responsible for oxidation of LDL (Griendling and Fitzgerald, 2003) as well as the degradation of the eNOS cofactor BH<sub>4</sub> leading to the "uncoupling" of eNOS (Milstein and Katusic, 1999). Oxidative stress also causes the reduction of BH<sub>4</sub> to BH<sub>2</sub> (Endemann and Schiffrin, 2004). "Uncoupling" of eNOS involves the reduction of its oxygenase activity, which is responsible for forming NO, and an increase in its reductase activity leading to the production of further ROS (Endemann and Schiffrin, 2004).

Along with the reduced levels of NO, the oxidative environment also leads to a pro-inflammatory state in the vessel wall with up-regulation of adhesion (VCAM-1 and ICAM-1) and chemotactic molecules (macrophage chemoattractant peptide-1 [MCP-1]) (Griendling and Fitzgerald, 2003). NAD(P)H oxidase is the enzyme responsible for most cellular ROS with xanthine oxidase, mitochondria and uncoupled eNOS also giving rise to some (Endemann and Schiffrin, 2004).

Reduction in the bioavailability of NO may also be caused by the endogenous competitive inhibitor of eNOS, asymmetric dimethylarginine (ADMA). ADMA is a product of protein turnover and is either excreted through the kidneys or degraded to citrulline by the enzyme dimethylarginine dimethylaminohydrolase (DDAH). Therefore increased levels of ADMA can be seen in both chronic renal failure as well as in hepatic disease (Nijveldt *et al*, 2003).

HHcy has also been implicated in the pathophysiology of endothelial dysfunction as shown by many studies involving both animals and humans (Lentz, 2000, Faraci and Lentz, 2004). It has also been shown that HHcy causes endothelial dysfunction to a degree similar to other risk factors such as hypercholesterolemia and hypertension (Lentz, 2000). One of the mechanisms by which HHcy has been shown to cause endothelial dysfunction is through the reduction in NO bioavailability by oxidative excess of several types of ROS like superoxide, hydrogen peroxide and peroxynitrite (Faraci and Lentz, 2004). In addition to the direct production of ROS by the auto-oxidation of Hcy, Hcy also mediates a specific decrease in the expression of the cellular isoform of glutathione peroxidase (Gpx-1), as was shown in vitro as well as in vivo (Upchurch *et al*, 1997, Outinen *et al*, 1999). To complement these studies, Weiss *et al*, (2001) was able to show that over-expression of Gpx-1 compensates for the adverse effects of Hcy on endothelial function.

Another potential mechanism by which Hcy may exert a deleterious effect is via the elevation of ADMA, as has been demonstrated in a non-human primate model of HHcy (Boger *et al*, 2000). Hcy may cause elevation of ADMA by the inhibition of its catabolism through DDAH (Stuhlinger *et al*, 2003). Endoplasmic reticulum stress (Outinen *et al*, 1999, Outinen *et al*, 1998), stimulation of pro-inflammatory processes (Ungvari *et al*, 2003), and alterations in the methylation of regulatory proteins such as Ras (Wang *et al*, 1997) have also been suggested as mechanisms by which Hcy can activate endothelial apoptotic pathways leading to endothelial dysfunction.

HHcy therefore appears to cause endothelial dysfunction through a multiplicity of mechanisms. These mechanisms may explain the increased cardiovascular risk posed by elevations in plasma Hcy levels.

#### 1.16 Pathophysiological effects of endothelial dysfunction

Endothelial dysfunction is regarded as an early event in the pathophysiology of the atherosclerotic process as reduced bioavailability of NO appears to lead to a number of proatherogenic processes (Celermajer *et al*, 1992, Suwaidi *et al*, 2000). Low NO bioavailability has been shown to upregulate VCAM-1 in the endothelial cell through the induction of NF-kB expression (Khan *et al*, 1996). This plays a role in the inflammatory process as VCAM-1 binds monocytes and T-lymphocytes, the first step in the invasion of the vessel wall by these cells (Libby, 2002). Reduction in NO also leads to the induction of MCP-1 expression leading to the recruitment of mononuclear phagocytes (Zeiher *et al*, 1995). Lectin-like oxidized LDL receptor-1 (LOX-1) which is highly expressed in blood vessels in hypertension, diabetes and dyslipidemia (Mehta and Li, 2002) scavenges oxidized LDL leading to a reduction in eNOS expression (Mehta *et al*, 2001) and further stimulation of adhesion molecule expression (Chen *et al*, 2001). Vascular smooth muscle cell growth and interstitial collagen synthesis gets stimulated by the growth factors secreted by macrophages found in the plaque (Libby, 2002). In addition to creating this favorable environment for plaque formation, decreased NO may also be implicated in the rupture of the fibrous cap of the plaque with the resultant formation of a thrombus, as it was shown to activate matrix metalloproteinases MMP-2 and MMP-9 which weakens the fibrous cap (Uemura *et al*, 2001, Eberhardt, 2000). Platelet aggregation may also be enhanced in the face of reduced NO as NO is a known inhibitor of platelet aggregation (Radomski *et al*, 1987).

#### **1.17** Perspective

It is clear that plasma Hcy plays a major role in the etiology of several chronic diseases one of the most important being atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease. Cardiovascular disease is also recognized as the leading cause of death in diabetic patients. Is there any additional role played by plasma Hcy in the development of CVD in diabetes? The many studies that have been published dealing with plasma Hcy levels in both Type 1 and Type 2 diabetes as well as insulin resistance have yielded a multiplicity of results. This may very well reflect the many mechanisms involved in the regulatory process of plasma Hcy. We strongly believe in the metabolic regulation of plasma Hcy and have comprehensively shown the hormonal regulation of two major enzymes involved in the removal of plasma Hcy; CBS and BHMT. Although not quite fully explained as yet there also appears to be a relationship between kidney function and plasma Hcy. The kidney has been shown to be a major organ in the removal of Hcy in rats but the same has not been able to be displayed in humans. However, most studies have been able to show a positive correlation between plasma Hcy and plasma Hcy.

Renal function in Type 2 diabetes appears to change with the progress of the disease; hyper-filtration in the early stages and progressive deterioration with the progression of diabetes. Diabetes therefore provides an interesting situation with changes in kidney functions being superimposed on the already existing changes in the metabolic milieu.

#### **1.18** Problems of investigation and objectives

The main focus of this work was the examination of Hcy metabolism in Type 2 diabetes and insulin resistance before the impairment of kidney function in order to gain further understanding of the metabolic regulation of plasma Hcy. We were also interested in identifying the changes that occur in other amino acids under these conditions as the available data on this subject deals mostly with Type 1 diabetes. The specific questions that we sought to find answers through this work include:

- 1. The effects of Type 2 diabetes and insulin resistance on plasma Hcy levels and Hcy metabolism in the liver.
- 2. The effects of Type 2 diabetes and insulin resistance on amino acid metabolism
- 3. Effects of rosiglitazone treatment on Hcy metabolism in insulin resistance and Type 2 diabetes
- 4. Vascular function in insulin resistance and Type 2 diabetes and the effects of rosiglitazone treatment on vascular function.

# Chapter 2

### Materials and Methods

.

#### 2.1 Animals

All procedures were approved by Memorial University's Institutional Animal Care Committee and were in accordance with the guidelines of the Canadian Council of Animal Care. Age-matched (5 and 11 weeks old) male ZDF (ZDF fa/fa) and (ZDF +/?) rats purchased from Charles River Laboratories (Indianapolis, Indiana, USA) were used as a model of Type 2 diabetes. Rats were given water and Purina 5008 chow *ad libitum* unless otherwise stated. Rats were housed in the Animal Care Facility using a 12 hour light: 12 hour dark cycle which began with lights on at 8:00 am. In vascular assays, data were obtained from ZDF fa/+ and ZDF fa/fa rats at 6, 12 and 18 weeks of age. In the study of the effects of Rosiglitazone on Hcy metabolism, data were obtained from ZDF fa/+ and ZDF fa/fa rats at 6 and 12 weeks of age.

#### **2.2 Rosiglitazone Treatment Protocol**

ZDF fa/fa and the ZDF fa/+ rats were assigned randomly by drawing lots to equal groups of untreated and rosiglitazone-treated (RSG) at 6 weeks of age. Untreated rats continued to receive their unaltered diet (described above). RSGtreated rats were given *ad libitum* access to water and Purina 5008 chow containing rosiglitazone maleate (received as a gift from GlaxoSmithKline, West Sussex, UK) which was estimated to give a dose of 10  $\mu$ mol/kg body weight /day (Finegood *et al*, 2001). A set of untreated ZDF fa/+ and ZDF fa/fa rats were sacrificed at 6 weeks of age to obtain metabolism and vascular function data at baseline (time 0). Then equal groups of untreated and RSG-treated rats were sacrificed after 6 and 12 weeks of treatment.

#### 2.3 Metabolism Assays

Animals were anaesthetized with sodium pentobarbital (65 mg/kg i.p.) on the day of the experiment. After a midline abdominal incision, blood was drawn into a heparinized syringe from the abdominal aorta. Before withdrawal of the syringe from the abdominal aorta, a piece of the liver was rapidly removed and freezeclamped in liquid nitrogen. The rest of the liver was then removed and placed in icecold 50 mM potassium phosphate buffer (pH 7.0). The freeze-clamped tissues were stored at  $-70^{\circ}$ C until further use. The blood was centrifuged in a clinical centrifuge at 3700 g for 15 minutes. Plasma thus separated was kept at  $-20^{\circ}$  C until further use. Fresh liver was diluted 1:5 (w/v) with 50 mM potassium phosphate buffer (pH 7.0) and homogenized using a polytron (Brinkmann Instruments, Toronto, Canada) for 20s at 50% output. The homogenate was centrifuged at 18000 g for 30 min at  $4^{\circ}$ C and the supernatant was carefully separated. All enzyme assays were performed on this 18000g supernatant except for the activity of choline dehydrogenase which was measured using the 20% homogenate.

#### 2.4 Analytical procedure:

#### 2.4.1 Plasma Hcy:

Plasma tHcy (which consists of protein-bound Hcy and free, which is both in the reduced and the oxidized form) was determined according to the method described

by Vestor and Rasmussen (1991). 150 $\mu$ l of sample (plasma or hepatocytes) was first incubated at 4<sup>o</sup>C for 30 min with 20 $\mu$ l 10% tri-n-butyl phosphine in dimethylformamide to reduce disulfide bonds and liberate protein-bound Hcy. After the reduction period, 125 $\mu$ l of 0.6M perchloric acid was added to deproteinize along with 50  $\mu$ l of 0.2 mM 8-aminonaphthalene-1,3,6-trisulfonic acid (ANTS) which is used as an internal standard. The tubes were left at room temperature for 10 min and centrifuged at 14000 g (Brinkman instruments, Rexdale, ON, Canada) for 5 min. 100 $\mu$ l of the resultant supernatant was collected and 200 $\mu$ l of 2 M Potassium Borate containing 5 mM EDTA (pH 10.5) and 100 $\mu$ l of 7-Fluorobenzo-2-oxa-1,3diazole-4-sulfonic acid (1mg/ml solution) in 2 M Potassium Borate (pH 9.5) were added. After a thorough mixing, the Eppendorf tubes were covered in aluminum foil and incubated at 60<sup>o</sup>C for 60 min. The tubes were then allowed to cool for 5 min in an ice bath and were centrifuged at 14000 g for 5 min. The samples were filtered through a 0.45 $\mu$ m syringe filter in preparation for analysis by HPLC.

A Shimadzu High Performance Liquid Chromatography system from Man-Tech Associates Inc., consisting of a SIL-10 A (Shimadzu auto-injector), LC-10AD (Liquid chromatograph Solvent Delivery Module), SCL-10A (system controller module), FCV-10 AL (solvent selector), GT-104 (degasser) and a Shimadzu RF 535 Fluorescence HPLC monitor fitted with a Hypersil ODS  $5\mu$ m C18 column (150 mm x 4.6 mm) (Supelco Inc), was used to measure Hcy.

0.1 M Sodium Acetate buffer (pH 4.0) containing 2% v/v or 20% v/v methanol was used as buffer A or B respectively. The buffers were filtered through a 0.45  $\mu$ m Millipore filter before use. A 20 min linear gradient running from 100%

buffer A to 100% buffer B over 10 min, back to 100% buffer A over 5 min and a final 5 min equilibration period at 100% buffer A was used. 20µl of the sample was injected on to the column and the fluorescence signal was detected with excitation at 385 nm and emission at 515 nm and integrated using a Man-Tech Shimadzu CR 501 HPLC data processor. The standard curve for Hcy is shown in Fig. 2.1.

#### 2.4.2 Plasma Glucose, creatinine and insulin:

Plasma glucose was determined enzymatically as described by Bergmeyer *et al.* (1974). Plasma creatinine (Chapter 3) was measured using a kit (catalogue No. 555A) from Sigma Diagnostics (St. Louis, MO), which uses the Jaffe reaction with some modifications. Plasma creatinine (Chapter 5) was measured by Dr. Ed Randell using SYNCHRON creatinine (CREm) reagent in conjunction with SYNCHRON LX AQUA CAL 1 and 2 as calibration standards on a SYNCHRON LX system. This method too is based on the Jaffe reaction. Plasma insulin was measured with a rat insulin ELISA kit (catalogue No. INSKR020) from Crystal Chem Inc., Downers Grove, IL, USA using anti rat /mouse insulin antibody, and standard rat insulin.

#### 2.5 Enzyme analysis

Standard conditions of protein and time are given for each enzyme assay in Table 2.1. In all cases, protein and time were chosen to fall in the linear portion of the protein and time curves for each assay (see Figures 2.2 to 2.9). Protein concentrations were determined by the Biuret method using BSA as a standard.

## Figure 2.1: Standard Curve for Hcy.

A typical graph is shown.



### Table 2.1 Experimental conditions used in assaying enzyme activities

	Protein (mg)	Time (min)
Methionine adenosyltransferase	0.5	30
Glycine-N-methyltransferase	0.075	30
Cystathionine β-synthase	2	60
Cystathionine γ-lyase	1	10
Methionine synthase	1	30
Methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase	0.1	20
Betaine:homocysteine methyltransferase	0.3	60
Choline dehydrogenase	0.15	7.5

Linearity with time and protein was established for each assay and the protein and time to be used in the experiments were chosen from the linear portion of the curve.

Figure 2.2: Dependence of hepatic methionine adenosyltransferase activity on protein and time.

A 30 min incubation period was used to obtain the protein curve while 0.5 mg of protein was used in each incubation to determine the linearity with respect to time. A typical graph is shown for each condition.





Figure 2.3: Dependence of hepatic glycine N-methyltransferase activity on protein and time.

A 30 min incubation period was used to obtain the protein curve while 0.075 mg of protein was used in each incubation to determine the linearity with respect to time. A typical graph is shown for each condition.





.

Figure 2.4: Dependence of cystathionine production by hepatic cystathionine  $\beta$ -synthase on time and protein.

A 60 min incubation period was used to obtain the protein curve while 2 mg of protein was used in each incubation to determine the linearity with respect to time. A typical graph is shown for each condition.





Figure 2.5: Dependence of hepatic cystathionine  $\gamma$ -lyase activity on protein.

A typical graph is shown.


# Figure 2.6: Dependence of hepatic methionine synthase activity on time and protein.

A 30 min incubation period was used to obtain the protein curve while 1 mg of protein was used in each incubation to determine the linearity with respect to time. A typical graph is shown for each condition.





Figure 2.7: Dependence of liver Methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase activity on time and protein.

A 20 min incubation period was used to obtain the protein curve while 0.1 mg of protein was used in each incubation to determine the linearity with respect to time. A typical graph is shown for each condition.





Figure 2.8: Dependence of hepatic betaine:homocysteine methyltransferase on protein and time.

A 60 min incubation period was used to obtain the protein curve while 0.3 mg of protein was used in each incubation to determine the linearity with respect to time. A typical graph is shown for each condition.





# Figure 2.9: Dependence of hepatic choline dehydrogenase on protein and time.

A 7.5 min incubation period was used to obtain the protein curve while 0.15 mg of protein was used in each incubation to determine the linearity with respect to time. A typical graph is shown for each condition.





#### 2.5.1 Methionine adenosyltransferase:

Methionine adenosyltransferase activity was measured using a method based on Mudd *et al* (1965) and Duce *et al* (1988). The assay included 100 mM Tris HCl (pH 7.8), 200 mM KCl, 10 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 1 mM DTT, 5 mM ATP, 5 mM  $1^{-14}$  CH<sub>3</sub>-Methionine (0.04 µCi) and 0.5 mg of liver protein in a final volume of 250 µl. Incubations were started with the addition of  $1^{-14}$ C Methionine and were stopped with the addition of 750 µl of ice-cold H<sub>2</sub>O after an incubation period of 30 min at  $37^{0}$ C. 700 µl of the stopped incubate was added to a column containing Biorad 50W-X4 200-400 mesh H<sup>+</sup>-form resin with the counter-ion changed to NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>. The columns were washed with 5 x 4 ml of H<sub>2</sub>O and labeled SAM was eluted with 2 x 3 ml of 3 M NH<sub>4</sub>OH. 10 ml of Scintiverse (Fisher Scientific, ON, Canada) was added to each vial and the radioactivity was measured with a LKB-1214 Rackbeta liquid scintillation counter.

## 2.5.2 Glycine N-methyltransferase:

The activity of Glycine *N*-methyltransferase was measured according to a method described by Rowling *et al.* (2002). 100 mM Tris HCL (pH 9.0), 2 mM Glycine, 5 mM DTT, 0.2 mM Methyl  $-{}^{3}$ H -SAM in 50 mM potassium phosphate buffer (pH 7.0) and 0.15 mg of protein were incubated for 15 min at 25<sup>o</sup>C in a final volume of 200 µl. The incubations were stopped by the addition of 100 µl of ice-cold 10% TCA. 500 µl of acid washed charcoal suspension (38 mg/ml in 0.1 M Acetic Acid) was added to the tubes and they were allowed to stand on ice for 15 min. The

tubes were then centrifuged at 3200 g for 10 min and 500  $\mu$ l of the supernatant was added to 10 ml Scintiverse to determine radioactivity as described before.

## **2.5.3** Cystathionine $\beta$ synthase

Cystathionine  $\beta$  synthase activity was measured using an assay described by Mudd *et al* (1965) and Taoka *et al.* (1998). The assay included 125 mM Tris HCL (pH 8.3), 2.1 mM EDTA, 0.42 mM pyridoxal-5'-phosphate, 0.146 mM Lcystathionine, 41.7 mM D,L-Hcy, 0.316 mM SAM, 2.1 mM propargylglycine and 25 mM 1-<sup>14</sup>C Serine (0.1  $\mu$ Ci) in a final volume of 0.6 ml. 2 mg of protein were used in each assay. Incubations were carried out for 1 hr at 37°C and were stopped with the addition of 300  $\mu$ l of 15% TCA. The tubes were centrifuged at 1000 g for 10 min and 0.5 ml of the de-proteinized sample was added to a moist column containing 2 ml of BioRad 50 W X 4 200-400 mesh H<sup>+</sup> form resin. The columns were washed with 2 X 4 ml of H<sub>2</sub>O and then 6 x 4 ml 1M HCL and finally with 4 x 4ml H<sub>2</sub>O. Radiolabelled cystathionine was eluted with 5 ml of 3 M NH<sub>4</sub>OH. 1 ml of the eluent was used to measure radioactivity after mixing with 10 ml of Scintiverse as described before.

## 2.5.4 Cystathionine γ-lyase

This assay was conducted as described by Stipanuk (1979) with the spectrophotometric measurement of the disappearance of NADH at 340 nm at  $37^{\circ}$  C for 10 min. The assay cocktail included 100 mM Potassium Phosphate buffer (pH

7.5), 0.125 mM pyridoxal-5-phosphate, 0.32 mM NADH, 4 mM L-Cystathionine, 1.5 units of Lactate dehydrogenase and 1 mg liver protein in a final volume of 2 ml. A blank was run for each sample with the above cocktail with no cystathionine.

## **2.5.5 Methionine synthase**

The reaction mixture consisted of 64 mM potassium phosphate buffer (pH 7.5). dithiothreiotol (DTT), 7 29 mM mM mercaptoethanol, 10 μM cyanocobalamine, 7.5 mM D, L-homocysteine, 0.25 mM SAM and 0.5 mM [5-14C] methyl tetrahydrofolate (0.25 µCi) in 1.064 mM sodium ascorbate (pH 7.0). This reaction mixture was incubated at  $37^{\circ}$  C in the dark for 30 min with 1 mg of protein in a final volume of 200  $\mu$ l. The reaction was stopped with 400  $\mu$ l of ice-cold H<sub>2</sub>O and the tubes were immediately transferred to an ice bath. After centrifugation, <sup>14</sup>C separated from <sup>14</sup>C methyltetrahydrofolate by adding methionine was the supernatant to an ion exchange column (BioRad AG 1-X8, 200-400 mesh, Cl<sup>-</sup> form,  $0.8 \times 4$  cm). The columns were washed with  $3 \times 500 \mu l$  of H<sub>2</sub>O, the effluent was collected and the radioactivity was counted after adding 10 ml of Scintiverse as described before (Koblin et al. 1981).

#### 2.5.6 Methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase

Methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase activity was measured as described by Engbersen *et al.* (1995). The reaction mixture for this assay consisted of 0.024 mM 1-<sup>14</sup> C methyltetrahydrofolate (0.3  $\mu$ Ci), 11.6 mM ascorbic acid, 0.18 M potassium phosphate buffer (pH 6.8), 54  $\mu$ M FAD, 0.54 mM EDTA, 3.5 mM menadione and 0.1 mg of cytosolic protein. The reaction was started with the addition of menadione sodium bisulfate. The tubes were incubated at  $37^{0}$  C for 20 min in the dark and was stopped by the addition of 100 µl of 3 M potassium acetate (pH 4.5), 10 µl of 1 M formaldehyde and 200 µl of 250 mM dimedone in ethanol: H<sub>2</sub>O 1:1 sequentially. They were then heated at 95 °C for 15 min and were cooled on ice for 10 min before adding 3 ml of toluene. After mixing well, the tubes were centrifuged at low speed for 5 min. 2 ml of the toluene phase was removed and mixed with 10 ml of Scintiverse to measure radioactivity as described before.

#### 2.5.7 Betaine:homocysteine methyltransferase

The assay was conducted as described by Garrow (1996). The assay contained 5 mM D, L,Hcy, 2 mM 1-<sup>14</sup>C betaine (0.05-0.1  $\mu$ Ci), 50 mM Tris HCL (pH 7.5) and 0.3 mg of cytosolic protein in a final volume of 0.5ml. The tubes were incubated at 37<sup>o</sup> C for 1 hr and were stopped with the addition of 2.5 ml of ice-cold H<sub>2</sub>O. After centrifugation, 2 ml of the stopped reaction mixture was added to Dowex 1-X4 (Cl<sup>-</sup>) 200-400 mesh resin in which the counter-ion had been changed to OH<sup>-</sup>. The columns were washed with 3 X 5 ml of H<sub>2</sub>O and radiolabelled methionine was eluted with 3 ml of 1.5 M HCL. The radioactivity in the eluant was measured as described before.

#### 2.5.8 Choline dehydrogenase

Choline dehydrogenase activity was measured using a method modified from Grossman and Hebert (1989) and Haubrich and Gerber (1981). Each incubation included 3.5 mM tris HCL (pH 7.6), 0.35 mM EDTA, 0.7 mM  $\beta$  mercaptoethanol, 1.08 mM phenazine methosulfate (PMS)/0.35 mM CaCl<sub>2</sub>, 0.5 mM 1-<sup>14</sup> C choline chloride (0.2  $\mu$ Ci) and 15  $\mu$ l of liver homogenate containing 0.15 mg of protein. The tubes were incubated in the dark at 37<sup>o</sup> C for 7.5 min and were stopped with the addition of 20  $\mu$ l 1M NaOH and were transferred to an ice bath. After mixing well, 15  $\mu$ l of 30% H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> was added to the tubes and they were incubated at Room temperature for 1 hr. 415  $\mu$ l of cold ddH<sub>2</sub>O was added to each tube and the contents were loaded on to columns containing Dowex 50W-X4 (100-200 mesh) H<sup>+</sup>-form resin with the counter-ion changed to Li<sup>+</sup> by washing with LiOH. The columns were washed with 6 X 833 $\mu$ l of H<sub>2</sub>O and the collected effluent was mixed with 10 ml of Scintiverse to be measured for <sup>14</sup>C betaine in the scintillation counter.

#### 2.6 S-adenosylmethionine and S-adenosylhomocysteine

For the determination of SAM and SAH, freeze clamped liver was quickly homogenized in 5 volumes of 8% ice-cold trichloroacetic acid. The samples were then centrifuged at 12,500 g for 5 min. After filtration, the supernatant was analyzed by HPLC using a Vydac C18 column (model 2187P54) with 50 mM NaH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub> containing 10 mM heptanesulfonic acid (pH 3.18-3.2) and 100% acetonitrile as buffers A and B respectively. A 15 min gradient from 96% A, 4% B to 80% A and 20% B was used. UV absorbance at 258 nm was measured and the peaks were quantified using a Waters 743 data module integrator. Standard curves for SAM and SAH are given in Fig. 2.10. Figure 2.10: Standard curves for SAM and SAH. ■ SAM, ▲ SAH.



#### 2.7 Reverse Transcriptase-PCR:

Total RNA was isolated from fresh liver samples as previously described (Chomczynski and Sacchi, 1987). 2µg of RNA was reverse transcribed using a one step reverse transcription kit (Qiagen, Mississauga, Canada) and was amplified by 15 An upstream primer (5'- GCCTTCAGGACATCCAGTGT-3') and a cycles. downstream primer (5'- TCTTTCCGGGTCTGCTCACGGGC-3') corresponding to the type 3 rat CBS cDNA (Kraus *et al*, 1998) were used to amplify a 1644-bp PCR fragment. For BHMT, an upstream primer (5' ACCGATTGCCGGCAAGAA-3') and a down stream primer (5'-CTGTGCGGATTTGAATTTTTG-3') corresponding to the rat BHMT cDNA was used to amplify a 1216 bp PCRfragment. 768 bp fragment of the rat  $\beta$  actin was co-amplified using amplimer set primers (CLONTECH laboratories, Palo Alto, CA). Once amplified the PCR products were separated on 0.8% (w/v) agarose. The bands were stained with ethidium bromide and were visualized under UV illumination. In the case of CBS mRNA, the gel was immersed in 0.25 M HCL, denatured in denaturing buffer, rinsed with dH<sub>2</sub>O, soaked in neutralization buffer, incubated in 10x SSC, and transferred to an S and S Nytran SuPer charge nylon membrane. After transfer, the DNA was immobilized by UV cross-linking in a Hoefer UVC 500 UV cross-linker (Amersham Biosciences). The blots were simultaneously probed with <sup>32</sup>P- labeled CBS cDNA and Radiolabeled  $\beta$ - actin cDNA probes (CLONTECH Laboratories, Palo Alto, Ca). Finally autoradiography was carried out using Kodak XAR or Biomax film. Autoradiographs were scanned on ChemiImager<sup>TM</sup> 4000, and RNA

levels were quantitated with Alpha Ease software (Alpha Innotech Corporation, San Leandro, CA).

#### 2.8 Isolation of Hepatocytes

Hepatocytes were isolated according to the method of Berry et al (1991). 0.1 ml of heparin (1000 units/ml) was injected into the femoral vein of an anaesthetized rat. After a mid-line incision, ties were placed around the inferior vena cava above the renal artery and several around the portal vein. A cannula was inserted into the portal vein and tied in place. Flow-through perfusion with 500 ml of "Ca<sup>+2</sup>-free" Krebs-Henseleit medium (144 mM Na<sup>+</sup>, 6 mM K<sup>+</sup>, 1.2 mM Mg<sup>+2</sup>, 126 mM Cl<sup>-</sup>, 1.2 mM H<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>, 1.2 mM SO<sub>4</sub><sup>2-</sup>, 25 mM HCO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>) containing 2 mM EGTA, 20 mM glucose, 2.1 mM lactate, and 0.3 mM pyruvate (pH 7.4) was started immediately at a flow rate of 40 ml/min. The Krebs-Henseleit medium was gassed with 95/5% O2/CO2 for at least 20 min before use. To start flow through the liver the inferior vena cava was severed below the kidney. The flow through of  $Ca^{+2}$  free medium was followed by about 500 ml of "Ca<sup>+2</sup>-plus" medium (1.3 mM Ca<sup>+2</sup>) containing 20 mM glucose, 2.1 mM lactate, and 0.3 mM pyruvate. A second cannula was inserted through the right atrium and into the inferior vena cava after opening the chest just above the heart and was tied off above the renal artery. With the completion of the second flowthrough, recirculation of Krebs-Henseleit Ca<sup>+2</sup> medium containing 0.25 % (w/v) BSA and 30 mg/100 ml collagenase (Boehringer # 103586) was begun and the perfusion was continued until the liver became soft. The liver was removed into a Petri dish containing collagenase medium and gently teased with fingers to release cells. The released cells were incubated at  $37^{0}$ C in a shaking water bath for 10 min while gassing with 95/5% O<sub>2</sub>/CO<sub>2</sub>, filtered through a strainer and centrifuged at 600 rpm for 2 min. The supernatant was poured off and the cells were resuspended in fresh Krebs-Henseleit Ca<sup>+2</sup> medium, centrifuged again and the process repeated. Finally the cells were washed with Krebs-Henseleit Ca<sup>+2</sup> medium containing 2.5% BSA. The supernatant was poured off and the cells were resuspended in Krebs-Henseleit Ca<sup>+2</sup> 2.5% BSA medium (diluted 1:18). 3 ml of the resulting cell suspension and 3 ml of the 2.5% BSA Krebs-Henseleit medium were poured into separate tared petri dishes and were dried at 50<sup>0</sup> C for 24 hrs to measure dry weight. Cell viability was measured by 0.2% Trypan Blue exclusion with at least 95% of the cells being viable in all cases.

#### **2.9 Transsulfuration Flux**

Hepatocytes were isolated from ZDF fa/fa and ZDF +/? rats as described above. The transsulfuration pathway provides an outlet for methionine to leave the methionine metabolic cycle and get converted to cysteine and consists of the cystathionine  $\beta$ -synthase reaction, which converts Hcy to cystathionine and  $\alpha$ ketobutyrate, and cystathionine  $\gamma$ -lyase, which converts cystathionine to cysteine. 1-<sup>14</sup>C methionine gives rise to 1-<sup>14</sup>C  $\alpha$ -ketobutyrate, which is metabolized via pyruvate dehydrogenase to produce <sup>14</sup>CO<sub>2</sub>. 1-<sup>14</sup>C  $\alpha$ -ketobutyrate that does not get metabolized through this pathway will be decarboxylated to give <sup>14</sup>CO<sub>2</sub> in the presence of hydrogen peroxide. The total transsulfuration flux was determined as the sum of the <sup>14</sup>C present in  $\alpha$ -ketobutyrate and in <sup>14</sup>CO<sub>2</sub>, as described by Stead *et al.* (2000). 1 ml of hepatocytes and an appropriate volume of Krebs-Henseleit medium were preincubated for 20 min with no betaine or 0.1, 0.3 or 1 mM betaine. The zero time flasks had 0.6 ml of 30% HCLO<sub>4</sub> added to them at the beginning of the assay. 20  $\mu$ l of 100 mM or 10 mM 1-<sup>14</sup>C methionine were added to the flasks (final volume 2 ml) and incubated for 30 min. At the end of 30 min the flasks were covered with a plastic septum, equipped with a centre-well containing 0.6 ml of NCS-II tissue solubilizer (Amersham International, Oakville, ON, Canada). 0.6 ml of 30% HCLO<sub>4</sub> (w/v) was added via a syringe through the center-well to stop the incubation, after which <sup>14</sup>CO<sub>2</sub> was collected for 1 hr. At the end of the hour, centre-wells were added to scintillation vials containing 10 ml of scintillation fluid (Toluene Omnifluor) and radioactivity was measured. A second rubber septum, equipped with a centre-well was fitted to the flasks and 0.3 ml of 30% H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> (w/v) was added through the septum by means of a syringe. <sup>14</sup>CO<sub>2</sub> was collected again for an hour and the radioactivity in the second centre well measured.

## 2.10 Hcy export from isolated hepatocytes

In a separate series of experiments, hepatocytes were incubated with 0.1 mM methionine  $\pm$  0.3 mM betaine to measure the rate of Hcy export from isolated hepatocytes. After a 20 min pre-incubation of hepatocytes with betaine and Krebs-Henseleit medium, methionine was added and the flasks were incubated for 30 min at 37°C. At the end of 30 min the contents of the flasks were quickly transferred to Eppendorf tubes and were centrifuged at 14000 g (Brinkman Instruments, Rexdale, ON, Canada) for 2 min to sediment the cells. An aliquot of the supernatant was

collected and stored at -20  $^{0}$  C for the analysis of exported Hcy. Hcy was analyzed as described for plasma.

#### 2.11 Amino acid analysis:

0.3 ml of plasma was deproteinized using 0.1 ml of ice-cold 10% (w/v) sulfosalicylic acid and the precipitated proteins were removed by centrifugation. The pH of the supernatant was adjusted to 2.2 with lithium citrate buffer. For the analysis of liver and muscle amino acids, a piece of the previously frozen tissue was ground to a fine powder in liquid nitrogen. 4 ml of 6% (w/v) HClO<sub>4</sub> was added to 1 g of frozen powder and immediately homogenized with a motorized homogenizer. The samples were centrifuged at 18900 g for 20 minutes. To the resulting supernatant 50% (w/v) K<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> to a final concentration of 2.25% and 0.02 ml of universal indicator were added and the pH was brought to neutral with the drop-wise addition of 20% KOH. Aliquots of these neutralized samples were frozen at  $-20^{\circ}$  C and the pH was adjusted to 2.2 with concentrated HCl on the day of amino acid analysis. These samples along with the plasma samples were analyzed on a Beckman model 121-MB amino acid analyzer, using Benson D-X8, 0.25 cation Xchange resin and a single column 3 buffer lithium method as described in Beckman 121MB-TB-017 application notes. The quantification of the results was done using a Hewlett Packard Computing Integrator Model 3395 A.

## 2.12 Calculation of intracellular concentrations of amino acids:

The intracellular concentrations of amino acids (ICAA) in the liver were calculated using the following equation:

Hepatic content of AA (nmoles/g) = {[plasma AA] nmoles/ml x ECF (ml/g liver)} + {[ICAA] nmoles/ml x ICF (ml/g liver)}

The extracellular fluid volume (ECF) in the liver was taken as 0.25 ml/g while the intra- cellular fluid volume (ICF) was taken to be 0.45 ml/g liver, in accordance with previous studies from our laboratory (Qian and Brosnan 1998). The same equation was used to calculate the ICAA concentrations in skeletal muscle. The ECF volume was taken as 0.09 ml/g while the ICF volume was taken as 0.68 ml/g of skeletal muscle (Hundal *et al.* 1992).

#### 2.13 Isolated blood vessel assays

#### 2.13.1 Conditions for isometric tension measurements

Rats were sacrificed by cervical dislocation. In preliminary studies, both aorta and mesenteric arteries were isolated and used in vascular function assays. Arteries were obtained from control-treated and RSG-treated rats on the same day (2 rats/day). Thoracic aorta and the intestines containing the mesenteric arterial arcade each were isolated quickly and then placed in ice-cold Krebs solution (pH 7.4) consisting of 114 mM NaCl, 4.7 mM KCl, 0.8 mM KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>, 1.2 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 2.5 mM CaCl<sub>2</sub>, 11 mM D-glucose and 25 mM NaHCO<sub>3</sub> which was bubbled with 95% O<sub>2</sub> /5% CO<sub>2</sub> gas. With the aid of a light dissection microscope, surrounding fatty and loose connective tissues were cleaned from the aorta and second order mesenteric arteries. Two rings each  $\sim 2mm$  in length were cut from the lengths of the cleaned blood vessels. Mesenteric arterial rings were suspended between a micropositioner and a force transducer using a pair of tungsten wires (40 µm diameter) whereas aortic rings were suspended between two metal hooks (200 µm diameter) in a Mulvany- Halpern-style (Mulvaney, 1988) organ bath chamber (10 ml volume; 610 Multi- Myograph system; J.P. trading, Copenhagen, Denmark) containing 95% O<sub>2</sub>-5% CO<sub>2</sub> gas-bubbled Krebs solution at  $37^{0}$  C. Aortic rings set at a resting tension of 20 mN and mesenteric arteries set at 1.5 mN were equilibrated for 1 h prior to obtaining data from the vascular function protocol. Drugs and compounds were added directly to the myograph chambers and changes to isometric tension were recorded on-line via a serial connection from the 610 myograph to a computer hard drive at a rate of 1 Hz. Software for data acquisition and analysis (Myodag 2.01/Myodata 2.02) were designed by J.P. Trading for use with the 610 Multi-Myograph system.

## **2.13.2 Vascular function protocol**

To assess viability and obtain an internal standard of contractile activity (isometric tension in mN) for individual blood vessels, arteries were first contracted with high concentration of KCl (120 mM). Following a washout period, cumulative concentration-contractile response relationships were obtained using the  $\alpha$ -adrenoreceptor agonist cirazoline (10 nM- 10  $\mu$ M). Such relationships were used to

determine the concentrations of cirazoline to be used to produce contractions at submaximum values (~ 50-70% of  $E_{max}$ ). To assess vascular smooth muscle relaxation activity, cumulative concentration-relaxation response relationships for acetylcholine (ACh; 10 nM – 10  $\mu$ M), sodium nitroprusside (SNP; 10 nM-10  $\mu$ M), bradykinin (10 nM-3 $\mu$ M), 2-furoyl-LIGRLO-amide (2fly; 10 nM-3 $\mu$ M), and arachidonic acid (AA; 10 nM-30 $\mu$ M) were obtained in each artery contracted submaximally with cirazoline (30-100 nM) in series. After each treatment in this series, the artery was washed with fresh Krebs solution until the recorded tensions returned to initial resting tension values followed by an additional 5 min in fresh Krebs solution before starting the next treatment.

### **2.13.3** Relaxation inhibitor studies

In 6 week old rats, the ACh-induced relaxation responses of contracted arteries were also tested after treatment for 15 min with NO synthases inhibitor L-NAME (300  $\mu$ M). In 12 and 18 week old rats, this L-NAME treatment was combined with various inhibitors including indomethacin (cylcooxygenases), apamin (small conductance Ca<sup>2+</sup>-activated K<sup>+</sup> channels; SK<sub>Ca</sub>) and TRAM-34 (intermediate conductance Ca<sup>2+</sup>-activated K<sup>+</sup> channel; IK<sub>Ca</sub>). Following these treatments, the cumulative concentration-relaxation response to ACh was determined.

#### 2.13.4 Data analyses

Values are represented by the mean  $\pm$  standard error of the mean (error bars) unless otherwise indicated. N = number of rats (2 arteries per rat). Maximal

effect ( $E_{max}$ ) of cirazoline is expressed as % of the contraction by 120 mM KCl.  $E_{max}$  for each vasodilator is expressed as % relaxation; 100% relaxation = complete reversal of cirazoline-induced contracted tone. For each compound, EC<sub>50</sub> values were determined from the concentration-response relationship in individual arteries by intrapolation from the graph data. Potency is expressed by the negative logarithm of the EC<sub>50</sub> values for each compound. The data were analyzed separately within each age category. Student's unpaired t test was used to compare artery response of rat strains at 6 weeks of age. 2-way ANOVA were used to determine the effects of strain, treatment and interactions at 12 and 18 weeks of age and were followed by 1-way ANOVA with Newman-Keuls post hoc test for multiple comparisons of groups within each age category. A P of < 0.05 was taken to be a significant difference.

#### 2.14 Phospholipid metabolism

These experiments were conducted using freeze clamped hepatic tissue by Dr. René Jacobs (University of Alberta).

#### 2.14.1 Cytosol and membrane preparation

Livers were homogenized in 2 ml of buffer (50 mM Tris-HCL, pH 7.5, 150 mM NaCl, 1mM DTT and 0.1 mM phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride) with a minipolytron. Homogenization was followed by sonication for 30 sec. Samples were centrifuged at 99 K for 15 min and the supernatant (cytosol) was removed and the pellet (membranes) were resuspended in homogenization buffer.

## 2.14.2 CTP:phosphocholine cytidyltransferase

CT activity was measured according to a method described previously (Choy *et al*, 1977). Separated fractions (homogenate, cytosol and microsome) were incubated with 1 mM [<sup>3</sup>H] phosphocholine (20  $\mu$ Ci/ $\mu$ mol), 1 mM CTP, 12 mM magnesium acetate, and 20 mM tris/succinate at 37 <sup>0</sup> C for 15 min at a final volume of 0.1 ml (pH 6.4). The reactions were stopped by immersing the tubes in boiling H<sub>2</sub>O for 2 min. 20  $\mu$ l of CDP-choline (50mg/ml) was added to the tubes as a carrier. CDP-choline produced was separated by thin layer chromatography with a solvent system of CH<sub>3</sub>OH:0.6% NaCl:NH<sub>4</sub>OH (50:50:5, v/v/v) for 30 min. The plates were sprayed with 0.1% 2,7-dichlorofluroesien and the CDP-choline band was visualized under ultraviolet light and scraped into vials. The radioactivity was determined using a liquid scintillation counter.

## 2.14.3 Choline kinase

Choline kinase activity was measured with minor modifications to a previously described method (Ishidate and Nakazawa, 1992). Cytosols were incubated in a final volume of 100  $\mu$ l reaction buffer containing 0.1 M Tris-HCl (pH 8.75), 2  $\mu$ M ATP, 15 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, and 0.25 mM [<sup>3</sup>H] choline chloride (10.5  $\mu$ Ci/ml) at 37<sup>o</sup>C for 20 min. The phosphocholine produced was separated using a column filled with Bio-Rad AG1-X8 (200-400 mesh, OH- form) resin.

## 2.14.4 Phosphatidylethanolamine N-methyltransferase

PEMT activity was measure using the method described by Ridgway and Vance (1992). Homogenates were incubated in a final volume of 100  $\mu$ l reaction mixture containing 125 mM Tris-HCl (pH 9.2), 5 mM DTT, 1 mM Triton X-100, and 0.4 mM PDME. The assay was initiated by the addition of [methyl-<sup>3</sup>H] SAM (21mCi/mmol) to a final concentration of 200  $\mu$ M, and the tubes were transferred to a 37°C shaking water bath and incubated for 30 min. The assay was terminated by the addition of 2 ml of choloroform-methanol (2:1 v/v). The samples were vortexed, centrifuged (2000 rpm, 10 min) and the upper (aqueous) phase discarded. The lower phase was washed 3x 2 ml with 0.5%NaCl:methanol:CHCl<sub>3</sub> (50:50:4). 200  $\mu$ l of lower phase was aliquoted into scintillation vials, dried down, and the radioactivity was counted.

## 2.14.5 Phosphatidylethanolamine and phosphatidylcholine mass in liver and plasma

0.01 mg of PE was added to 0.5 mg of liver homogenate or 100  $\mu$ l of plasma as an internal standard. Samples were extracted as described by Folch *et al* (1957). Phospholipids were separated and quantified using an HPLC system equipped with a 4.8 x 100 mm silica column coupled to an evaporative light scattering detector. A mobile phase consisting of isopropyl alcohol/*n*-hexane/water run as a ternary gradient (58:40:8, v/v/v) in 10 min was followed by a stationary phase (52:40:8, v/v/v) for 35 min (Bergo *et al*, 2002)

## 2.15 Triacylglycerol

Plasma and liver TG were measured by Adam Byrne.

## **2.15.1 Extraction of lipid from liver**

50 mg of liver was homogenized in 2 ml of CHCl<sub>3</sub>/methanol 2:1 using a Teflon homogenizer at  $4^{\circ}$ C. The homogenate was transferred to a glass tube and was mixed with 400 µl of 50 mM NaCl and was kept at  $4^{\circ}$ C overnight to separate. The lower lipid-containing layer was transferred to a glass vial and was evaporated under nitrogen.

#### 2.15.2 Plasma and hepatic Triacylglycerol

Lipids were extracted from the liver as stated above. 100  $\mu$ l of isopropanol was added to the extract and TG was quantified using a triglyceride assay kit # 2150L101 from Stanbio laboratories, TX, USA. Plasma TG was measured using the same kit.

## **2.16** Glomerular filtration rate

•

Glomerular filtration rate (GFR) was measured by measuring the excretion and plasma level of creatinine. Therefore,

GFR = Urinary concentration of creatinine (µmole/liter) x Urine flow (ml/min)

Arterial plasma concentration of creatinine (µmoles/liter)

# Chapter 3

Homocysteine metabolism in ZDF (Type 2) diabetic rats

•

#### 3.1 Background

Patients with coronary, cerebrovascular or peripheral arterial disease have mean plasma tHcy levels significantly higher than control subjects (Kang *et al*, 1992). Over the last decade, these findings led to the identification of HHcy as an independent risk factor for vascular disease (Kang *et al*, 1992). In addition, HHcy has also been identified as a risk factor for Alzheimer's disease (Seshadri *et al*, 2002) and osteoporotic fractures (van Meurs *et al*, 2004).

Hcy is formed after the donation of a methyl group from S-adenosylmethionine. It can then be metabolized by one of three enzymes. Methionine synthase and betaine:homocysteine methyltransferase (BHMT) catalyze the remethylation of Hcy to methionine, and cystathionine  $\beta$ -synthase (CBS) forms part of the transsulfuration pathway where Hcy condenses with serine to form cystathionine. Figure 1.2 shows the pathway of methionine metabolism.

Diabetes mellitus, whether Type 1 or Type 2, is associated with an increased risk of cardiovascular mortality, with the prevalence of atherosclerosis being 2-to 6-fold higher in diabetic patients than in people without diabetes (Brand *et al*, 1989). Insulin resistance, which precedes the development of Type 2 diabetes, is also associated with an increased risk of coronary artery disease (Rosolova *et al*, 2002). HHcy has been shown to be a stronger risk factor for cardiovascular disease and for mortality in patients with Type 2 diabetes mellitus than in subjects without diabetes (Hoogeveen *et al*, 1998).

Plasma tHcy in diabetic patients is known to be dependent on the presence or absence of nephropathy. Both Type 1 and Type 2 diabetic patients with nephropathy have elevated levels of tHcy (Hoogeveen *et al*, 1998, Hultberg *et al*, 1991). However, Type 1 diabetic patients with no renal complications have plasma tHcy levels lower than controls (Robillon *et al*, 1994). This decrease was also shown in an animal model of Type 1 diabetes (Jacobs *et al*, 1998).

We, therefore, examined the effect of insulin resistance and Type 2 diabetes on plasma tHcy and its metabolism in the liver. We used the leptin-receptor defective Zucker Diabetic Fatty rat (ZDF), an excellent model for Type 2 diabetes (Peterson *et al*, 1990). Before developing frank diabetes, they go through a phase of insulin resistance, thereby giving us an opportunity to study the effects of both insulin resistance and of Type 2 diabetes.

#### 3.2 Statistical Analysis:

Data are presented as means  $\pm$  SD. Means were compared using Student's unpaired t test, or one way analysis of variance as appropriate. P <0.05 was taken to indicate a significant difference. Significant differences across the age groups are only reported for ZDF +/? rats as any age-related change in ZDF fa/fa rats will be confounded by the diabetes.

#### **3.3 Results**

Table 3.1 shows the body weight, hepato-somatic index, plasma insulin, creatinine and glucose concentrations. At 5 weeks, the concentrations of plasma glucose  $(12.1 \pm 1.7 \text{ mmole/liter vs. } 8.4 \pm 1.3 \text{ mmole/liter})$  and insulin  $(8.8 \pm 2.9 \text{ ng/ml vs. } 0.83 \pm 0.4 \text{ ng/ml})$ in the ZDF fa/fa and ZDF +/? rats, respectively, showed that the ZDF fa/fa rats had become insulin resistant. At 11 weeks, the concentrations of plasma glucose  $(30.3 \pm 1.6 \text{ mmole/liter vs. } 10.9 \pm 0.8 \text{ mmole/liter})$  and insulin  $(3.5 \pm 0.8 \text{ ng/ml vs. } 3.9 \pm 0.6 \text{ ng/ml})$  in the ZDF fa/fa and the ZDF +/? rats, respectively, showed that the ZDF fa/fa rats had become diabetic. Creatinine levels of ZDF fa/fa and control rats at 5 weeks were similar  $(32.4 \pm 3.8 \ \mu\text{mole/liter} \text{ vs. } 28.9 \pm 3.1 \ \mu\text{mole/liter})$ , but at 11 weeks were lower in the ZDF fa/fa rats  $(18.9 \pm 2.7 \ \mu\text{mole/liter} \text{ vs. } 29.7 \pm 6.1 \ \mu\text{mole/liter})$ 

#### 3.3.1 Plasma homocysteine and hepatic enzymes of homocysteine metabolism

At 5 weeks, plasma tHcy was about 25% lower in the ZDF fa/fa rats, while at 11 weeks it was reduced by about 60% (Figure 3.1). The plasma tHcy level in the ZDF +/? rats showed an increase with age. The reduced plasma tHcy at 5 weeks in the ZDF fa/fa rats, was accompanied by changes in several enzymes that metabolize methionine (Table 3.2). Of the enzymes responsible for producing Hcy, MAT and GNMT showed slight, but significant, increases. Of the enzymes responsible for removing Hcy, CBS, CGL and BHMT were increased respectively by about 54%, 18% and 36%. Methionine synthase showed a slight but significant decrease in the ZDF fa/fa rats. At 11 weeks, MAT, GNMT, CBS, CGL and BHMT all showed significant increases in activity.

In addition to the differences in enzyme activity between the control and the experimental animals at each age group, MAT, CBS and GNMT all showed significant increases in their activity with age in the ZDF +/? rats.

#### 3.3.2 mRNA levels

At 5 weeks the increased activity of CBS in the ZDF fa/fa rats was accompanied by a comparable increase in CBS mRNA level (Fig 3.2 A). The increased BHMT activity **Table 3.1.** Body weight, plasma insulin, glucose and creatinine levels and the hepatosomatic index of ZDF +/? and ZDF fa/fa rats at 5 and 11 weeks.

	5 weeks		11 weeks	
	ZDF +/?	ZDF fa/fa	ZDF +/?	ZDF fa/fa
	124 - 5	170 1 74	206 + 11	240 10*
Body Weight (g)	$134 \pm 5$ 0.83 ± 0.4	$1/8 \pm /^{*}$ 88 ± 2.0*	$306 \pm 11$ $30 \pm 0.6$	$348 \pm 10^{*}$
Creatinine (µM)	$0.03 \pm 0.4$ $28.9 \pm 3.1$	$32.4 \pm 3.8$	$3.9 \pm 0.0$ 29.7 ± 6.1	$18.9 \pm 2.7*$
Glucose (mM)	$8.4 \pm 1.3$	$12.1 \pm 1.7*$	$11.0\pm0.8$	$30.3 \pm 1.6*$
Hepato-Somatic Index <sup>a</sup>	$4 \pm 0.1$	$4.5 \pm 0.2^{*}$	$3.8 \pm 0.2$	5. $1 \pm 0.2^*$

Data are given as means  $\pm$  SD and were analyzed using Student's unpaired t test. \* indicates P<0.05 when compared with lean controls (ZDF +/?) in each age group. n=6 for each group. <sup>a</sup> Liver (g) x 100/ body weight (g).

## Figure 3.1. Plasma Homocysteine

Values are expressed as  $\mu$ mole/liter. Differences within each age group were compared using Student's unpaired t test. One way ANOVA followed by Newman-Keuls post-hoc test was used to compare the differences between the ages. Means ± SD for 6 rats are shown. At each age group differing letters indicate significant difference from each other. ¶ indicates significant difference in ZDF +/? rats at 11 weeks compared to 5 weeks. (P< 0.05)



.

÷

	5 weeks		11 weeks	
	ZDF +/?	ZDF fa/fa	ZDF +/?	ZDF fa/fa
Methionine adenosyltransferase	$124 \pm 4$	$131 \pm 6^*$	$323 \pm 20^{1}$	$380 \pm 11^*$
Glycine-N-methyltransferase	$130 \pm 14$	$160 \pm 4^*$	$168 \pm 20$ <sup>¶</sup>	$220\pm20^{*}$
Cystathionine $\beta$ -synthase	$1000\pm90$	$1540 \pm 220^{*}$	$1670 \pm 270$ ¶	$2200\pm370^{*}$
Cystathionine γ-lyase	$4120\pm500$	$4870\pm520^{*}$	$4380\pm210$	$7550\pm890^{*}$
Methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase	$23 \pm 2$	$24 \pm 2$	$22 \pm 4$	$22 \pm 4$
Methionine synthase	$8 \pm 1$	$6\pm0.4^*$	8 ± 1	$8\pm1$
Betaine:homocysteine methyltransferase	$100\pm8$	$157 \pm 14^{*}$	$92 \pm 17$	$150 \pm 18^{*}$
Choline dehydrogenase	$666 \pm 131$	700 ±145	$527\pm97$	$608 \pm 108$

Table 3.2. Hepatic activities of enzymes of homocysteine metabolism

Data are given as means  $\pm$  SD for six rats. Differences within each age group were compared using Student's unpaired t test. One way ANOVA followed by Newman-Keuls post-hoc test was used to compare the differences between the ages. In each group enzyme activities are expressed as *nmoles of product synthesized per minute per gram liver*. \* signify significant differences within each age group. ¶ indicates significant difference in enzyme activity in ZDF +/? rats at 11 weeks compared to 5 weeks. (P < 0.05) observed in the ZDF fa/fa rats at 5 and 11 weeks, were also accompanied by comparable increases in mRNA levels (Fig 3.2 B).

## 3.3.3 S-adenosylmethionine, S-adenosylhomocysteine and SAM/SAH ratio

The hepatic levels of SAM and SAH and the SAM/SAH ratio are shown in Table 3.3. At both 5 and 11 weeks SAM was significantly increased in the ZDF fa/fa rats. The SAM/SAH ratio was significantly higher in the ZDF fa/fa rats at 5 weeks. Both SAM and the SAM/SAH ratio showed increases with age in ZDF +/? rats, consistent with the age-related increase in MAT activity.

## **3.3.4** Transsulfuration Flux

In a preliminary study, we investigated the effect of betaine on the transsulfuration flux, as measured by the conversion of L-[1-<sup>14</sup>C] methionine to <sup>14</sup>CO<sub>2</sub> and <sup>14</sup>C- $\alpha$ -ketobutyrate, by isolated hepatocytes from Sprague Dawley rats. All concentrations of betaine used (0.1, 0.3 or 1 mM) significantly reduced the catabolism of methionine, compared to incubations of hepatocytes with methionine alone (Figure 3.3). We then conducted studies with hepatocytes from ZDF rats, using 0.1mM L-[1-<sup>14</sup>C] methionine and 0.3 mM betaine. Incubation with 0.3 mM betaine significantly decreased the transsulfuration flux in hepatocytes of ZDF fa/fa rats at both ages, but the reduction seen in the hepatocytes of ZDF +/? rats was significant only at 11 weeks of age (Table 3.4).
# Figure 3.2. mRNA abundance

RT-PCR analysis of hepatic CBS mRNA (A) and BHMT mRNA (B). The relative amounts of each mRNA, measured by spot densitometry, are graphically represented. Both CBS and BHMT mRNA were normalized to  $\beta$ -actin mRNA. Values are Means  $\pm$ SD for six rats. Differing letters at each age group indicate significant difference from each other. *P*<0.05



BHMT

**B** actin

ZDF +/?

ZDF fa/fa Integrated density value ZDF fa/fa D fa/fa

ZDF fa/fa





.

#### Table 3.3 Hepatic SAM, SAH and SAM/SAH ratio.

	5 v	5 weeks		weeks
	ZDF +/?	ZDF fa/fa	ZDF +/?	ZDF fa/fa
SAM	88 ± 8.4	$142.1 \pm 11.3^*$	$172.9 \pm 0.0^{ m \$}$	$199.9 \pm 15.5^*$
SAH	$12.3 \pm 1.2$	$11.6 \pm 1.3$	$11.9 \pm 2.3$	$11.7 \pm 2.2$
SAM:SAH	$7.2 \pm 0.7$	$12.3 \pm 2.0^{*}$	$15.1 \pm 4.7^{ m \$}$	$17.5 \pm 3.5$

Values for SAM and SAH are expressed as nmoles/g liver. Means  $\pm$  SD for six rats in each group are shown. Differences within each age group were compared using Student's unpaired t test. One way ANOVA followed by Newman-Keuls post-hoc test was used to compare the differences between the ages. At each age group, \* indicates significant difference in ZDF +/? rats at 11 weeks compared to 5 weeks. (P < 0.05)

# Figure 3.3. Effect of betaine on transsulfuration flux from isolated hepatocytes.

Hepatocytes were incubated with 0.1 mM L  $[1-^{14} C]$  methionine alone or with 0.1, 0.3 and 1 mM betaine. \* indicates a significant difference from the result with no betaine. Means  $\pm$  SD for 3 rats are shown (P < 0.05).



Transsulfuration flux in isolated hepatocytes.

	Transsulfuration Flux (nmoles/mg of dry weight/30 min)					
	5 w	eeks	11 weeks			
	ZDF +/?	ZDF fa/fa	ZDF +/?	ZDF fa/fa		
L- [1- <sup>14</sup> C] Methionine	$1.00 \pm 0.25$	$1.08 \pm 0.05$	$1.18 \pm 0.21$	$1.08 \pm 0.15$		
L- [1- <sup>14</sup> C] Methionine + Betaine	$0.91 \pm 0.32$	$0.87 \pm 0.12^{*}$	$0.96 \pm 0.15^{*}$	$0.86 \pm 0.13^{*}$		

Hepatocytes were incubated with 0.1 mM L-  $[1^{-14}C]$  methionine  $\pm$  0.3 mM betaine to determine the transsulfuration flux. Data are means  $\pm$  SD. n = 3 for 5 weeks and n = 5 for 11 weeks. \* indicates a significant difference from the corresponding incubations without betaine (*P*<0.05).

### 3.3.5 Hcy Export

Hepatocytes from ZDF fa/fa and ZDF +/? rats, at both ages, showed a significant reduction in Hcy export when incubated with 0.3 mM betaine (Table 3.5). However, at both ages the decrease observed in the ZDF fa/fa rats was about 2-fold greater than that of the ZDF +/? rats.

#### 3.3.6 Choline and related metabolites

Table 3.6 shows the liver concentrations of choline and related metabolites. The liver betaine concentration was lower in the ZDF fa/fa rats at both 5 and 11 weeks while there was no difference in the choline concentration. One of the most remarkable findings was the high level of betaine found in the liver of the young animals and the reduction that occurs with age. Hepatic glycerophosphorylcholine (GPC) was significantly higher in the ZDF fa/fa rats at 5 weeks though at 11 weeks it was significantly lower. Phosphorylcholine (PCho) was significantly higher in the ZDF fa/fa rats at 5 weeks though at 11 weeks it was significantly lower. Phosphorylcholine (PCho) was significantly higher in the ZDF fa/fa rats at both ages. Both GPC and PCho levels increased with age in the ZDF +/? rats. Phosphatidylcholine was significantly decreased in ZDF fa/fa rats at 11 weeks while sphingomyelin was significantly reduced at both 5 and 11 weeks.

Table 3.7 shows choline and related metabolite concentrations in the plasma. The only significant difference in plasma metabolites between the different rats was an increased phosphatidylcholine level in the ZDF fa/fa rats at 11 weeks. However, the plasma betaine concentration showed a decrease with age in ZDF +/? rats.

Homocysteine export from isolated hepatocytes.

	Homocysteine export (nmoles/mg dry weight/30 min)					
	5 we	eeks	11 weeks			
	ZDF +/?	ZDF fa/fa	ZDF +/?	ZDF fa/fa		
Methionine	$1.17 \pm 0.23$	$1.21 \pm 0.25$	$1.64 \pm 0.61$	$2.03\pm0.92$		
Methionine + Betaine	0.86 ± 0.12*	$0.52 \pm 0.08*$	0.89 ± 0.45*	0.32 ± 0.26*		

Hey export was measured in hepatocytes incubated with 0.1 mM methionine  $\pm$  0.3 mM betaine. Data are means  $\pm$  SD. n = 3 for 5 weeks and n = 5 for 11 weeks. \* indicates a significant difference from corresponding incubations without betaine (*P*<0.05).

Choline and related metabolite concentrations in the liver of ZDF +/? and ZDF fa/fa rats aged 5 and 11 weeks.

Metabolite	5 weeks		11 weeks	
· -	ZDF +/?	ZDF fa/fa	ZDF +/?	ZDf fa/fa
Betaine	$17.6 \pm 3.6$	$9.9 \pm 1.4^{*}$	$5.3 \pm 0.7^{\$}$	$2.5 \pm 0.7^{*}$
Choline	$0.06 \pm 0.03$	$0.04 \pm 0.01$	$0.04 \pm 0.01$	$0.03 \pm 0.01$
Glycerophosphorylcholine	$0.6 \pm 0.04$	$1.0 \pm 0.2^{*}$	$1.5 \pm 0.1^{\P}$	$1.0 \pm 0.1^{*}$
Phosphorylcholine	$1.2\pm0.27$	$2.1 \pm 0.3^{*}$	$1.9\pm0.3^{ extsf{1}}$	$2.9 \pm 0.9^{*}$
Phosphatidylcholine	$28.1 \pm 2.8$	$29.2 \pm 1.4$	$25.3 \pm 5.2$	$19.3 \pm 2.0^{*}$
Sphingomyelin	$3.3 \pm 0.3$	$2.9\pm0.2^{*}$	$3.4 \pm 0.4$	$2.8\pm0.3^*$

The data are expressed as means  $\pm$  SD (µmol/g) for six rats. Differences within each age group were compared using Student's unpaired t test. One way ANOVA followed by Newman-Keuls post-hoc test was used to compare the differences between the ages. At each age group, \* indicates significant difference from the ZDF +/? rats. ¶ indicates significant difference in ZDF +/? rats at 11 weeks compared to 5 weeks. (P < 0.05)

Choline and related metabolite concentrations in the plasma of ZDF +/? rats and ZDF fa/fa rats at 5 and 11 weeks of age.

Metabolite	5 we	5 weeks		eeks
	ZDF +/?	ZDF fa/fa	ZDF +/?	ZDf fa/fa
Betaine	$0.17 \pm 0.04$	$0.17\pm0.02$	$0.12 \pm 0.03^{ m \P}$	$0.09 \pm 0.03$
Choline	$0.08\pm0.02$	$0.08\pm0.03$	$0.07 \pm 0.01$	$0.08\pm0.02$
Phosphatidylcholine	$0.86 \pm 0.27$	$0.95 \pm 0.23$	$0.80 \pm 0.29$	$1.69 \pm 0.48^{*}$

Data are expressed as means  $\pm$  SD (µmol/ml) for six rats. Differences within each age group were compared using Student's unpaired t test. One way ANOVA followed by Newman-Keuls post-hoc test was used to compare the differences between the ages. At each age group, \* indicates significant difference from the ZDF +/? rats. ¶ indicates significant difference in ZDF +/? rats at 11 weeks compared to 5 weeks. (P < 0.05).

#### **3.4 Discussion**

This study describes the altered metabolism of methionine and Hcy that occurs in insulin resistance and in early Type 2 diabetes. It is clear that the hormonal changes that are prevalent in these two disease states act at several sites in the pathway of methionine metabolism. Hyperphagia in the diabetic rats may also contribute to these metabolic changes. Indeed, we observed a 2-fold increase in food intake per 100g body weight at the diabetic stage. However, there was no difference at 5 weeks. The increased hepatic CBS and BHMT activity at 5 weeks cannot, therefore, be attributed to increased protein intake. In addition, we have shown a direct effect of insulin in repressing CBS expression in both human and rat cultured hepatocytes (Ratnam *et al*, 2002). Our finding of lowered plasma tHcy in the 5 week ZDF fa/fa rats shows that insulin-resistance alone can decrease plasma tHcy levels.

The most striking finding in the present study concerns the role of betaine and BHMT in determining plasma tHcy. Not only were BHMT activity and mRNA levels elevated but the hepatic betaine concentration was remarkably reduced in the diabetic rats. Furthermore, this increased BHMT was clearly effective in decreasing hepatic Hcy output. This is evident from the data showing that addition of betaine to hepatocytes from ZDF fa/fa rats virtually eliminated Hcy export from cells, compared to a lesser effect in hepatocytes from ZDF fa/fa rats virtually eliminated Hcy export from cells, compared to a lesser effect in hepatocytes from ZDF +/? rats (Table 3.4). Increased remethylation of Hcy by BHMT also reduced the Hcy available for flux through the transsulfuration pathway, which decreased in these cells (Table 3.3). Although the importance of the BHMT-catalyzed remethylation reaction in determining Hcy levels has not received as much attention as the folate-dependent remethylation pathway, it should be recalled that Schwahn *et al* 

(2003) found a highly significant negative correlation between plasma betaine and plasma tHcy concentrations in humans. Supplementation with betaine was shown to lower plasma tHcy in humans (Steenge *et al*, 2003) and in *mthfr* +/+, +/- and -/- mice (Schwahn *et al*, 2003). Because of the elevated BHMT activity, betaine may be particularly efficacious in reducing plasma tHcy in the later stages of Type 2 diabetes, when renal complications bring about HHcy.

Our data suggest that there is enhanced utilization of betaine in the ZDf fa/fa rat. The observed decrease in hepatic phosphatidylcholine concentration (Table 3.6) is consistent with enhanced utilization of choline to form betaine in the livers of these rats. Sphingomyelin, which is derived from phosphatidylcholine, is also reduced in fa/fa liver. The increase in phosphorylcholine concentrations may reflect increased activity of the pathway for phosphatidylcholine biosynthesis tissue that occurs when phosphatidylcholine concentrations fall. The significant increase in plasma phosphatidylcholine concentrations in ZDF fa/fa rats at 11 weeks (Table 3.6) probably reflects increased secretion of lipoproteins from liver.

Another remarkable feature of betaine metabolism is the extraordinarily high hepatic betaine concentration found in young rats. In the control animals (ZDF +/?) the hepatic betaine level was 17.6  $\mu$ mol/g at 5 weeks; this decreased to 5.3  $\mu$ mol/g at 11 weeks. Assuming that hepatic betaine is evenly distributed in intracellular water and that rat liver contains 0.45 ml of cell water per gram (Qian and Brosnan, 1996), we can calculate a betaine concentration, in the 5 week-old control animals, of 39 mM. This should be compared with total osmolarity of about 305-310 mOsM in mammalian tissues (except for the renal medulla).

Davies *et al* (1988) have reported a very large urinary excretion of betaine in normal neonates and in young rats after weaning. High betaine concentrations are found in mammalian kidneys, particularly in the renal medulla. Renal betaine has been characterized as a "compatible osmolyte" (together with other trimethylamines and polyols) where it can offset the high extracellular osmolarity that arises as a result of the urinary concentrating mechanisms. In addition, these osmolytes may protect these cells from adverse effects of urea, which is present at high concentrations (Beck *et al*, 1998).

Wettstein *et al* (2000) have shown that betaine plays a role in cell volume homeostasis in perfused livers of adult rats. Whether this is also the function of the high betaine concentrations in neonatal liver is a focus of our current work. We must also comment on the ratio of hepatocellular to plasma betaine. Plasma betaine was fairly constant, in the 90  $\mu$ M to 170  $\mu$ M range, in all of the rats (Table 3.6). The liver/plasma concentration ratios for betaine were about 230, 130, 100 and 60, respectively, for ZDF +/? and ZDF fa/fa rats at 5 weeks and at 11 weeks of age. How such gradients are produced and maintained are important issues for future work.

Diabetes is characterized not only by the lack of insulin or the resistance to the action of insulin, but also by increases in the counter-regulatory hormones, glucocorticoids and glucagon (Stubbs and York, 1991, Consoli *et al*, 1990). Hepatic MAT activity has been shown to be increased by glucocorticoid administration (Gil *et al*, 1997). Finkelstein *et al* (1971) examined the effects of administration of a number of hormones on BHMT activity. The principal findings were that hydrocortisone increased BHMT activity whereas thyroxin decreased it. This group also demonstrated increased activity in alloxan-diabetic rats. This latter finding has been confirmed by Nieman *et al* (2004) in

streptozotocin-diabetic rats. We are currently exploring the possibility that insulin may regulate BHMT expression. Insulin treatment of streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats was shown to restore the increased activity of CBS to normal levels (Jacobs *et al*, 1998), by acting at the level of CBS gene transcription to repress CBS promoter activity (Ratnam *et al*, 2002). Cyclic AMP, the intracellular messenger of glucagon, and glucocorticoids, increases CBS expression in rat hepatoma cells (Goss, 1986). The increased activity of CBS, brought about both by allosteric activation by the increased hepatic SAM levels (Finkelstein *et al*, 1975) and by increased expression, does not imply an increased transsulfuration flux. This flux is determined by the rate at which methionine enters into hepatic metabolism which will be largely determined by dietary methionine consumption. It seems that the major effect of increased CBS activity is to decrease the steady state Hcy concentration at which transsulfuration occurs (Reed *et al*, 2004). In this way it contributes to the decreased plasma tHcy concentration. Similarly, the increased activity of BHMT does not necessarily imply an increased remethylation flux in vivo but, rather, it decreases the steady state Hcy concentration at which remethylation via BHMT occurs.

It is also possible that alterations in renal function may contribute, somewhat, to the decreased plasma tHcy, at least when the rats are diabetic. The kidney is a major site for the removal and subsequent metabolism of Hcy (Bostom *et al*, 1995 A). Hyperfiltration is a characteristic sign of renal dysfunction in early diabetes (Thomson *et al*, 2004). Such hyperfiltration has been reported to occur in ZDF fa/fa rats from about 7 weeks of age and to continue until they are about 3 months old (Hoshi *et al*, 2002). Such an occurrence probably accounts for the decreased plasma creatinine seen at 11 weeks. The delivery of an increased quantity of Hcy to the kidney via filtration could result in

increased renal catabolism of Hcy and contribute to its reduced plasma concentration. However, this cannot contribute to the decreased Hcy at the insulin-resistant stage where creatinine levels were unchanged.

It is now clear that plasma tHcy levels decrease in both Type 1 and Type 2 diabetes when there is no renal damage. The present work showed that this is true even at the pre-diabetic, insulin-resistant stage. However, literature reports on the phenomenon show a variety of responses of Hcy to insulin resistance (Rosolova *et al*, 2002, Meigs *et al*, 2001, Abbasi *et al*, 1999). This variability is likely to result from different degrees of insulin resistance as well as other factors such as impaired renal function. Our results at 5 weeks were obtained in an animal model in which there was no evidence of impaired renal function as well as a consistent degree of insulin resistance, agree remarkably well with Rosolova's study of the relationship between Hcy and insulin resistance in healthy human subjects (Rosolova *et al*, 2002).

In summary, this study shows a decreased plasma tHcy level in both insulinresistant and Type 2 diabetic rats. We show increased activities of BHMT and CBS in these states, as well as increased mRNA levels for these enzymes. We also show increased hepatic SAM levels, which will activate CBS. We report experiments in hepatocytes that directly demonstrate the role of betaine metabolism in enhanced Hcy removal. These results emphasize the importance of BHMT in regulating Hcy metabolism.

# Chapter 4

Amino Acid Metabolism in the Zucker Diabetic Fatty Rat: Effects of Insulin

Resistance and of Type 2 Diabetes

### 4.1 Introduction

The pathophysiology of Type 2 diabetes involves defects in three organ systems (Saltiel 2000). Metabolic defects in liver, in peripheral target tissues such as adipose tissues and skeletal muscle and in pancreatic  $\beta$ -cells all play major roles in the development of this disease. Higher than normal levels of circulating insulin are common, indicating that insulin resistance, rather than an absolute lack of insulin, is a major feature. The hormonal changes in diabetes, whether due to a lack of insulin (Type 1) or a resistance to insulin action (Type 2), and the subsequent changes in the counterregulatory hormones not only lead to the well-characterized derangements in glucose and lipid metabolism but also to changes in protein metabolism. Withdrawal of insulin treatment in patients with Type 2 diabetes has been shown to be associated with increased plasma levels of branched-chain amino acids (BCAA), increased urinary N loss and increased whole body protein turnover (Halvatsiotis et al. 2002). Bloxam et al (1972) reported on plasma and liver amino acids in streptozotocin-diabetic rats. The concentrations of many plasma amino acids were reduced whereas there was an increase in the level of BCAA. They also found increased levels of BCAA and proline in the liver of these rats. These findings were confirmed in our laboratory. Brosnan et al (1980) and Brosnan et al (1983) also observed a reduction in gluconeogenic amino acids in the plasma and liver of streptozotocin-diabetic rats. They found a decreased concentration of histidine and increased levels of proline, valine, isoleucine and leucine in muscles. The brain had an increase in the BCAA with reduced concentrations of a number of other amino acids.

In contrast to the wealth of knowledge concerning the free amino acids in Type 1 diabetes, data on Type 2 diabetes are lacking. Several studies have shown increased urinary N loss and net whole body protein loss in Type 2 diabetic patients, even when hyperinsulinemic (Gougeon *et al.* 1994; 1997; 1998). Halvatsiotis *et al.* (2002) found no difference in plasma amino acid concentrations between Type 2 diabetic patients from whom insulin treatment was withdrawn transiently and patients who were given intensive insulin treatment for 11 days, except for a reduction in the glycine levels in the untreated patients.

The leptin receptor-defective Zucker diabetic fatty (ZDF fa/fa) rat is considered to be an excellent model for the study of Type 2 diabetes (Peterson *et al.* 1990; Unger 1997). In this model, diabetes develops, spontaneously, in all male rats and most females. The rats proceed from impaired glucose tolerance, through insulin resistance (normoglycemia, hyperinsulinemia) to frank Type 2 diabetes (Etgan and Oldham 2000) Diabetes in these rats is associated with the usual clinical symptoms of hyperphagia, polyuria, polydypsia, and impaired weight gain (Finegood *et al.* 2001). We, therefore, employed ZDF rats to explore amino acid metabolism both in the pre-diabetic insulin- resistant stage and in frank Type 2 diabetes.

#### 4.2 Results:

Table 3.1 provides data on body weight, plasma insulin, creatinine and glucose concentrations and the hepato-somatic index. At 5 weeks of age the ZDF fa/fa rats had a ten-fold elevation of plasma insulin compared to the ZDF +/? controls. Despite the hyperinsulinemia, plasma glucose levels were already significantly elevated in the ZDF

fa/fa rats, clearly demonstrating insulin resistance. By 11 weeks, plasma glucose was about 30 mM in the ZDF fa/fa rats while insulin levels had fallen and were no longer different from the controls. Therefore, at 5 weeks the ZDF fa/fa rats can be classified as insulin-resistant, but not diabetic. At 11 weeks, the similar insulin levels, together with the profound hyperglycemia indicate that they are frankly diabetic in addition to showing a resistance to the action of insulin.

Plasma creatinine levels were measured in the rats so as to determine whether there was any indication of renal insufficiency. Although there was no significant difference between the creatinine levels of ZDF fa/fa and control rats at 5 weeks, there was a reduction in the plasma creatinine level of the ZDF fa/fa rats at 11 weeks. Hoshi *et al* (2002) have reported that the GFR is significantly elevated at 3 months in ZDF fa/fa rats and this may provide an explanation for the reduced plasma creatinine levels in our animals. The hepato-somatic index was significantly higher in the ZDF fa/fa rats at both 5 and 11 weeks of age, indicating a relative increase in liver weight.

#### 4.2.1 Plasma amino acid concentration:

Plasma amino acid concentrations are shown in Table 4.1. The plasma amino acid concentrations in the control group (ZDF +/?) were similar to those reported by Brosnan et al (1983) in non-diabetic animals. At 5 weeks of age, aspartate, serine, glutamine, glycine and histidine (all gluconeogenic amino acids) were lower in the plasma of ZDF fa/fa rats. Taurine,  $\alpha$ -amino adipic acid, methionine, isoleucine, leucine, valine, phenylalanine, and tryptophan were significantly higher in the plasma. At 11 weeks of

	5 we	eks	11 w	eeks
Amino Acid	ZDF +/?	ZDF fa/fa	ZDF +/?	ZDF fa/fa
Taurine	66 ± 6	$133 \pm 10^*$	136±9	$147 \pm 21$
Aspartic Acid	$22 \pm 2$	$18 \pm 2^{*}$	$15 \pm 1$	$15 \pm 2$
Hydroxy proline	$55 \pm 10$	$48 \pm 5$	$44 \pm 2$	24 ± 3*
Threonine	$219 \pm 23$	$220 \pm 23$	$272 \pm 59$	$137 \pm 15*$
Serine	$187 \pm 19$	$135 \pm 9^*$	$180 \pm 9$	122 ± 9*
Asparagine	$33 \pm 5$	$31 \pm 4$	$40 \pm 4$	27 ± 2 *
Glutamic acid	$60 \pm 7$	64 ± 7	$97 \pm 7$	$134 \pm 22*$
Glutamine	$556 \pm 12$	$411 \pm 14^*$	$601 \pm 53$	$354 \pm 26*$
α- amino adipic acid	$16 \pm 1$	$22 \pm 3^*$	$18 \pm 1$	$24 \pm 3^*$
Proline	$174 \pm 34$	$211 \pm 26$	$190 \pm 20$	$166 \pm 8*$
Glycine	$289 \pm 20$	142 ± 18*	$240 \pm 15$	$109 \pm 11*$
Alanine	$374 \pm 37$	$396 \pm 44$	$425 \pm 44$	$449 \pm 61$
Citrulline	$61 \pm 6$	$58 \pm 4$	$60 \pm 7$	47 ± 4*
Valine	$105 \pm 11$	$190 \pm 29^*$	$162 \pm 15$	$263 \pm 34*$
Cystine	BLD	BLD	$4 \pm 0.2$	$4 \pm 0.3$
Methionine	$28 \pm 3$	$35 \pm 3*$	54 ± 3	$40 \pm 4^{*}$
Isoleucine	49 ± 5	$90 \pm 16^*$	$79 \pm 10$	$116 \pm 18*$
Leucine	$80 \pm 8$	$150 \pm 26*$	$134 \pm 16$	$202 \pm 42*$
Tyrosine	$70 \pm 11$	67 ± 7	$115 \pm 13$	75 ± 12*
Phenylalanine	$34 \pm 3$	53 ± 7*	59 ± 5	$65 \pm 10$
Tryptophan	$60 \pm 8$	75 ± 9*	$117 \pm 9$	$82 \pm 10^*$
Ornithine	$53 \pm 27$	$56 \pm 9$	$62 \pm 14$	$63 \pm 21$
Lysine	$270 \pm 24$	$276 \pm 20$	$341 \pm 20$	$250 \pm 22*$
Histidine	$53 \pm 3$	$46 \pm 4*$	$55 \pm 4$	41 ± 3*
Arginine	$97 \pm 24$	$116 \pm 21$	$136 \pm 13$	91 ± 13*
TOTAL	$3011 \pm 206$	$3040 \pm 218$	$3634 \pm 195$	$3047 \pm 196*$

 Table 4.1: Plasma amino acid concentrations (µmole/liter)

Values are means  $\pm$  SD. \* P< 0.05 when compared with lean controls (ZDF +/?) in each age group. BLD: Below the limits of

detection by our system. n=6 for each group

-

age, diabetic rats had a significantly lower plasma concentration of hydroxyproline, threonine, serine, aspartate, glutamine, proline, glycine, citrulline, methionine, tyrosine, tryptophan, lysine, histidine and arginine and significantly elevated concentrations of glutamic acid,  $\alpha$ -amino adipic acid and the 3 BCAAs.

#### 4.2.2 Hepatic amino acids:

The amino acid levels in the liver are shown in Table 4.2. At 5 weeks the livers of ZDF fa/fa rats showed lower levels of serine, asparagine, glutamic acid and glutamine with increased levels of taurine and proline. At 11 weeks diabetic rats showed lower levels of threonine, serine, glutamine, and glycine and increased levels of glutamic acid, valine and leucine.

Hepatic/plasma concentration ratios for amino acids are shown in Table 4.3. The ratios for aspartate and glycine were increased at 5 weeks of age in the ZDF fa/fa rats while the ratios for glutamic acid, isoleucine, leucine and phenylalanine were decreased. At 11 weeks proline, glycine, methionine and tyrosine showed an increased ratio in the diabetic rats while the rest of the amino acids showed no difference.

#### 4.2.3 Skeletal muscle amino acids:

The amino acid levels in the skeletal muscle are shown in Table 4.4. Levels of taurine, aspartate, proline, alanine, isoleucine and leucine were all higher in skeletal muscles while many of the gluconeogenic amino acids were significantly lower in the ZDF fa/fa rats, at 5 weeks of age. Concentrations of lysine, anserine and carnosine were also lower. At 11 weeks of age, tyrosine and lysine together with all the

••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••	5 w	eeks	11 w	eeks
Amino Acid				
	ZDF +/?	ZDF fa/fa	ZDF +/?	ZDF fa/fa
Taurine	$1243 \pm 231$	2146 ± 616*	$3422 \pm 1233$	2808 ± 849
Aspartic Acid	$1324 \pm 529$	$1596 \pm 464$	$2829 \pm 811$	$2225 \pm 347$
Threonine	$409 \pm 108$	$320\pm81$	$276 \pm 56$	$170 \pm 32*$
Serine	$760 \pm 194$	$433 \pm 86*$	$285 \pm 34$	$213 \pm 33*$
Asparagine	$70 \pm 17$	$46 \pm 13^*$	$67 \pm 28$	$50 \pm 12$
Glutamic acid	$1324 \pm 298$	$950 \pm 240*$	$1297\pm345$	2498 ± 556*
Glutamine	$3916 \pm 891$	$2651 \pm 381*$	$4932 \pm 1277$	3496 ± 738*
Proline	$270 \pm 61$	382 ± 85*	591 ±171	867 ± 269
Glycine	$1430 \pm 432$	$1366 \pm 272$	$1848 \pm 219$	$1539 \pm 240*$
Alanine	$1359 \pm 262$	$1522 \pm 387$	$2199 \pm 658$	$3001 \pm 1470$
Citrulline	$53 \pm 24$	$29 \pm 14$	$55 \pm 48$	$16 \pm 13$
Valine	$121 \pm 47$	$139 \pm 34$	$163 \pm 37$	$293 \pm 36*$
Cystine	$3 \pm 3$	1 ± 2	$59 \pm 13$	$73 \pm 25$
Methionine	$39 \pm 9$	$36 \pm 9$	$94 \pm 18$	$97 \pm 21$
Isoleucine	77 ± 19	$88 \pm 16$	$105 \pm 20$	$159 \pm 57$
Leucine	$115 \pm 38$	$143 \pm 24$	$168 \pm 31$	$249 \pm 44 *$
Tyrosine	$56 \pm 23$	$38 \pm 9$	$69 \pm 28$	$66 \pm 10$
Phenylalanine	$43 \pm 13$	$40 \pm 14$	$70 \pm 18$	$67 \pm 13$
Ornithine	$142 \pm 43$	$103 \pm 25$	$154 \pm 37$	$139 \pm 23$
Lysine	$378 \pm 106$	$393 \pm 68$	$525 \pm 168$	$495 \pm 143$
Histidine	$412 \pm 88$	$384 \pm 79$	$506 \pm 114$	$497 \pm 123$
Arginine	$30 \pm 19$	$23 \pm 9$	$80 \pm 25$	$53 \pm 22$
TOTAL	$13574 \pm 2989$	$12832 \pm 2391$	$19794 \pm 3814$	$19071 \pm 4013$

# Table 4.2: Hepatic amino acid levels (nmole/g)

Values are means  $\pm$  SD. \* P< 0.05 when compared with lean controls (ZDF +/?) in each age group. n=6 for each group.

-

Amino Acid	5 w	reeks	11 weeks	
	ZDF +/?	ZDF fa/fa	ZDF +/?	ZDF fa/fa
Taurine	42 ± 10	36 ± 11	57 ± 24	41 ± 9.4
Aspartic Acid	$130 \pm 51$	$197 \pm 46*$	$412 \pm 111$	$347 \pm 80$
Threonine	$3.7 \pm 1.3$	$2.6 \pm 0.6$	$1.8 \pm 0.7$	$2.2 \pm 0.4$
Serine	$8.5 \pm 2.4$	$6.6 \pm 1.2$	$3.0 \pm 0.5$	$3.3 \pm 0.4$
Asparagine	$4.4 \pm 1.8$	$2.7 \pm 0.8$	$3.2 \pm 1.6$	$3.5 \pm 0.8$
Glutamic acid	$50 \pm 14$	$32 \pm 5.0*$	$29 \pm 8.4$	$42 \pm 12$
Glutamine	$15 \pm 3.5$	$14 \pm 2.0$	$18 \pm 4.4$	$22 \pm 5.7$
Proline	$3.0 \pm 1.2$	$3.5 \pm 0.5$	$6.5 \pm 2.4$	$11 \pm 3.5^*$
Glycine	$10 \pm 3.3$	21 ± 3.2*	$17 \pm 2.7$	$31 \pm 7.1^*$
Alanine	$7.6 \pm 1.5$	$7.9 \pm 1.5$	$11 \pm 2.7$	$14 \pm 5.7$
Citrulline	$1.3 \pm 0.8$	$0.6 \pm 0.6$	$1.4 \pm 1.5$	$0.2 \pm 0.6$
Valine	$2.0 \pm 1.0$	$1.1 \pm 0.3$	$1.7 \pm 0.5$	$1.9 \pm 0.4$
Cystine	-	-	$30 \pm 6.1$	$40 \pm 13$
Methionine	$2.7 \pm 0.8$	$1.9 \pm 0.7$	$3.3 \pm 0.6$	$4.9 \pm 1.4*$
Isoleucine	$2.9 \pm 0.8$	$1.6 \pm 0.4*$	$2.4 \pm 0.5$	$2.5 \pm 1.1$
Leucine	$2.6 \pm 0.8$	$1.6 \pm 0.3*$	$2.2 \pm 0.5$	$2.2 \pm 0.6$
Tyrosine	$1.2 \pm 0.6$	$0.7 \pm 0.3$	$0.8 \pm 0.5$	$1.4 \pm 0.3^*$
Phenylalanine	$2.3 \pm 0.6$	$1.1 \pm 0.6*$	$2.1 \pm 0.7$	$1.8 \pm 0.6$
Ornithine	$6.2 \pm 3.0$	$3.8 \pm 1.4$	$5.2 \pm 1.8$	$4.6 \pm 1.1$
Lysine	$2.6 \pm 1.1$	$2.5\pm0.4$	$2.9 \pm 1.0$	$3.9 \pm 1.3$
Histidine	$16.6 \pm 3.5$	$18 \pm 2.5$	$20 \pm 5.0$	$26 \pm 6.7$
Arginine	$0.2 \pm 0.5$	$-0.1 \pm 0.2$	$0.8 \pm 0.4$	$0.8 \pm 0.8$

 Table 4.3: Intracellular/extracellular concentration ratios for hepatic amino acids

Values are means  $\pm$  SD. \* P< 0.05 when compared with lean controls (ZDF +/?) in each age group. – could not be calculated from available data. n=6 for each group.

-

gluconeogenic amino acids that were lower at 5 weeks showed reduced concentrations in skeletal muscles of diabetic rats while the level of alanine, valine and leucine were significantly elevated.

Intracellular/extracellular ratios for muscle amino acids are shown in Table 4.5. At 5 weeks of age, the ratios for taurine, threonine, serine, glutamine, citrulline, valine, ornithine, lysine, histidine and arginine were decreased in the ZDF fa/fa rats while those for aspartate and alanine were increased. At 11 weeks, glycine and alanine showed an increase in the ratio of intracellular/ extracellular concentration. The rest of the amino acid ratios did not show any significant difference.

#### 4.2.4 Branched-Chain Amino Acids:

Figure 1 shows the excellent correlation of the plasma level of the BCAAs to one another. The plasma concentrations of these three amino acids change in parallel. This is to be expected as they share a common transaminase (the branched-chain aminotransferase) followed by a common  $\alpha$ -keto acid dehydrogenase (the branched-chain  $\alpha$ -ketoacid dehydrogenase complex). These close relationships among the three BCAAs are similar to those previously found, in this laboratory, in streptozotocin-diabetic rats (Brosnan *et al*, 1983).

	5 we	eks	11 w	eeks
Amino Acid	ZDF +/?	ZDF fa/fa	ZDF +/?	ZDF fa/fa
Taurine	8987 ± 256	$14115 \pm 1015*$	$12557 \pm 732$	$13702 \pm 2227$
Aspartic Acid	$375 \pm 25$	$560 \pm 87*$	$615 \pm 175$	$752 \pm 258$
Hydroxy proline	$306 \pm 39$	$302 \pm 53$	$259 \pm 46$	$225 \pm 99$
Threonine	$743 \pm 60$	$590 \pm 46*$	$602 \pm 86$	374 ± 103*
Serine	$917 \pm 119$	$543 \pm 70^{*}$	$641 \pm 81$	466 ± 139*
Asparagine	$137 \pm 29$	$94 \pm 30^*$	$150 \pm 22$	99 ± 32*
Glutamic acid	$1637\pm56$	$1661 \pm 145$	$1438 \pm 188$	$1497 \pm 503$
Glutamine	$4546 \pm 125$	$3026 \pm 268*$	$3517\pm547$	2152 ± 612*
Proline	$421 \pm 50$	523 ± 42*	$388 \pm 76$	$475 \pm 151$
Glycine	$6073 \pm 375$	2798 ± 354*	4731 ± 797	3282 ± 926*
Alanine	$1460 \pm 112$	2036 ± 181*	$1509 \pm 239$	3351 ± 891*
Citrulline	$262 \pm 18$	204 ± 33*	$182 \pm 18$	$170 \pm 76$
Valine	$129 \pm 36$	$168 \pm 25$	$142 \pm 24$	$264 \pm 90*$
Cystine	BLD	BLD	$36 \pm 4$	$32 \pm 6$
Methionine	$14 \pm 10$	31±17	$85 \pm 16$	$66 \pm 22$
Isoleucine	$40 \pm 13$	72 ± 8.8*	$74 \pm 23$	$105 \pm 43$
Leucine	$57 \pm 11$	$103 \pm 18*$	$111 \pm 21$	167 ± 53*
Tyrosine	$112 \pm 15$	$103 \pm 21$	$170 \pm 46$	111 ± 36*
Phenylalanine	BLD	BLD	$70 \pm 17$	$72 \pm 28$
Ornithine	$122 \pm 15$	$108 \pm 12$	$83 \pm 11$	$76 \pm 18$
Lysine	$1850 \pm 74$	1201 ± 98*	$1501 \pm 269$	$935 \pm 257*$
Histidine	$256 \pm 25$	$160 \pm 16*$	$141 \pm 26$	$97 \pm 42$
Anserine	$1559 \pm 160$	$1247 \pm 114*$	5181 ± 599	5285 ± 1595
Carnosine	$3316 \pm 126$	$2970 \pm 122*$	$4425 \pm 598$	$4492 \pm 1146$
Arginine	706 ±76	$604 \pm 64*$	744 ± 137	$542 \pm 149*$
TOTAL	34473 ± 587	33579 ± 1958	39352 ± 4099	38791 ± 9135

 Table 4.4:
 Skeletal muscle amino acid levels (nmole/g)

Values are means  $\pm$  SD. \* P< 0.05 when compared with lean controls (ZDF +/?) in each age group. BLD: Below the limits of

detection by our system. n=6 in each group.

.

	5 we	5 weeks 11		1 weeks	
Amino Acid					
	ZDF +/?	ZDF fa/fa	ZDF +/?	ZDF fa/fa	
Taurine	$203 \pm 23$	157 ± 20*	137 ± 15	$140 \pm 36$	
Aspartic acid	$24 \pm 2$	46 ± 7*	$59 \pm 16$	$78 \pm 32$	
Hydroxy proline	8 ± 2	9 ± 2	$9 \pm 1$	$14 \pm 6.2$	
Threonine	$5 \pm 0.4$	$4 \pm 0.04^{*}$	$3 \pm 1$	$4 \pm 1$	
Serine	7 ± 1	$6 \pm 1^*$	$5 \pm 1$	6 ± 2	
Asparagine	$6 \pm 1$	$4\pm 2$	$5 \pm 1$	5 ± 2	
Glutamic acid	$41 \pm 6$	$38 \pm 4$	$21 \pm 4$	$16 \pm 5$	
Glutamine	$12 \pm 1$	$11 \pm 1*$	$9 \pm 2$	9 ± 2	
Proline	$4 \pm 0.4$	$4 \pm 0.4$	$3 \pm 1$	$4 \pm 1$	
Glycine	$31 \pm 3$	$29 \pm 3$	29 ± 5	$44 \pm 12^*$	
Alanine	$6 \pm 0.4$	8 ± 1*	$5 \pm 1$	$11 \pm 4*$	
Citrulline	$6 \pm 1$	$5 \pm 1*$	4 ± 1	$5\pm 2$	
Valine	$2 \pm 1$	$1 \pm 0.2^*$	$1 \pm 0.2$	$1 \pm 0.4$	
Cystine	-	-	$12 \pm 1$	$11 \pm 2$	
Methionine	$1 \pm 1$	1 ± 1	$2 \pm 1$	$2 \pm 1$	
Isoleucine	$1 \pm 1$	$1 \pm 0.1$	$1 \pm 1$	$1 \pm 1$	
Leucine	$1 \pm 0.2$	$1 \pm 0.1$	$1 \pm 0.3$	$1 \pm 0.3$	
Tyrosine	$2 \pm 0.1$	$2 \pm 0.2$	$2 \pm 1$	$2 \pm 1$	
Phenylalanine	-	-	$2 \pm 1$	$2 \pm 1$	
Ornithine	$4 \pm 1$	$3 \pm 1$	$2 \pm 1$	$2 \pm 1$	
Lysine	$10 \pm 1$	6 ± 1*	$6 \pm 1$	$5\pm 2$	
Histidine	$7 \pm 0.4$	$5 \pm 0.4*$	$3 \pm 2$	$3\pm 1$	
Arginine	$11 \pm 3$	8 ± 2*	8 ± 2	$9 \pm 3$	

 Table 4.5: Intracellular/extracellular concentration ratios for skeletal muscle amino acids

Values are means  $\pm$  SD. \* P< 0.05 when compared with lean controls (ZDF +/?) in each age group. - could not be calculated

from available data. n=6 for each group.

140

# Figure 4.1.

Concentration of Valine (A) and Isoleucine (B) in arterial blood as a function of leucine concentration and the concentration of Isoleucine (C) in arterial blood as a function of Valine concentration. For (A)  $r^2=0.9578$ , P<0.0001, (B)  $r^2=0.9705$ , P<0.0001, (C)  $r^2=0.9853$ , P<0.0001





#### 4.3 Discussion:

Both at 5 weeks and at 11 weeks, all three branched-chain amino acids (BCAA) were significantly elevated in the plasma of ZDF fa/fa rats. In skeletal muscle and in the liver, also, the BCAA were increased at both ages although the difference was not always statistically significant. The increase in BCAA in this model of Type 2 diabetes is consistent with the reports on Type 1 diabetes by Bloxam et al. (1972), Brosnan *et al.* (1980), and Brosnan *et al.* (1983) in streptozotocin-diabetic rats.

Isoleucine, leucine and valine are essential amino acids. A reversible transamination step, catalyzed by the branched-chain aminotransferase is the first step in the catabolism of all three BCAAs. Removal of the carboxyl group of the keto acid thus formed is also catalyzed by a common enzyme-complex, the branched-chain  $\alpha$ -ketoacid dehydrogenase complex (BCKDC). After these two common initial steps, the three BCAAs take different routes of catabolism, with isoleucine yielding acetyl CoA and succinyl CoA, valine yielding succinyl CoA and leucine yielding acetoacetyl CoA and acetyl CoA. Thus, despite the initial common steps in their catabolism, valine is glucogenic, leucine is ketogenic and isoleucine is both glucogenic and ketogenic. However, Figure 4.1 explicitly shows that the plasma concentrations of these three amino acids correlate with each other extremely well, providing strong evidence for the common metabolic regulation of the catabolism of these three amino acids.

The activity of the BCKDC has been shown to be regulated by nutritional and hormonal stimuli. Gibson *et al.* (1993) have reported a reduction in the activity of BCKDC, which was reversed by insulin treatment in streptozotocin-induced severe

ketotic diabetes in rats. However, there are also studies that have shown an increase in the activity state of BCKDC in the liver (Lombardo *et al.* 1998; Li *et al.* 2001) and in skeletal muscles (Lombardo *et al.* 1999) of rats with experimentally induced-diabetes.

The elevation of BCAA in Type 1 diabetes has been attributed to the increased proteolytic state of body tissues and hyperphagia in the diabetic animals (Rodriguez *et al.* 1997; Crandall and Fernstrom 1983). There is evidence for both of these factors in ZDF rats. Increased gluconeogenesis is likely to demand increased proteolysis. In addition ZDF rats are also known to be hyperphagic (Finegood *et al.* 2001).

One important consequence of the increase in BCAA could be a possible effect on brain uptake of large neutral amino acids. Brosnan *et al.* (1984) have shown that in Type 1 diabetes the decreased brain uptake and the decreased brain level of tyrosine is due to the high circulating levels of BCAA. The brain uptake of tyrosine is proportional to  $[Tyr] / \sum [LNAA]$ , where [Tyr] represents the plasma concentration of tyrosine and  $\sum [LNAA]$  represents the sum of the plasma concentrations of the other large neutral amino acids that share this transporter (phenylalanine, tryptophan, methionine, histidine, isoleucine, leucine and valine) (Pardridge, 1983). This ratio is  $0.17 \pm 0.02$  and  $0.10 \pm 0.02$ , respectively for the control and the ZDF fa/fa rats at 5 weeks, and  $0.17\pm 0.02$  and  $0.09\pm 0.02$  respectively, for the control and the ZDF fa/fa rats at 11 weeks. At both ages these numbers were significantly different from each other. Thus, the elevated BCAA in this model also, may compromise tyrosine uptake by the brain.

Fujimoto *et al.* (2004) have reported that, at 8 weeks of age, ZDF fa/fa rats show markedly higher total glucose output compared to lean rats under basal conditions. They also showed that ZDF fa/fa rats have defects in the suppression of hepatic glucose

production and total glucose production in response to increased plasma glucose and insulin (Fujimoto *et al.* 2004). It is likely that amino acids are important substrates for hepatic gluconeogenesis in this situation. At five weeks of age, although the animals do exhibit insulin resistance, it is clear that there is some appreciable insulin action since blood glucose is only slightly elevated. The plasma concentrations of only five of the glucogenic amino acids (aspartate, serine, glutamine, glycine and histidine) are decreased. The plasma concentrations of five other glucogenic amino acids (valine, methionine, isoleucine, phenylalanine and tryptophan) are actually increased. However, at 11 weeks blood glucose is massively increased and it is clear that these animals experience very little insulin action. Under these circumstances one expects much higher rates of gluconeogenesis. Consistent with this expectation, we have observed that the plasma concentrations of twelve of the glucogenic amino acids (hydroxyproline, threonine, serine, asparagine, glutamine, proline, glycine, methionine, tyrosine, tryptophan, histidine and arginine) are decreased. On the other hand, only three glucogenic amino acids (glutamate, valine, and isoleucine) increase their plasma concentrations.

Specific mention must be made of the regulation of the metabolism of a number of glucogenic amino acids. Alanine and glutamine are the most important amino acid precursors for hepatic gluconeogenesis during starvation and severe illness. In our model of Type 2 diabetes, glutamine was decreased in plasma, liver and skeletal muscle while alanine concentrations were comparable with the controls in plasma and liver while showing increased levels in the muscle at both 5 and 11 weeks. In streptozotocin-diabetic rats Williamson *et al.* (1967) and Brosnan *et al.* (1980) had shown decreased levels of both alanine and glutamine in plasma. Hundal *et al.* (1992) observed a reduction in intra-

sarcolemmal glutamine levels in streptozotocin-diabetic rats. In the face of this reduced intramuscular glutamine level, and a low muscle/plasma distribution ratio (observed by us also in 5 weeks old rats) they also observed an increased efflux of glutamine from muscle, indicating an increase in the V<sub>max</sub>/K<sub>m</sub> ratio (i.e. the first order rate constant) of the glutamine transporter in muscle. Glutamine and alanine were shown to account for almost 70% of the amino acids released by muscle of streptozotocin-diabetic rats, while they comprised 56% of the gluconeogenic amino acids removed by the liver (Brosnan et al. 1983). It has also been shown that hepatocytes from streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats use glutamine more rapidly than do hepatocytes from normal or insulin-maintained diabetic rats (Squires et al. 1997). The activity of glutaminase itself was shown to be increased in livers of Type 1 diabetic rats (Squires et al. 1997). This may contribute to the reduced glutamine levels observed in the livers of the ZDF fa/fa rats and indicate increased gluconeogenic flux from glutamine. Although there is increased efflux of glutamine from the skeletal muscles, the increased uptake by the liver in the face of increased gluconeogenic flux will lead to the reduction in plasma levels of this amino acid. Interestingly, skeletal muscle glutamine showed a lower distribution ratio while alanine showed an increased distribution ratio, both in the insulin-resistant and the diabetic stages. This is consistent with the idea that glutamine loss is primarily driven by an alteration in the kinetics of its transport (Hundal et al. 1992), while increased alanine release is a result of increased tissue levels.

Serine, threonine and glycine are all gluconeogenic amino acids, which are converted to pyruvate. We saw a reduction in the levels of all three of these amino acids in the plasma, liver and the skeletal muscles at 11 weeks. At 5 weeks of age, all three amino acids were decreased in the skeletal muscles, while serine and glycine were decreased in the plasma with only serine showing a decreased level in the liver. These decreases are in agreement with increased rates of gluconeogenesis. Serine/threonine dehydratase is induced in diabetes, as is serine: pyruvate aminotransferase (Freedland and Avary 1964; Kanamoto *et al.* 1991; Mak *et al.* 1981; Su *et al.* 1990; Rowsell *et al.* 1973). These effects may be brought about by glucagon (Jost *et al.* 1968; Su *et al.* 1990; Rowsell *et al.* 1973; Fukishima *et al.* 1978). Flux through the glycine cleavage system has also been shown to be stimulated by glucagon, epinephrine and norepinephrine (Brosnan *et al.* 1990). Glucagon has also been shown to increase oxidation of threonine as well as its transport into hepatocytes (House *et al.* 2001). Histidine:pyruvate aminotransferase has been reported to be identical with serine:pyruvate aminotransferase (Noguchi *et al.* 1978). Thus, the observed reduction in histidine too may be due to the increased activity of its degradative enzyme.

We also calculated the muscle/plasma and liver/ plasma distribution ratios for the amino acids. At 11 weeks, proline and methionine both showed an increased liver/plasma distribution ratio in the diabetic rats. This increase in the distribution ratio of proline was also observed in our laboratory in rats treated with glucagon (M. Haslett and M. Brosnan unpublished). Treatment with glucagon was also shown to increase the liver/plasma ratio of methionine, which was associated with a marked stimulation of methionine transport into liver cells (Jacobs *et al.* 2001).

In conclusion, this work describes, for the first time, plasma as well as tissue levels of amino acids in this model of Type 2 diabetes. It is clear that insulin resistance alone caused alterations in amino acid metabolism. Many of the effects observed in frank Type 2 diabetes were similar to those found in models of Type 1 diabetes.

# Chapter 5

Effect of Rosiglitazone on homocysteine metabolism in ZDF (Type 2) diabetic rats.

2

#### 5.1 Background

Increased levels of plasma Hcy, an intermediate in the pathway of methionine metabolism, have been identified as an independent risk factor for vascular disease (Kang *et al*, 1992), Alzheimer's disease (Seshadri *et al*, 2002) and osteoporotic fractures (van Meurs *et al*, 2004). An elevation in plasma Hcy by even as small an amount as 5  $\mu$ mol/liter can increase the risk of coronary artery disease by 60% in men and 80% in women (Boushey *et al*, 1995).

As discussed in the introduction, both Type 1 and Type 2 diabetes mellitus as well as the metabolic syndrome of insulin-resistance, are associated with an increased risk of coronary artery disease. The prevalence of atherosclerosis is reported to be 2-to 6-fold higher in diabetic patients than in people without diabetes (Brand *et al*, 1989). However, the association between HHcy and cardiovascular disease and mortality has been found to be strongest in Type 2 diabetes mellitus (Hoogeveen *et al*, 1998).

Our earlier study conducted in ZDF rats in the insulin-resistant and the frank diabetic stages showed that plasma tHcy is significantly lower in ZDF fa/fa rats when compared to Untreated rats. This reduction was brought about by several changes in the enzymes involved in Hcy metabolism.

RSG, a thiazolidinedione, is an agonist of the peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor  $\gamma$  (PPAR-  $\gamma$ ) subfamily of nuclear receptors. It is an anti-diabetic agent used to treat patients with Type 2 diabetes and is known to enhance insulin sensitivity and to improve metabolic control in these patients. RSG has also been shown to reduce insulin resistance and prevent the loss of  $\beta$ -cell mass in ZDF rats by maintaining  $\beta$ -cell proliferation and preventing net  $\beta$ -cell death (Finegood *et al*, 2001).
In this study, we examined Hcy metabolism under conditions of improved insulin sensitivity after treatment with RSG with the aim of gaining more understanding of the regulation of Hcy metabolism.

## **5.2 Results**

# 5.2.1 Body Weight, Hepato-somatic index, fat pad weight, food intake, water intake and urinary output

Body weight, hepato-somatic index, fat pad weight, food and water intake and urinary output are shown in Table 5.1. ZDF fa/fa rats were 47% heavier than the ZDF fa/+ rats at 6 weeks of age but by 12 weeks, although still being significantly heavier than the untreated rats the difference had dropped to 14%. The ZDF fa/fa (RSG) rats on the other hand were able to maintain the weight difference initially observed. The ZDF fa/fa (untreated) rats, had a significantly higher hepato-somatic index compared to their RSG treated counterparts as they had greatly enlarged livers. Fat pad weight was measured only at 12 weeks of age. Both groups of ZDF fa/fa rats had a significantly higher fat pad weight than the ZDF fa/+ rats. However, the fat pad weight of the ZDF fa/fa (RSG) rats was significantly higher than the ZDF fa/fa (untreated) rats. Very interestingly, the ZDF fa/fa (untreated) rats also had a much higher feed intake /100g body weight as well as a higher water intake and urinary output compared to the other 3 groups. The ZDF fa/fa (untreated) rats therefore are showing the classical features of diabetes mellitus of polyphagia, polydypsia and polyuria along with a failure to gain weight.

Table 5.1. Body Weight, Hepato-somatic index, fat pad	weight, feed intake, wate	ter intake and urinary	output of RSG
treated and untreated ZDF fa/+ and ZDF fa/fa rats.			

	ZD	F fa/+	ZDF fa/fa		
-	Untreated	<b>RSG-treated</b>	Untreated	<b>RSG-treated</b>	
Body weight (g)					
6 weeks	$127 \pm 7$	-	$187 \pm 12^{b}$	-	
12 weeks	$299 \pm 7^{\mathrm{a}}$	$308 \pm 21^{a}$	$339 \pm 17^{b}$	$457 \pm 23^{\circ}$	
Hepato-somatic index					
6 weeks	$5 \pm 1^{a}$	-	$6 \pm 1^{a}$	-	
12 weeks	$3\pm0.2^{a}$	$3\pm0.1^{a,c}$	$5 \pm 0.3^{b}$	$3 \pm 0.3^{c}$	
Fat pad weight (g)					
6 weeks	$0.3 \pm 0.01^{a}$		$1.7 \pm 0.2^{b}$		
12 weeks	$2 \pm 1^{a}$	$2 \pm 1^{a}$	$6\pm0.4^{b}$	$13 \pm 1^{\circ}$	
Feed Intake g/100 g BW					
6 weeks	$12 \pm 2^{a}$		$13 \pm 2^{a}$		
12 weeks	$6 \pm 1^{a}$	$6 \pm 0.3^{a,c}$	$12 \pm 1^{b}$	$7\pm0.3$ <sup>c</sup>	
Water Intake (ml/100 g BW)					
6 weeks	$14 \pm 1^{a}$		$17 \pm 2.1^{a}$		
12 weeks	$7 \pm 1^{a}$	$8 \pm 1^{a}$	$39 \pm 4^{b}$	$7 \pm 1^{a}$	
Urinary output (ml/100g BW)					
6 weeks	$5 \pm 1^{a}$		$9 \pm 1^{b}$		
12 weeks	$4 \pm 1^{a}$	$4 \pm 0.0^{a}$	$44 \pm 3^{b}$	$5 \pm 1^{a}$	

Mean ± SD for 6 rats are shown. Differing superscripts within each row indicate significant difference from each other

-

## 5.2.2 Plasma glucose, insulin, creatinine and the glomeruler filtration rate

Plasma levels of glucose, insulin and creatinine and the calculated GFR are shown in Table 5.2. The ZDF fa/fa rats were insulin-resistant at 6 weeks of age, as indicated by the 5- fold greater increase in plasma insulin needed to maintain a normal plasma glucose level. By 12 weeks, the ZDF fa/fa (untreated) rats have progressed to the diabetic stage with a 3-fold increase in their plasma glucose, while the plasma insulin level dropped and was no longer different from the ZDF fa/+ rats. This could probably be due to the loss of  $\beta$  cells that occur with the progression of diabetes as shown by Finegood *et al* (2001). The ZDF fa/fa (RSG) rats still maintained a significantly higher plasma insulin albeit much lower than the level seen at 6 weeks. Plasma glucose however, was normalized in the ZDF fa/fa (RSG) rats by the RSG treatment. These results could indicate the preservation of some  $\beta$ -cells as well as an increase in insulin sensitivity brought about by the RSG treatment.

Since renal function is one of the major determinants of plasma Hcy in humans we measured plasma and urinary creatinine levels and calculated the GFR from these values and the total urinary output per day. Plasma creatinine was significantly increased in the ZDF fa/fa (untreated) rats at 12 weeks and at both ages they excreted more creatinine in their urine. GFR however, was only increased at 6 weeks of age suggesting a state of hyper-filtration at this age. At 12 weeks, the increase seen in both plasma and urinary creatinine in the face of a normal GFR may indicate the increased plasma creatinine to be a result of a higher production and not be due to failing kidney function.

Table 5.2. Plasma glucose, insulin, creatinine, total urinary creatinine and GFR of RSG treated and ZDF fa/+ and ZDF fa/fa rats.

	ZDF	fa/+	ZDF fa/fa		
	Untreated	<b>RSG-treated</b>	Untreated	<b>RSG-treated</b>	
Plasma Glucose (mM)					
6 weeks	$10 \pm 1^{a}$	-	$11 \pm 1^{a}$	°-	
12 weeks	$11 \pm 1^{a}$	$11 \pm 1^{a}$	$32 \pm 3^{b}$	$11 \pm 2^{a}$	
Plasma Insulin (ng/ml)					
6 weeks	$4 \pm 1^{a}$	-	$21 \pm 9^{b}$	-	
12 weeks	$4 \pm 1^{a}$	$4 \pm 1^{a}$	$6 \pm 2^{a}$	$8 \pm 1^{b}$	
Plasma Creatinine (µM)					
6 weeks	$27 \pm 3^{a}$		$28 \pm 3^{a}$		
12 weeks	$27 \pm 3^{a}$	$31 \pm 5^{a}$	$46 \pm 6^{b}$	$29\pm4^{a}$	
Urinary creatinine loss (µMoles/day)					
6 weeks	$56 \pm 9^{a}$		$89 \pm 17^{b}$		
12 weeks	$129 \pm 9^{\mathrm{a}}$	$127 \pm 13^{a}$	$184 \pm 13^{b}$	$138 \pm 9^{a}$	
GFR (ml/min)					
6 weeks	$1.4 \pm 0.3^{a}$		$2.2 \pm 0.2^{b}$		
12 weeks	$3.3\pm0.5^{a}$	$2.9\pm0.8^{\rm a}$	$2.8\pm0.3^{a}$	$3.4 \pm 0.5^{a}$	

Mean  $\pm$  SD for 6 rats are shown. Differing superscripts within each row indicate significant difference from each other.

.

## 5.2.3 Plasma Homocysteine

Plasma Hcy levels at 6 and 12 weeks are shown in Figure 5.1. Plasma tHcy was 41% lower in the ZDF fa/fa rats when compared to the ZDF fa/+ rats at 6 weeks of age. RSG treatment for 6 weeks returned the tHcy level in the ZDF fa/fa (RSG) rats towards normal.

# 5.2.4 Hepatic activities of enzymes of Homocysteine metabolism

Table 5.3 shows the activities of the enzymes involved in Hcy metabolism. We have already seen, in Chapter 3 of this thesis, the changes in enzyme activities that lead to decreased plasma Hcy levels in insulin resistance and early Type 2 diabetes. In this study we show that the RSG treatment is able to return the lowered plasma Hcy level towards normal. We were therefore interested in identifying the enzymes that respond to the increased insulin sensitivity brought about by the RSG treatment.

The baseline enzyme activities at the beginning of the study before the commencement of RSG treatment were similar to those in the first study (Table 3.2) except for the reduced MTHFR activity in the ZDF fa/fa rats. After 6 weeks of RSG treatment, methionine adenosyltransferase activity, which was increased in the ZDF fa/fa (untreated) rats, was normalized. Two-way ANOVA showed cystathionine  $\beta$ -synthase activity to be significantly higher in the ZDF fa/fa rats compared to the ZDF fa/+ rats but the difference was slight. Contrary to what we expected, the RSG treatment did not affect its activity.

A. 6 Weeks



B. 12 weeks



	ZDI	F fa/+	ZDF fa/fa		
	Untreated	RSG-treated	Untreated	RSG-treated	
Methionine adenosyltransferase					
6 weeks	$298 \pm 38^{a}$		$360 \pm 32^{\text{ b}}$		
12 weeks	$232 \pm 97^{a}$	$254\pm99$ °	484 ± 209 <sup>b</sup>	$309 \pm 58^{a}$	
Glycine-N-methyltransferase					
6 weeks	$298 \pm 38^{a}$		360 ± 32 <sup>b</sup>		
12 weeks	$416 \pm 50^{a}$	$483\pm30$ <sup>b</sup>	538 ± 52 <sup>b</sup>	$545 \pm 59^{b}$	
Cystathionine $\beta$ -synthase					
6 weeks	944 ±66 <sup>a</sup>		1073 ± 89 <sup>b</sup>		
12 weeks	$1879 \pm 202$	$2079\pm282$	$2288 \pm 194*$	$2160 \pm 308*$	
Cystathionine $\gamma$ -lyase					
6 weeks	3211 ±310 <sup>a</sup>		$4284 \pm 631$ <sup>b</sup>		
12 weeks	$4025 \pm 784$ <sup>a</sup>	$4081 \pm 673^{a}$	$6238 \pm 849$ <sup>b</sup>	$4365 \pm 808$ <sup>b</sup>	
Methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase					
6 weeks	$17 \pm 3^{a}$		$14 \pm 2^{b}$		
12 weeks	$17 \pm 3$	$17 \pm 3$	$16 \pm 6^{*}$	$14 \pm 5^{*}$	
Methionine synthase					
6 weeks	$12 \pm 1^{a}$		$9\pm0.4$ <sup>b</sup>		
12 weeks	$14 \pm 1$	$12 \pm 2^{\$}$	$11 \pm 2^*$	$11 \pm 1^{*^{\S}}$	
Betaine:homocysteine methyltransferase					
6 weeks	$170 \pm 52^{a}$		$377 \pm 57^{b}$		
12 weeks	$170 \pm 38$	$222\pm67^{\$}$	259±31*	351 ±52* <sup>§</sup>	
Choline dehydrogenase					
6 weeks	$981 \pm 49^{a}$		$942 \pm 78$ <sup>a</sup>		
12 weeks	$1217 \pm 100^{a}$	$1202 \pm 237$ <sup>a</sup>	$1428 \pm 106$ <sup>b</sup>	$1395 \pm 288$ <sup>b</sup>	

Table 5.3. Hepatic activities of enzymes of homocysteine metabolism

Data are given as mean  $\pm$  SD for six rats. Enzyme activities are expressed as *nmoles of product synthesized per minute per gram liver*. Differences in superscript letters signify significant differences within each horizontal row (P < 0.05) with one-way ANOVA. \* and § signify significant difference due to genotype and RSG treatment respectively, with Two-way ANOVA. On the other hand, the second transsulfuration enzyme, CGL showed a marked increase in the ZDF fa/fa (untreated) rats and was returned to normal by the RSG treatment, possibly contributing to the normalization of plasma Hcy. MTHFR activity was slightly, though significantly lower in ZDF fa/fa rats compared to ZDF fa/+ rats but the RSG treatment did not have any additional effects. In the case of methionine synthase, both RSG treatment and the genotype had significant effects on its activity, with the ZDF fa/fa rats showing a lower level of activity than the ZDF fa/+ rats while the RSG treatment was also effective in lowering its activity. The activity of BHMT was once again observed to be significantly higher in the ZDF fa/fa rats with the RSG treatment also acting to <u>increase</u> its activity.

# 5.2.5 S-adenosylmethionine, S-adenosylhomocysteine and SAM/SAH ratio

SAM, SAH and the SAM/SAH ratio are shown in Table 5.4. Hepatic SAM as well as SAH levels were significantly higher in ZDF fa/fa rats at 6 weeks of age. At 12 weeks, the ZDF fa/fa (untreated) rats still maintained a significantly higher level of SAM than the rest of the groups, which is consistent with the higher activity observed in MAT. Along with the normalization of MAT seen with RSG treatment we also observe a lowering of this increased SAM level in ZDF fa/fa (RSG) rats. However, the inability of SAM to completely return to normal could arise from the increase in the activity of BHMT seen in these rats. Analysis of the data using two-way ANOVA shows both the genotype and the interaction between the genotype and the treatment to be significant for SAM. However, the treatment itself did not have a significant effect. In the case of SAH, both RSG treatment and the genotype showed significant effects with the ZDF fa/fa rats

	ZDF	7 fa/+	ZDF fa/fa		
	Untreated	<b>RSG-treated</b>	Untreated	<b>RSG-treated</b>	
S-adenosylmethionine (nmoles/g liver)					
6 weeks	$107 \pm 21^{a}$		$143 \pm 26^{b}$		
12 weeks	$132.8 \pm 10.1^{a}$	$140.6 \pm 10.9^{a,c}$	$169.5 \pm 7.0^{b}$	$146.9 \pm 9.2^{\circ}$	
S-adenosylhomocysteine (nmoles/g liver)					
6 weeks	$12.4 \pm 1.6^{a}$		$15.1 \pm 1.9^{b}$		
12 weeks	$16.5 \pm 0.9$	$18.8 \pm 1.3^{\$}$	$18.3 \pm 0.9*$	$19.9 \pm 2.3^{*\$}$	
SAM/SAH					
6 weeks	$9.3 \pm 1.1^{a}$		$11.7 \pm 1.1^{b}$		
12 weeks	$8.1 \pm 0.9^{a}$	$7.5 \pm 0.5^{a}$	$9.3\pm0.7^{b}$	$7.5 \pm 0.9^{a}$	

Table 5.4. S-adenosylmethionine, S-adenosylhomocysteine and the SAM/SAH ratio

Data are given as means  $\pm$  SD for six rats. Differences in superscript letters signify significant differences within each row (*P*< 0.05). \* and § signify significant difference due to genotype and RSG treatment respectively, with Two-way ANOVA.

having a higher level of SAH than the ZDF fa/+ rats and the RSG treatment also having a positive effect. At 6 weeks, the SAM/SAH ratio was significantly higher in the ZDF fa/fa rats and continued to remain so in the ZDF fa/fa (untreated) rats at 12 weeks. The RSG treatment normalized the ratio in the ZDF fa/fa (RSG) rats.

#### 5.2.6 Relative mRNA levels of CBS and BHMT

RT-PCR analysis of BHMT mRNA showed a significant increase in mRNA abundance in the ZDF fa/fa rats compared to the ZDF fa/+ rats (Figure 5.2 B) which is in agreement with the genotypic effect observed in the enzyme activity. However, CBS mRNA did not differ between the groups (Figure 5.2A).

# 5.2.7 Hepatic activities of enzymes of phospholipid metabolism

This work on phospholipid metabolism was done by Dr. Rene Jacobs of the University of Alberta. The activities of the enzymes involved in phospholipid metabolism are shown in Table 5.5. CTP: phosphocholine cytidylyltransferase (CT) is the rate limiting enzyme in the Kennedy pathway of PC synthesis. The activity of CT was measured in liver homogenates as well as in the cytosolic and microsomal fractions. At 6 weeks, CT activity did not show any significant differences between the ZDF fa/fa and the ZDF fa/+ rats in any of the fractions tested. However, at 12 weeks the liver homogenates from ZDF fa/fa rats showed a higher level of CT activity than the ZDF fa/+ rats; RSG-treated ZDF fa/fa (RSG) rats with RSG treatment and the genotype having significant effects. The genotypic difference in CT activity was also evident in the



A. CBS mRNA

.





	ZD	F fa/+	ZDF fa/fa		
	Untreated	RSG-treated	Untreated	RSG-Treated	
CTP:phosphocholine					
cytidylyltransferase (Homogenate)					
6 weeks	$1.8 \pm 0.2$	_	$2.0 \pm 0.3$		
12 weeks	$1.3 \pm 0.1$	$1.5 \pm 0.2^{\$}$	$1.9 \pm 0.3^{*}$	$2.3 \pm 0.4^{*\$}$	
CTP:phosphocholine					
cytidylyltransferase (Cytosol)					
6 weeks	$1.0 \pm 0.2$		$1.2 \pm 0.1$		
12 weeks	$0.6 \pm 0.1^{a}$	$0.7\pm0.02^{\mathrm{a,b}}$	$0.7 \pm 0.1^{b}$	$0.9 \pm 0.1^{b,c}$	
CTP:phosphocholine					
cytidylyltransferase (Microsome)					
6 weeks	$2.5 \pm 0.8$		$2.2 \pm 0.6$		
12 weeks	$3.2 \pm 0.2^{a}$	$3.1\pm0.2^{\mathrm{a}}$	$4.0 \pm 0.4^{\mathrm{b}}$	$3.9 \pm 0.4^{b}$	
Choline kinase					
6 weeks	$9.0 \pm 2.1$		$8.0 \pm 3.1$		
12 weeks	$7.6 \pm 0.9$	$8.4 \pm 1.8$	$7.7 \pm 1.0$	$6.9 \pm 2$	
Phosphatidylethanolamine N-					
methyltransferase					
6 weeks	$0.7\pm0.1$		$0.6 \pm 0.1$		
12 weeks	$0.7 \pm 0.1$	$0.7 \pm 0.02$	$0.8 \pm 0.1*$	$0.8 \pm 0.1*$	

Table 5.5. Hepatic activities of enzymes of phospholipid metabolism

Data are given as means  $\pm$  SD for six rats. Enzyme activities are expressed as *nmoles of product synthesized per minute per mg protein*. Differences in superscript letters signify significant differences within each row (P < 0.05). \* and § signify significant difference due to genotype and RSG treatment respectively, with Two-way ANOVA.

microsomal fraction but RSG treatment did not show any additional effects. Choline kinase activity did not show any differences between the groups either at 6 weeks or at 12 weeks. Phosphatidylethanolamine methyltransferase (PEMT) catalyzes the conversion of phosphatidylethanolamine to PC in an alternate pathway to the Kennedy pathway. At 12 weeks the activity of PEMT showed a small, though significant, increase in the ZDF fa/fa rats compared to the ZDF fa/+ rats; RSG treatment did not produce any additional effects.

# 5.2.8 Phosphatidylcholine and Phosphatidylethanolamine levels

Table 5.6 shows the levels of PC and PE in the liver and plasma. Hepatic PC and PE and plasma PC was similar in both groups of rats at 6 weeks of age. At 12 weeks, plasma PC was significantly higher in the ZDF fa/fa group; RSG treatment increased plasma PC further. Liver PC and PE both were significantly lower in the ZDF fa/fa rats compared to the ZDF fa/+ rats; RSG treatment had no significant effects.

## 5.2.9 Hepatic and plasma Triacylgycerol levels

Table 5.7 shows the hepatic and plasma Triacylglycerol (TG) levels. Both plasma and hepatic TG levels were greatly increased, at 12 weeks, in the ZDF fa/fa (untreated) rats. Two-way ANOVA revealed the genotypic and the treatment effects to be significant, with ZDF fa/fa rats showing a higher level of both plasma and hepatic TG than the ZDF fa/+ rats and RSG treatment acing to reduce it.

	ZD	F fa/+	ZDF fa/fa		
-	Untreated RSG-treated		Untreated	RSG-Treated	
Plasma Phosphatidylcholine (nmoles/ml)					
6 weeks	$1137 \pm 191$		$1367 \pm 557$		
12 weeks	$810 \pm 123^{a}$	$900 \pm 152^{a}$	$2332 \pm 478^{b}$	$3836 \pm 495^{\circ}$	
Hepatic Phosphatidylcholine					
(nmoles/mg protein)					
6 weeks	$136 \pm 41$		$128 \pm 24$		
12 weeks	$138 \pm 9^{a}$	$138 \pm 7^{a}$	$103 \pm 16^{b}$	$112 \pm 9^{b}$	
Hepatic Phosphatidylethanolamine					
(nmoles/mg protein)					
6 weeks	$90 \pm 18$		$83 \pm 10$		
12 weeks	$83 \pm 6^{a}$	$84 \pm 15^{a}$	$58 \pm 16^{b}$	$64 \pm 15^{b}$	

# Table 5.6. Phosphatidylcholine and Phosphatidylethanolamine levels

Data are given as means  $\pm$  SD for six rats. Differences in superscript letters signify significant differences within each row (P<

0.05).

.

# Table 5.7. Hepatic and plasma Triacylglycerol levels

	ZDI	F fa/+	ZDF	fa/fa	
_	Untreated	<b>RSG-treated</b>	Untreated	RSG-Treated	
Hepatic Triacylglycerol (mg/mg protein) 12 weeks	$0.04 \pm 0.01$	$0.03 \pm 0.00^{\$}$	0.15 ± 0.04*	$0.10 \pm 0.02^{*\$}$	
Plasma Triacylglycerol (mmoles/ml) 12 weeks	$0.20 \pm 0.06^{a}$	$0.30 \pm 0.04^{a\S}$	$7.05 \pm 3.9^{b^*}$	$1.90 \pm 0.4^{a \S^*}$	

Data are given as mean  $\pm$  SD for six rats. Differences in superscript letters signify significant differences within each row (*P*< 0.05) with one-way ANOVA. \* and § signify significant difference due to genotype and RSG treatment respectively, with Two-way ANOVA.

found to be significant on the hepatic TG levels with ZDF fa/fa rats showing a higher level of TG and the RSG treatment acting to lower the level.

# **5.3 Discussion**

This study reinforces previous work from this laboratory which showed the regulation of homocysteine metabolism by insulin and its counter-regulatory hormones. In the streptozotocin-induced diabetic (type 1) rat model we have shown that plasma homocysteine is reduced in the untreated diabetic rats and that this reduction is prevented when the diabetic rats are treated with insulin (Jacobs *et al*, 1998). This was the first demonstration of the involvement of insulin in the regulation of Hcy metabolism; this was followed by the demonstration in hyperglucagonemic rats of the contribution of the counter-regulatory hormone, glucagon (Jacobs *et al*, 2000). These two studies clearly illustrated the opposing effects of these metabolic hormones on the regulation of Hcy metabolism.

The current study deals with Type 2 diabetes mellitus, where insulin-resistance rather than the absolute lack of insulin is the major contributing factor. Therefore, we treated the rats with the thiazolidinedione, RSG, which along with other TZDs such as troglitazone and pioglitazone have been shown to improve insulin action in a variety of insulin resistant and diabetic rat models as well as in human Type 2 diabetic patients (Olefsky and Saltiel, 2000). RSG was clearly able to restore insulin sensitivity in ZDF fa/fa rats studied here as shown by their plasma glucose and insulin levels. The insulin level in the ZDF fa/fa (RSG) rats at 12 weeks of age, although greatly reduced from the level seen at 6 weeks was higher than in the ZDF fa/fa (untreated) rats. This may indicate

the prevention of  $\beta$  cell death and the maintenance of its mass by RSG treatment as previously shown in this rat model by Finegood *et al*, (2001).

Here, again, we observe that plasma Hcy is decreased in insulin-resistance as well as in early Type 2 diabetes. We also observe that the increase in insulin sensitivity by RSG treatment is able to restore the Hcy level in ZDF fa/fa (RSG) rats towards normal similar to what was reported in type 1 diabetic rats treated with insulin (Jacobs *et al*, 1998). However, unlike insulin treatment of Streptozotocin-diabetic rats, RSG treatment of ZDF fa/fa rats was unable to restore the Hcy levels to complete normalcy.

This discrepancy could be explained by a very interesting change observed in the activity of one of the enzymes involved in Hcy removal. Betaine:homocysteine methyltransferase (BHMT), catalyzes the reaction where Hcy is remethylated to methionine using a methyl group donated by betaine. Our earlier studies both in type 1 (Ratnam *et al*, 2006) and Type 2 (Wijekoon *et al*, 2005) diabetes showed that the reduction observed in plasma Hcy in both these types of diabetes was accompanied by increases in the activity of BHMT. Nieman *et al* (2004) have also found this increased activity of BHMT in streptozotocin-diabetic rats. The present study too was able to show an increase in hepatic BHMT activity at the insulin resistant as well as the diabetic stage. Surprisingly, we also observed a significantly positive effect of RSG treatment on BHMT activity: both ZDF fa/+ (RSG) and ZDF fa/fa (RSG) rats showed higher BHMT activity than the respective untreated groups. This is surprising in the light of the work done in our lab by Ratnam *et al* (2006) where, in the type 1 diabetic model, insulin treatment was shown to return the increased BHMT activity back to the level seen in the control rats. In a rat hepatoma cell line (H4IIE cells), Ratnam *et al* showed that treatment with

glucocorticoids increased the level of BHMT mRNA and the rate of BHMT mRNA synthesis while insulin reduced the abundance of BHMT mRNA as well as the de novo transcription rate of the gene (Ratnam *et al*, 2006). Thereby, they were able to show very convincingly the direct effects of both insulin and glucocorticoids on BHMT gene expression. However, in the present study, we observed a further increase in the activity of BHMT rather than a reduction that would be expected according to the above information.

This phenomenon could be explained by looking at how ZDF fa/fa rats become diabetic, the mode of action of RSG in modifying Type 2 diabetes and finally the contribution made by BHMT to phospholipid (PL) metabolism, in addition to its direct action in remethylating Hcy. It is now generally accepted that Type 2 diabetes is associated with obesity. More specifically, the ectopic accumulation of fat in muscle, liver as well as  $\beta$  cells is widely regarded to be instrumental in the etiology of insulin resistance and possibly in the ultimate destruction of pancreatic  $\beta$  cells, leading to the development of Type 2 diabetes (McGarry, 2002). The mutation in the leptin receptor, OB-R, is the only genetic abnormality that has been identified in ZDF rats (Unger, 1997). The ensuing leptin resistance results in obesity and a generalized intracellular fat overload in adipocytes as well as non adipocytes (Unger, 1997). The importance of intracellular TG accumulation in liver and skeletal muscle in the etiology of insulin resistance has been shown comprehensively in humans as well as in animals (McGarry, 2002). That ectopic accumulation of fat especially in the  $\beta$  cells, leading to their destruction, is the cause of diabetes in ZDF rats is supported by the finding that pair-feeding of pre-diabetic ZDF fa/fa rats to their lean counterparts leads to the reduction in islet TG content, and

prevents hyperglycemia, loss of  $\beta$  cell GLUT 2 and minimizes the loss of glucosestimulated insulin secretion (Ohneda *et al*, 1995).

The importance of betaine as well as BHMT, overlooked over the years in favor of the more famous counterparts such as the B vitamins of Hcy metabolism and the transsulfuration enzymes, is beginning to gain recognition as a major player in regulation of Hcy metabolism. Betaine supplementation has been shown to be effective in preventing a rise in plasma Hcy after methionine intake in subjects with mild HHcy (Steenge *et al*, 2003), and doses of betaine in the range of dietary intake were shown to reduce fasting and post-methionine loading plasma Hcy concentrations in healthy men and women (Olthof *et al*, 2003). Schwahn *et al* (2003) showed betaine supplementation to lower plasma Hcy levels in mice heterozygous or homozygous for the disruption of the *mthfr* gene as well as in their wild type littermates. Very interestingly, they were also able to show a significant negative relationship between plasma Hcy and betaine concentrations in humans with cardiovascular disease. The same group also reported the ability of betaine to lower plasma Hcy in a mouse model of moderate HHcy due to a heterozygous disruption of the *Cbs* gene (Schwahn *et al*, 2004).

These effects on plasma Hcy levels by betaine feeding and the resultant increase in the flux through BHMT are not surprising given the role of BHMT in removal of Hcy. However, BHMT is also thought to play a role in phospholipid (PL) metabolism. In the mouse, the daily flux of PL through the liver is estimated to approximate the entire hepatic PL pool (Walkey *et al*, 1998). The CDP-choline or the Kennedy pathway occurs in all nucleated cells and accounts for 60-80% of hepatic phosphatidylcholine (PC) biosynthesis (Sundler and Akesson, 1975). The second mode of PC synthesis, quantitatively significant only in the liver, converts phosphatidylethanolamine (PE) to PC with the consecutive transfer of three methyl groups from three SAM molecules, catalyzed by the enzyme phosphatidylethanolamine methyltransferase (PEMT). BHMT is regarded as the first enzyme in the three-enzyme pathway culminating in the conversion of PE to PC, the other two being MAT and PEMT (Sehayek *et al*, 2003). In line with this, both BHMT and PEMT have been found in the bile canalicular membrane of mice where they are believed to be involved in local canalicular PC biosynthesis and secretion of PL into bile (Sehayek *et al*, 2003). A recent study by Jacobs *et al* (2005) in liver specific *CT-a* knockout mice showed flux through PEMT to be increased two-fold and this increase was accompanied by increases in the activity of both BHMT and MAT.

In addition to being the predominant PL in bile and eukaryotic cell membranes, PC is also the primary PL in all classes of lipoproteins in mammals (Vance and Vance, 1985) and is required for the secretion of VLDL (Yao and Vance, 1988, Yao and Vance, 1989a, Yao and Vance, 1989b, Vermeulen *et al*, 1997). Although the Kennedy pathway has been shown to be essential for the maintenance of normal plasma VLDL levels (Vermeulen *et al*, 1997) PC derived from PE has also been shown to be necessary for normal VLDL secretion (Nishimaki-Mogami *et al*, 2002). Recently, hepatocytes isolated from male *Pemt*<sup>-/-</sup> mice were found to secrete 50% less TG in VLDL/LDL lipoprotein fractions than hepatocytes from *Pemt*<sup>+/+</sup> mice (Noga *et al*, 2002). They also observed a 70% reduction in the secretion of apoB100 in VLDL/LDL. Transfection of McArdle hepatoma cells lacking PEMT with PEMT cDNA was also shown to increase the secretion of TG in VLDL. Noga and Vance (2003) found *Pemt*<sup>-/-</sup> mice to have a defect in VLDL and apoB100 secretion compared with *Pemt*<sup>+/+</sup> mice when fed a high fat/high

cholesterol diet, but with a gender specificity. In addition PEMT knockout mice were shown to have hepatic steatosis and abnormal levels of hepatic choline metabolites despite ingesting the recommended dietary intake of choline (Zhu *et al*, 2003).

BHMT, because of its association with PEMT and therefore with secretion of VLDL from the liver, appears to play a role in lipid mobilization and secretion. In support of this assumption is the large increase in apoB mRNA abundance and secretion seen in BHMT-transfected McArdle cells (Sowden *et al*, 1999). A recent publication by the same group was able to confirm these findings *in-vivo* where feeding rats a methionine-restricted betaine-supplemented diet resulted in a 4-fold induction of hepatic BHMT and a 3-fold induction of ApoB mRNA compared with methionine restriction alone (Sparkes *et al*, 2006). This group also observed an increased secretion of VLDL along with a 45% reduction in liver TG. These experiments are reinforced by the finding that ethanol feeding increases BHMT activity (Barak *et al*, 1987) as well as apoB mRNA and apo B secretion (Wang *et al*, 1994). Very interestingly, dietary betaine is known to promote the generation of hepatic SAM and protect the liver from ethanol-induced fatty infiltration (Barak *et al*, 1993). BHMTs involvement with fatty liver was further demonstrated by the finding that synthesis of BHMT is continuously enhanced in fatty livers of thyroidectomized chickens (Shibata *et al*, 2003).

Therefore, our finding of increased BHMT activity in ZDF fa/fa (untreated) rats comes as no surprise. What is interesting is the increased activity seen in the RSG-treated rats. As stated earlier, this finding appears to be at variance with our previous report where BHMT expression was shown to be negatively regulated by insulin (Ratnam *et al*, 2006). An exploration of the mode of action of TZDs suggests an explanation for this phenomenon. One means by which TZDs improve insulin sensitivity is by increasing insulin-dependent glucose disposal and reducing hepatic glucose output (Saltiel and Olefsky, 1996). Another well documented effect of TZDs is adipocyte differentiation, in both white (Tontonoz et al, 1994) and brown (Tai et al, 1996) adipose tissue. Partitioning of circulating lipids away from muscle and liver into adipose tissue, known as "lipid steal" is attributed to TZDs (Ye et al, 2004). In favour of this mechanism, TZDs have been shown to reduce circulating levels of lipids as well as lowering their accumulation in ectopic locations such as liver, skeletal and cardiac muscle and pancreatic islets (Spiegelman 1998, Oakes et al, 1994, Oakes et al, 1997, Zhou et al, 2000, Shimabukuro et al, 1998, Higa et al, 1999). In addition, TZDs have been shown to directly increase FFA exchange between plasma and adipose tissue in ZDF rats (Oakes et al, 2001). Ye et al (2004) found a two-fold increase in adipose tissue fatty acid uptake after treatment of normal rats with RSG for 7 days. Our data also displayed a reduction in plasma as well as hepatic levels of TG with RSG treatment. Along with these reductions we observed a highly significant increase in the fat pad weight which implies a redistribution of lipids. Redistribution of lipids from the liver to the periphery is accomplished by the release of mainly TG-rich VLDL from the liver. Therefore, the involvement of BHMT with VLDL production, as outlined above, could very well account for the increased BHMT activity seen with RSG treatment. Although the rat BHMT promoter region is not yet mapped it would be interesting to find whether it contains a PPAR response element.

In the present study, the activity of CT, the rate limiting enzyme in the CDP-choline pathway of PC synthesis is significantly increased in the ZDF fa/fa rats compared to the ZDF fa/+ rats, which could be attributed to the increased hepatic TG

levels in the ZDF fa/fa rats. What would then be the cause for the increase in CT activity in the ZDF fa/fa (RSG) rats, as they had a decreased hepatic TG level? This may provide clues as to the means by which RSG brings about this reduction in hepatic TG. If this reduction is due to the increased flux of TG from the liver to the adipose tissue then there will be an increased need to produce VLDL, the major phospholipid of which is PC. The increase in CT activity seen with the RSG treatment favors this argument. In addition, we also see a significant increase in plasma PC in the ZDF fa/fa rats with the ZDF fa/fa (RSG) rats having a significantly higher level of PC than the ZDF fa/fa (untreated) rats. Hepatic PEMT however only showed a very slight, but significant, increase in the ZDF fa/fa rats compared to the ZDF fa/+ rats with no effects of the RSG treatment. We also see a significant reduction in both PE and PC in the liver in the ZDF fa/fa rats which may indicate an increased contribution from the PEMT pathway to the increased plasma PC level. The effect of RSG on PC production through the PEMT pathway is difficult to assess, however, without conducting flux studies, as RSG treatment was successful in increasing the activity of BHMT, decreasing the activity of MAT and had no effect on PEMT itself.

The increase in the activity of MAT in the ZDF fa/fa (untreated) rats and its normalization by insulin sensitization agrees with the findings of Gil *et al* (1997) where they showed the induction of MAT expression by glucocorticoids and its inhibition by insulin. We also observed an increase in the activity of the transsulfuration enzymes, CBS and CGL, in the ZDF fa/fa rats compared to the ZDF fa/+ rats at both 6 and 12 weeks similar to our earlier findings. Although significant, the increase in CBS activity in the ZDF fa/fa group was very small and was not corrected by the RSG treatment. However,

the RSG treatment was able to significantly reduce the liver weight of the treated ZDF fa/fa rats, which would reduce the total CBS activity in the treated rats. CGL, which converts cystathionine into cysteine on the other hand, was very effectively normalized by the RSG treatment. The possible regulatory role of CGL has been generally ignored. However, the importance of this enzyme in the transsulfuration flux is evident in premature infants, whose hepatic CGL activity is absent or low in concentration and who have low plasma cysteine levels and glutathione synthesis rates (Vina *et al*, 1995). The same group has also shown that in rats exposed to surgical stress, CGL activity is reduced by ~40%, leading to reduced rates of cysteine synthesis in isolated hepatocytes (Vina *et al*, 1992). Therefore, the normalization of CGL activity to the lower level seen in the ZDF fa/+ rats could play a role in the increase in plasma Hcy brought about by RSG treatment. It would be of interest to measure cystathionine levels in these situations.

Our data also indicate a reciprocal regulation of the two remethylation reactions. At 6 weeks of age the increase in the activity of BHMT in the ZDF fa/fa rats was accompanied by a significant decrease in the activity of methionine synthase which we also observed at 12 weeks of age. Remarkably the increase in BHMT activity that occurred with the RSG treatment was also accompanied by a reciprocal reduction in methionine synthase activity. This attempt to balance the rate of remethylation may also contribute towards the normalization of plasma Hcy but, without flux studies, firm conclusions cannot be drawn. Similar changes in the two enzymes have also been shown by Nieman *et al* (2004) in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats and are also a common occurrence in alcoholic liver diseases where a reduction in the activity of methionine synthase is accompanied by increased BHMT activity (Barak *et al*, 1996).

The significantly higher food intake seen in the ZDF fa/fa (untreated) rats and its normalization upon RSG treatment may also be responsible for some of the changes observed in this study as it is well established that diet plays a major role in the regulation of Hcy metabolism.

In conclusion, it is clear that the hormonal changes that are prevalent in insulinresistance and Type 2 diabetes act at several sites in the pathway of methionine metabolism. It would be interesting to further investigate the direct effects of RSG on BHMT activity as it will provide us with insight into the physiological functions of this remarkable enzyme.

# Chapter 6

# Type 2 Diabetes and vascular function: effects of Rosiglitazone

# 6.1 Background

The first evidence of the importance of the endothelium for vascular homeostasis was the discovery of the absolute necessity of an endothelial cell layer for acetylcholineinduced relaxation of rabbit aorta (Furchgott and Zawadzki, 1980). Since then endothelial dysfunction has been implicated in the pathophysiology of a number of forms of cardiovascular disease including hypertension, coronary artery disease, chronic heart failure, peripheral artery disease and chronic renal failure (Endemann and Schiffrin, 2004). Most often endothelial dysfunction in vitro has been described by a reduction in endothelium-dependent relaxation of vascular smooth muscle (Endemann and Schiffrin, 2004).

During the active manifestation of Type 1 and Type 2 diabetes, blood vessels have been reported to display the same *in vitro* characteristic of endothelial dysfunction as in cardiovascular diseases (De Vriese *et al*, 2000; Pannirselvam *et al*, 2003; Saenz *et al*, 1989; Johnston *et al*, 1993; Ting *et al*, 1996). In fact, insulin resistance prior to the development of Type 2 diabetes was found to be associated with endothelial dysfunction in blood vessels (Steinberg *et al*, 1996). Hyperglycemia *per se* has been suggested to be a major factor in the development of endothelial dysfunction in diabetes in both humans and animals (Williams *et al*, 1997, Triggle *et al*, 2003). One explanation of this endothelial dysfunction has been that an increased oxidative stress caused by hyperglycemia decreases the bioavailability of a co-factor of nitric oxide synthase 3 (endothelial NO synthase; eNOS), tetrahydrobiopterin. This leads to an uncoupling of the normal electron transfer to L-arginine during eNOS catalytic activity, which instead produces super oxide; NO is identified as the primary mediator of ACh-induced relaxation in large caliber blood vessels (Triggle *et al*, 2003).

HHcy has been identified as an independent risk factor for atherosclerosis; up to 40% of patients diagnosed with premature coronary artery and peripheral vascular disease and venous thrombosis have increased plasma homocysteine levels (Clarke *et al*, 1991, den Heijer *et al*, 1996, Selhub *et al*, 1995). Homocysteine has also been shown to cause endothelial dysfunction and apoptotic cell death in endothelial cells (Hossaine *et al*, 2003, Zhang *et al*, 2001) as well as smooth muscle cells (Buemi *et al*, 2001). In apolipoprotein E (apo E)-deficient mice, the induction of hyperhomocysteinemia either by dietary or genetic means was shown to accelerate atherosclerosis (Zhou *et al*, 2001). Likewise a reduction of plasma Hcy with folic acid or a combination of B vitamins in these animals was shown to attenuate the development of atherosclerosis, and thus, implicated Hcy as being a causative agent (Zhou *et al*, 2003, Hofmann *et al*, 2001). The mechanism by which Hcy causes endothelial dysfunction has not been fully elucidated. A mechanism involving oxidative stress-induced reduction in the bioavailability of NO has been proposed for endothelial dysfunction associated with hyperglycemia, and may mediate some of the effects of Hcy-induced endothelial dysfunction (Faraci and Lentz, 2004).

In Chapter 3 we found that plasma Hcy levels were actually decreased in both insulin resistant (6 weeks of age ZDF fa/fa) and diabetic rats (12 weeks of age ZDF fa/fa). The purpose of this study was to determine if arteries from these rats exhibited *in vitro* characteristics of endothelial dysfunction in spite of the reduced plasma levels of Hcy. We hypothesized that if either hyperinsulinemia alone or hyperglycemia was sufficient to produce endothelial dysfunction then the arteries of ZDF fa/fa rats would exhibit less

endothelium-dependent relaxation of vascular smooth muscle than the untreated ZDF fa/+ rats in an age-dependent manner. Furthermore we expected that arteries from rosiglitazone-treated diabetic rats would be protected from such vascular dysfunction because the mechanism of action for this agonist of peroxisome-proliferator activated receptor gamma (PPAR- $\gamma$ ) includes an apparent ability to reduce oxidative stress along with normalization of plasma insulin and glucagon.

# 6.2 Results

## **6.2.1 Contractile function of arteries from ZDF rats**

Contractions induced by 120 mM KCl were used to assess the viability of arteries from ZDF fa/+ and ZDF fa/fa rats. These KCl-induced increases in isometric tension were not different between these strains at 6, 12 and 18 weeks (Table 6.1). Likewise, KClinduced contractions of arteries from RSG-treated rats were not different than untreated rats of each strain at 12 and 18 weeks of age (Table 6.1). Contractions of arteries induced by the  $\alpha_1$ -adrenoreceptor agonist cirazoline were not significantly different between groups at 6, 12 and 18 weeks of age (Table 6.2, Fig. 6.1). The cirazoline-induced contractions of arteries from RSG-treated rats were not different from the contractions of arteries from RSG-treated rats were not different from the contractions of arteries from untreated rats of each strain at 12 and 18 weeks of age (Table 6.2, Fig. 6.1). Table. 6.1 Contractile responses of ZDF rat arteries induced by high extracellular concentration of KCl

Age (weeks)		6	12				12 18				
Strain	ZDF fa/+	ZDF fa/fa	ZDF	ZDF fa/+ ZDF fa/fa		fa/fa	ZDf	fa/+	ZDF fa/fa		
Treatment	Untreated	Untreated	Untreated	RSG	Untreated	RSG	Untreated	RSG	Untreated	RSG	
Contraction (mN)	$6.5 \pm 0.6$	$6.7 \pm 0.7$	$10.0 \pm 0.4$	9.6±0.6	9.0 ± 0.6	8.2 ± 0.6	$10.4 \pm 0.4$	8.7 ± 1.1	7.9 ± 1.1	10.6 ± 1.5	

182

Rings of rat mesenteric arteries (2 mm lengths) were mounted in myograph chambers under isometric tension conditions using a resting baseline tension of 2.5 mN. Contractile activity was measured by the increase in force above resting tension caused by the application of high concentration of KCl (120 mM) to each artery. Data are means  $\pm$  SEM (n = 4 for each group) and were analyzed separately within each age category. Student's unpaired t-test was used to compare artery responses of rat strains at 6 weeks of age. 2-way ANOVA was used to determine the effects of strain, treatment and interaction of strain with treatment at 12 and 18 weeks of age and was followed by 1-way ANOVA with Newman-Keuls post-hoc test for multiple comparisons of groups within each age category. *P*>0.05, all statistical comparisons.

Table 6.2 Maximal contractile effect and potency for the  $\alpha_1$ -adrenoreceptor agonist cirazoline in mesenteric arteries of untreated and RSG-treated ZDF rats at 6, 12 and 18 weeks of age.

Age (weeks)		6	12					1	18	
Strain	ZDF fa/+	ZDF fa/fa	ZDF	ZDF fa/+ ZDF		' fa/fa	ZDf fa/+		ZDF fa/fa	
Treatment	Untreated	Untreated	Untreated	RSG	Untreated	RSG	Untreated	RSG	Untreated	RSG
E <sub>max</sub> (%)	197 ± 5	211 ± 13	168 ± 7	$173 \pm 9$	188 ± 12	$206 \pm 24$	176 ± 23	175 ± 12	211 ± 17	167 ± 7
log EC <sub>50</sub>	-7.5 ± 0.1	-7.7 ± 0.2	-7.5 ± 0.1	-7.6 ± 0.1	$-7.5 \pm 0.1$	$-7.6 \pm 0.2$	$-8.1 \pm 0.6$	$-7.9 \pm 0.3$	-8.1 ± 0.4	-8.1 ± 0.2

 $E_{max}$  values represent contractile responses standardized to % of contraction responses-induced by 120 mM KCl (see Table 6.1). Data are means ± SEM (n = 4 for each group) and were analyzed separately within each age category. Student's unpaired t test was used to compare artery response of rat strains at 6 weeks of age. 2-way ANOVA was used to determine the effects of strain, treatment and interactions at 12 and 18 weeks of age and was followed by 1-way ANOVA Newman-Keuls post hoc test for multiple comparisons of groups within each age category. P > 0.05, all statistical comparisons.

183

Figure 6.1. Cumulative concentration-contraction response relationships for the  $\alpha_1$ adrenoreceptor agonist cirazoline in mesenteric arteries of RSG-treated and untreated ZDF rats at 6, 12 and 18 weeks of age.

# A. 6 weeks



B. 12 weeks



C. 18 weeks





# 6.2.2 Acetylcholine-induced Endothelial function of the small mesenteric arteries from ZDF rats

# 6.2.2.1 Acetylcholine-induced relaxations

Acetylcholine (ACh)-induced relaxations of arteries from ZDF fa/fa rats were not different than relaxations of arteries from ZDF fa/+ rats at 6, 12 and 18 weeks of age (Fig 6.2, Table 6.3). These ACh-induced relaxations were not different between RSG-treated and untreated rats of each strain at 12 and 18 weeks of age (Fig 6.2, Table 6.3).

The NO synthases inhibitor L-NAME (300  $\mu$ M), was able to significantly reduce the ACh-induced relaxation at all ages (Fig 6.2). Arteries from 12 weeks old ZDF fa/+ (untreated) and ZDF fa/fa (untreated) were reduced by ~18 % and ~ 29 %, respectively, relative to the relaxation caused by Ach in the absence of L-NAME. The relaxation of arteries from ZDF fa/+ (RSG) and ZDF fa/fa (RSG) rats were reduced by ~39 % and 51 % respectively. At 18 weeks of age, L-NAME treatment of arteries from ZDF fa/+ (untreated) and ZDF fa/fa (untreated) rats reduced ACh-induced relaxations by ~ 32 % and ~ 39 %, respectively, relative to relaxation caused by Ach alone. The reduction seen in the ZDF fa/+ (RSG) and ZDF fa/fa (RSG) rats was ~ 56% and ~45 % respectively. However, ACh-induced relaxations of L-NAME-treated arteries from ZDF fa/+ and ZDF fa/fa rats were not statistically different than arteries that were not treated with L-NAME at 6 weeks of age (Table 6.4, Fig 6.2).

In the presence of the cyclooxygenases inhibitor indomethacin (10  $\mu$ M) plus the presence of L-NAME (300  $\mu$ M), ACh-induced relaxations of ZDf fa/+ (untreated), ZDF fa/fa (untreated), ZDF fa/+ (RSG) and ZDF fa/fa (RSG) rats were reduced by ~ 66 %, ~ 55 %, ~ 64 % and ~ 72 % respectively, relative to Ach alone at 12 weeks of age. This
combination of indomethacin + L-NAME reduced ACh-induced relaxations of arteries from ZDF fa/+ (untreated), ZDF fa/fa (untreated), ZDF fa/+ (RSG) and ZDF fa/fa (RSG) by ~ 66 %, ~66 %, ~ 85% and ~69% respectively, relative to Ach alone at 18 weeks of age (Table 6.4, Fig 6.3).

Combined treatment of arteries from ZDF fa/+ and ZDF fa/fa rats with IK<sub>Ca</sub> inhibitor TRAM-34 (10  $\mu$ mole/liter) plus L-NAME (300  $\mu$ mole/liter) reduced AChinduced relaxations by ~ 91%, ~85 %, ~91% and ~88% respectively for ZDF fa/+ (untreated), ZDF fa/fa (untreated), ZDF fa/+ (RSG) and ZDF fa/fa (RSG), respectively, relative to Ach induced relaxation in the absence of any inhibitors at 12 weeks of age. This combination of TRAM-34 and L-NAME reduced ACh-induced relaxations of arteries from ZDF fa/+ (untreated) and ZDF fa/fa (untreated) by ~ 81 % and ~ 66 %, respectively, and ZDF fa/+ (RSG) and ZDF fa/fa (RSG) by ~89% and ~78% respectively relative to Ach alone at 18 weeks of age (Table 6.4, Fig 6.3).

In the presence of the combination of  $SK_{Ca}$  inhibitor apamin (1 µmole/liter) + TRAM-34 (10 µmole/liter) + L-NAME (300 µmole/liter), ACh-induced relaxations of arteries from ZDF fa/+ (untreated) and ZDF fa/fa (untreated) rats were reduced by ~ 74 % and ~ 92 %, respectively, relative to Ach alone at 12 weeks of age. The reduction seen in the ZDF fa/+ (RSG) and ZDF fa/fa (RSG) rats were ~91% and ~93% respectively. The combination of apamin + TRAM-34 + L-NAME reduced ACh-induced relaxations of arteries from ZDF fa/+ (untreated), ZDF fa/fa (untreated), ZDF fa/+ (RSG) ZDF fa/fa (RSG) rats by ~84 %, ~ 78 %, ~98% and ~90% respectively, relative to Ach alone at 18 weeks of age (Table 6.4, Fig 6.3).

Table 6.3. Maximum relaxation effect and potency of acetylcholine on cirazoline-contracted mesenteric arteries of untreated and RSG-treated ZDF rats.

Age (weeks)		б		1	2		18				
Strain	ZDF fa/+	ZDF fa/fa	ZDF fa/+		ZDF fa/fa		ZDf fa/+		ZDF fa/fa		
Treatment	Untreated	Untreated	Untreated	RSG	Untreated	RSG	Untreated	RSG	Untreated	RSG	
E <sub>max</sub> (%)	59 ± 7	$60 \pm 13$	74 ± 4	80 ± 5	85 ± 4	86 ± 1	74 ± 6	84 ± 2	$68 \pm 15$	86 ± 2	
log EC <sub>50</sub>	$-7.0 \pm 0.2$	-7.1 ± 0.2	$-9.0 \pm 0.5$	$-8.3 \pm 0.2$	$-8.2 \pm 0.2$	-8.3 ± 0.1	$-7.4 \pm 0.3$	-7.4 ± 0.1	-7.6 ± 0.3	-7.8 ± 0.1	

 $E_{max}$  values represent % relaxation responses standardized by the reversal of cirazoline-induced submaximal contraction (100 % relaxation = complete reversal of contraction). Data are means ± SEM (n = 4 for each group) and were analyzed separately within each age category. Student's unpaired t test was used to compare artery response of rat strains at 6 weeks of age. 2-way ANOVA was used to determine the effects of strain, treatment and interactions at 12 and 18 weeks of age and was followed by 1-way ANOVA with Newman-Keuls post hoc test for multiple comparisons of groups within each age category. P > 0.05, compared to untreated for all comparisons.

Figure 6.2: Effects of L-NAME on cumulative concentration-relaxation response relationships for acetylcholine in small mesenteric arteries of untreated and RSGtreated ZDF rats at 6, 12 and 18 weeks of age



# B. 12 weeks



C. 18 weeks









F. 18 weeks (+ L-NAME)



**Table 6.4.** Maximum ACh-induced relaxations of cirazoline-contracted mesenteric arteries from ZDF fa/+ and ZDF fa/fa rats in the presence of various combinations of inhibitors of NO synthases, cyclooxygenases,  $IK_{Ca}$  and  $SK_{Ca}$ .

Age (weeks)	6				12		18			
Strain	train ZDF fa/+ ZDF t		ZDF fa/+		ZDF fa/fa		ZDF fa/+		ZDF fa/fa	
Treatment	Untreated	Untreated	Untreated	RSG	Untreated	RSG	Untreated	RSG	Untreated	RSG
L-NAME	$42 \pm 14$	38 ± 17	61 ± 8	$49 \pm 3$	$60 \pm 11$	42 ± 9	50 ± 22	$37 \pm 6$	41 ± 17	$47 \pm 9$
L-NAME + Indomethacin	-	-	25 ± 8*	$29 \pm 4*$	38±11*	24 ± 9*	25 ± 11*	13 ± 5*	23 ± 9*	27 ± 6*
L-NAME + TRAM-34	-	-	7 ± 2*‡	7 ± 6*‡	13 ± 8*‡	10 ± 3*‡	14 ± 7*	9 ± 7*	$23 \pm 5^{*}$	19 ± 10*
L-NAME + TRAM-34 + Apamin	-	-	19 ± 7*‡	7 ± 4*‡	7 ± 2*‡	6 ± 1*‡	12 ± 8*‡	2 ± 2*‡	15 ± 4*‡	9±6*‡

Rings of mesenteric arteries from ZDF rats were treated with various combinations of inhibitors of NO synthase (L-NAME), COX 1/2 (indomethacin), IK<sub>Ca</sub> (TRAM-34) and SK<sub>Ca</sub> (apamin) prior to obtaining ACh-induced relaxation responses of cirazoline-contracted tissues. These data were obtained during the same experiments described for the arteries in Table 6.2, but are presented separately. Data are presented as mean  $\pm$  SEM (n = 4 for each experimental group) and were analyzed using 2-way ANOVA followed by 1-way ANOVA and Newman-Keuls post hoc test for multiple comparisons between groups. \* P<0.05, compared to L-NAME treated arteries.  $\ddagger$  P<0.05, compared to treatment with L-NAME + Indomethacin. A dash symbol indicates that the experimental group was not completed.

191

Figure 6.3. ACh-induced relaxations of mesenteric arteries from untreated and RSG-treated ZDF rats in the presence of L-NAME + indomethacin (A and D), L-NAME + TRAM-34 (B and E) and L-NAME + TRAM-34 + Apamin (C and F) at 12 and 18 weeks of age.

# A. 12 weeks



B. 12 weeks



C. 12 weeks



D. 18 weeks



# E. 18 weeks







### **6.2.3 SNP-induced relaxations**

SNP-induced relaxation of arteries from untreated ZDF fa/fa rats was not significantly different than relaxation of arteries from untreated ZDF fa/+ rats at 6, 12 and 18 weeks of age (Table 6.5, Fig 6.4). However, SNP-induced relaxations of arteries from RSG-treated ZDF fa/+ and RSG-treated ZDF fa/fa rats, were increased by ~100 % and ~50 %, respectively, relative to the untreated rats at 12 weeks of age (Table 6.5, Fig. 6.4). Likewise SNP-induced relaxations of arteries from RSG-treated ZDF fa/+ and RSG-treated rats at 12 weeks of age (Table 6.5, Fig. 6.4). Likewise SNP-induced relaxations of arteries from RSG-treated ZDF fa/+ and RSG-treated ZDF fa/a rats, were increased by ~100 %, respectively, relative to untreated rats at 12 weeks of age.

In the presence of the NO synthase inhibitor L-NAME (300  $\mu$ mole/liter) (Table 6.6, Fig 6.4) SNP-induced relaxations of arteries from the untreated ZDF fa/+ and ZDF fa/fa rats increased by ~80% and 67%, respectively, relative to arteries that were not treated with L-NAME at 12 weeks of age. L-NAME treatment of arteries from untreated ZDF fa/+ and ZDF fa/fa increased SNP-induced relaxation by ~136 % and ~123 %, respectively, relative to relaxation caused by SNP alone at 18 weeks of age.

SNP-induced relaxations of L-NAME-treated arteries from RSG-treated ZDF fa/+ rats increased by  $\sim$ 5% and  $\sim$ 32% respectively from the relaxation caused by SNP alone at 12 and 18 weeks of age. SNP-induced relaxations of L-NAME treated arteries from RSG-treated ZDF fa/fa rats increased by  $\sim$ 38% from the relaxation seen in the absence of L-NAME at both 12 and 18 weeks of age.

 Table 6.5. Maximum relaxation responses and potency for SNP in cirazoline-contracted mesenteric arteries of untreated and

 RSG-treated ZDF rats.

Age (weeks)		6		1	2		18				
Strain	ZDF fa/+	ZDF fa/fa	ZDF fa/+		ZDF fa/fa		ZDf fa/+		ZDF fa/fa		
Treatment	Untreated	Untreated	Untreated	RSG	Untreated	RSG	Untreated	RSG	Untreated	RSG	
E <sub>max</sub> (%)	67 ± 11	54 ± 14	38 ± 5	78 ± 8*	43 ± 8	65 ± 6*	33.±7	48 ± 7*	26 ± 9	53 ± 6*	
log EC <sub>50</sub>	-6.3 ± 0.5	$-6.2 \pm 0.4$	$-7.1 \pm 0.2$	$-6.7 \pm 0.2$	-7.4 ± 0.5	$-6.7 \pm 0.2$	$-7.0 \pm 0.5$	$-7.4 \pm 0.4$	-6.2 ± 1.7	$-6.0 \pm 0.4$	

Data are means  $\pm$  SEM (n = 4 for each group) and were analyzed separately within each age category. Student's unpaired t test was used to compare artery responses of the rat strains at 6 weeks of age. 2-way ANOVA was used to determine the effects of strain, treatment and the interaction of strain with treatment at 12 and 18 weeks of age. 1-way ANOVA with Newman-Keuls post hoc test was used for multiple comparisons of groups within each age category. \* P<0.05, compared to untreated rat.

Figure 6.4. Effects of L-NAME on cumulative concentration-relaxation response relationships for sodium nitroprusside (SNP) in mesenteric arteries of untreated and RSG-treated ZDF rats at 6, 12 and 18 weeks of age.

A. 6 weeks



B. 12 weeks



C. 18 weeks



D. 12 weeks (+ L-NAME)



E. 18 weeks (+ L-NAME)



197

**Table 6.6.** Maximum SNP-induced relaxations of cirazoline-contracted mesenteric arteries from untreated and RSG-treated ZDF rats in the presence of the inhibitor of NO synthases L-NAME (300 µmole/liter).

Age (weeks)		1	2	18					
Strain	ZDF fa/+		ZDF fa/fa		ZDf fa/+		ZDF fa/fa		
Treatment	Untreated	RSG	Untreated	RSG	Untreated	RSG	Untreated	RSG	
E <sub>max</sub> %	68 ± 8	82 ± 7*	72 ± 3	86 ± 2*	78 ± 7	$66 \pm 5$	58 ± 7	73 ± 5	
log EC <sub>50</sub>	$-6.9 \pm 0.4$	-7.1 ± 0.3	$-7.2 \pm 0.2$	$-6.8 \pm 0.2$	$-7.2 \pm 0.3$	-6.7 ± 0.5	-6.6 ± 0.4	$-6.9 \pm 0.2$	

198

These data were obtained in the same experiments described in Table 6.5. To make the presentation of data more clear, L-NAME treated arteries have been separated from the arteries represented in Table 6.5.  $E_{max}$  values represent % relaxation responses standardized by the reversal of cirazoline-induced sub-maximal contraction (100 % relaxation = complete reversal of contraction). Data are means ± SEM (n = 4 for each group) and were analyzed separately within each age category. 2-way ANOVA was used to determine the effects of strain, treatment and interactions and was followed by 1-way ANOVA with Newman-Keuls post-hoc test for multiple comparisons of groups. Group analyses included the data from Table 6.5. \* P < 0.05, compared to untreated rats.

### 6.2.4 PAR2 agonist-induced relaxations

The relaxation responses of arteries to PAR2 activation were tested with the potent PAR2 agonist 2-furoyl-LIGRLO-amide (2fli) (McGuire *et al*, 2004). 2fli-induced relaxations of arteries from ZDF fa/fa rats were not different than relaxations of arteries from ZDF fa/fa rats of age (Fig 6.7, Table 6.5). These 2fli-induced relaxations were not different between RSG-treated and untreated rats of each strain at 12 and 18 weeks of age (Table 6.7, Fig. 6.5).

In the presence of the NO synthases inhibitor L-NAME (300  $\mu$ mole/liter), 2fliinduced relaxations of arteries from untreated and RSG-treated ZDF fa/+ rats were reduced by ~16 % and ~30 %, respectively, relative to 2-fli alone at 12 weeks of age. This treatment with L-NAME reduced 2fli-induced relaxations of arteries from untreated and RSG-treated ZDF fa/fa by ~22 % and ~55 %, respectively, relative to 2-fli alone at 12 weeks of age (Fig. 6.5).

In the presence of the NO synthase inhibitor L-NAME (300  $\mu$ mole/liter), 2fliinduced relaxations of arteries from untreated and RSG-treated ZDF fa/+ were reduced by ~30 % and ~66 %, respectively, relative to 2-fli alone at 18 weeks of age. This treatment with L-NAME reduced 2fli-induced relaxations of arteries from untreated and RSGtreated ZDF fa/fa by ~24 % and ~25 %, respectively, relative to 2-fli alone at 18 weeks of age (Fig. 6.5).

# 6.2.5 Arachidonic acid induced relaxations

The relaxation responses of arteries to treatment with arachidonic acid were tested. Arachidonic acid-induced relaxations of arteries from ZDF fa/fa rats were not

 Table 6.7. Maximum relaxation responses and potency for 2fli in cirazoline-contracted mesenteric arteries of untreated- and RSG-treated ZDF rats.

Age (weeks		6		12	18					
Strain	ZDF fa/+	ZDF fa/fa	ZDF fa/+		ZDF fa/fa		ZDf fa/+		ZDF fa/fa	
Treatment	Untreated	Untreated	Untreated	RSG	Untreated	RSG	Untreated	RSG	Untreated	RSG
E <sub>max</sub> %	81 ± 6	82 ± 6	81 ± 6	82 ± 2	83 ± 4	87 ± 3	78 ± 5	83 ± 4	$73 \pm 11$	80 ± 5
log EC <sub>50</sub>	$-7.1 \pm 0.1$	-7.1 ± 0.1						<b></b>		

 $E_{max}$  values represent % relaxation responses standardized by the reversal of cirazoline-induced sub-maximal contraction (100 % relaxation = complete reversal of contraction). Data are means  $\pm$  SEM (n = 4 for each group) and were analyzed separately within each age category. Student's unpaired t test was used to compare artery response of rat strains at 6 weeks of age. 2-way ANOVA was used to determine the effects of strain, treatment and interactions at 12 and 18 weeks of age and was followed by 1-way ANOVA for multiple comparisons of groups within each age category. P > 0.05, compared to untreated for all comparisons. ---- indicates that the values could not be determined from the concentration-response relationships.

Figure 6.5. Effects of L-NAME on cumulative concentration-relaxation response relationships for PAR2 agonist 2fli in mesenteric arteries of untreated and RSG-treated ZDF rats at 6, 12 and 18 weeks of age.



B. 12 weeks



C. 18 weeks



D. 12 weeks (+ L-NAME)



E. 18 weeks (+ L-NAME)



202

different than relaxations of arteries from ZDF fa/+ rats at 6, 12 and 18 weeks of age (Fig 6.8, Table 6.6). These arachidonic acid-induced relaxations were not different between RSG-treated and untreated rats of each strain at 12 and 18 weeks of age (Table 6.8, Fig. 6.6).

# 6.3 Discussion

# **6.3.1 General Findings**

The primary purpose of this study was to assess the arteries from insulin resistantnon-diabetic ZDF and diabetic ZDF rats for evidence of endothelial dysfunction in spite of low plasma levels of Hcy in these animals. In insulin-resistant ZDF fa/fa rats (6 weeks old) and fully diabetic ZDF fa/fa rats (12 and 18 weeks old), the endothelial-dependent relaxations of arteries by ACh and 2fli were found to be equivalent to those observed in age-matched untreated ZDF fa/+ rats. These endothelium-dependent relaxations were similar to those observed in age-matched RSG-treated ZDF fa/fa rats, whose plasma Hcy levels were brought towards normal by the RSG treatment. Thus, we did not find any evidence of endothelial dysfunction in small caliber arteries from ZDF fa/fa rats at either low or relatively normalized plasma levels of Hcy. These results suggest that the presence of insulin-resistance alone or hyperglycemia alone is not sufficient to produce endothelial dysfunction, which may require additional factors including those associated with the presence of HHcy.

 Table 6.8. Maximum relaxation responses and potency for arachidonic acid in cirazoline-contracted mesenteric arteries of untreated and RSG-treated ZDF rats.

Age (weeks)		6	12				18				
Strain	ZDF fa/+	ZDF fa/fa	ZDF fa/+		ZDF fa/fa		ZDf fa/+		ZDF fa/fa		
Treatment	Untreated	Untreated	Untreated	RSG	Untreated	RSG	Untreated	RSG	Untreated	RSG	
E <sub>max</sub> %	83 ± 9	91 ± 2	83 ± 3	73 ± 5	70 ± 7	$75\pm 6$	$60 \pm 7$	68 ± 9	71 ± 7	75 ± 4	
log EC <sub>50</sub>	$-6.2 \pm 0.3$	-5.6 ± 0.2	$-5.9 \pm 0.2$	$-5.7 \pm 0.4$	$-6.2 \pm 0.5$	-5.5 ± 0.4	$-5.3 \pm 0.2$	$-5.3 \pm 0.1$	-5.1 ± 0.1	$-5.7 \pm 0.2$	

 $E_{max}$  values represent % relaxation responses standardized by the reversal of cirazoline-induced sub-maximal contraction (100 % relaxation = complete reversal of contraction). Data are means ± SEM (n = 4 for each group) and were analyzed separately within each age category. Student's unpaired t test was used to compare artery response of rat strains at 6 weeks of age. 2-way ANOVA was used to determine the effects of strain, treatment and interactions at 12 and 18 weeks of age and was followed by 1-way ANOVA with Newman-Keuls post-hoc test for multiple comparisons of groups within each age category. P > 0.05, compared to untreated for all comparisons.

Figure 6.6. Cumulative concentration-relaxation response relationships for arachidonic acid Na Salt in small mesenteric arteries of untreated and RSG-treated ZDF rats at 6, 12 and 18 weeks of age.

A. 6 weeks



B. 12 weeks



C. 18 weeks



# 6.3.2 Relaxations by ACh

The present study did not find any differences between the relaxations to ACh of small mesenteric arteries of the groups studied at any of the ages. These data do not support previous findings of general age-dependent development of endothelial dysfunction of arteries in the ZDF fa/fa rat. Brodsky et al (2004) and Oltman et al. (2006) have reported that Ach-induced relaxations of aortic rings from ZDF fa/fa rats were reduced relative to controls. In contrast to these studies, our study used primarily small caliber arteries. Oltman et al. (2005, 2006) reported that Ach-induced vasodilation of pressurized mesenteric arteries, epineurial arterioles and coronary arteries from hyperglycemic ZDF fa/fa rats were reduced relative to age-matched ZDF-lean (+/?) rats. Nevertheless, a negative finding relating to endothelial dysfunction which was similar to ours has been reported in small caliber arteries. Bohlen and Lash (1995) reported that vasodilations in the intestinal microvasculature of both 22-25 and 35-40 weeks old ZDF fa/fa rats were similar to lean littermates. Based on these studies, some types of arteries from ZDF fa/fa rats have appeared to display characteristics of endothelial dysfunction, while some have not. When our results have been included with these studies however, the data appear to favor a conclusion that ACh-induced relaxations of mesenteric arteries from ZDF fa/fa rats are not impaired.

# 6.3.2.1 Mechanisms of ACh relaxations:

Previous studies with ZDF fa/fa rats reported a loss of ACh-mediated endothelium-dependent hyperpolarization of mesenteric smooth muscle as characteristic of endothelial dysfunction (Burnham *et al.*, 2006a, 2006b). Whereas the L-arginine-nitric

oxide pathway is recognized as the major vasodilator pathway in response to ACh in large caliber arteries, other mechanisms collectively referred to as EDHFs (endotheliumderived hyperpolarization factors) cause vasorelaxation in small caliber arteries (McGuire et al, 2001). Indeed this distinction was evident by the inability of the NOS inhibitor, L-NAME to completely abolish vasorelaxation in response to ACh, since arteries were still able to display a considerable relaxation in the presence of L-NAME. We therefore, conducted further inhibitor studies based on similar studies with rat mesenteric arteries to identify the possible alternative mechanisms responsible for this vasodilatory process; primarily, COX-1/2 products (indomethacin) and Ca<sup>2+</sup>-activated K-channels (TRAM-34 and apamin). Our results showed that both COX and the Kca channels were involved in NOS independent vasorelaxation as seen by the reductions in relaxation in the presence of their respective inhibitors. Kca channels have been shown to play an essential role in the actions of EDHF (McGuire et al., 2001 for review). This was also evident in the present study as inhibition of the Kca channels clearly had a greater effect on vasorelaxation than inhibition of COX. In contrast to the observations by Burnham et al., (2006a, 2006b) of reduced ACh-induced membrane hyperpolarisations, the current isometric tension data failed to give any indication of a reduction in either NO or EDHF vasodilation mechanisms, which would have been taken as evidence for the presence of endothelial dysfunction in this model. However, it is possible that those observations by Burnham et al (2006a, 2006b) do not translate to functional deficiencies in vascular smooth muscle relaxation.

# 6.3.3 Relaxations by PAR2 agonist

In support of the data obtained using ACh, maximal relaxation of mesenteric arteries by activation of endothelial Proteinase-Activated Receptor 2 (PAR2; G protein coupled receptor 11) in ZDF fa/fa rats was not different than in the non diabetic rats. This is the first study to describe the effects of PAR2 activation in the ZDF fa/fa rat. PAR2 is an endothelial receptor whose activation either after the proteolytic cleavage of its Nterminus by several trypsin-like serine proteinases or sans enzyme, by specific activating peptides which mimic the proteolytic activation, causes vascular smooth muscle relaxation (Hollenberg and Compton, 2002). 2fli has been shown to be the most potent and selective activating peptide agonist for PAR2 (McGuire et al., 2004). Nevertheless we interpret these results with some caution because it would appear from the cumulative concentration-response relationships to PAR2 agonist that there was in fact an increase in sensitivity to 2fli for ZDF fa/fa rats after 6 weeks of age. PAR-2 expression has been shown to increase during stress to the vasculature and also in the presence of various cytokines and pro-inflammatory substances (McGuire, 2004). Increased PAR2 expression may be considered consistent with displayed increases in pro-inflammatory substances in the ZDF rat model also (Hotamisligil *et al*, 1993). Similarly, in non-obese diabetic (NOD) mice, a model of Type 1 diabetes, high or severe glycosuria was shown to provoke an increase in the vasodilatory response to PAR2 stimulation (Roviezzo et al. 2005). Notwithstanding these observations, an increased sensitivity to 2fli-induced vasodilation could indicate any number of upregulations involving signal transduction of PAR2. PAR2 vasodilator response in small caliber arteries is reported to be mediated by endotheliumdependent hyperpolarization of vascular smooth muscle via  $Ca^{2+}$ -activated K<sup>+</sup> channels in

mice and rats (McGuire, 2004; McGuire et al, 2002a, 2004a, 2004b). In large caliber arteries NO is reported to mediate the vascular smooth muscle relaxation responses in humans, rats and mice (McGuire et al, 2002b; McGuire, 2004). Our current results were consistent with these former observations since inhibition of NOS by L-NAME resulted only in a partial inhibition of the response to 2fli. Together these data obtained with a PAR2 agonist are consistent with our conclusions that no dysfunction of endothelial vasodilator function by either NO mediated or EDHF mediated mechanisms was observed.

# 6.3.4 Relaxations by Arachidonic-Acid

We did not observe any differences in the vasorelaxation in response to exogenous application of AA in any of the groups of mesenteric arteries. These results are not consistent with the general results of 2 previous studies. In the first study it was reported that dilation of small mesenteric arteries by exogenous application of arachidonic acid appeared to be impaired in ZDF fa/fa rats (Zhou *et al.* 2005). Arachidonic acid is an important endogenous precursor of vasoactive eicosanoids and is converted to vasoactive mediators via three major enzymatic pathways; lipoxygenase (LOX), cytochrome P450 epoxygenase and cyclooxygenase (COX). The products formed by these pathways are important regulators of vasoreactivity with the cytochrome P450 pathway being responsible for AA mediated dilation of human coronary arterioles (Miura and Gutterman, 1998) while the LOX pathway is responsible for dilation of rat mesenteric arteries (Miller *et al*, 2003). Zhou *et al* (2005) identified a reduction of 12-lipoxygenase protein and activity as the cause of impairment. In a second study, dilation of small

coronary arteries of ZDF rats was also shown to be impaired in response to exogenous application of AA and was associated with impairment of the activation of the large conductance  $Ca^{+2}$  activated K<sup>+</sup> channels due to reduced PGI<sub>2</sub> synthase activity (Lu *et al*, 2005). Aside from different arteries being used in the second study, in both of the above mentioned studies, data were obtained from ZDF rats after ~ 4 weeks of hyperglycemia. This would make these rats approximately the same age as the 12 weeks old rats in the present study. We conclude that we could not reproduce the findings of these previous studies and that there was no evidence of a reduction in responsiveness to AA in the vascular smooth muscle of ZDF fa/fa rats.

# 6.3.5 Relaxations by SNP

The data obtained using SNP to cause relaxations did not provide any evidence of a reduction in vascular smooth muscle responsiveness to NO in arteries from ZDF fa/fa relative to arteries from ZDF fa/+ rats. However, both the ZDF fa/fa (untreated) and the ZDF fa/+ (untreated) rats showed a reduced relaxation responsiveness to SNP relative to these values reported in the literature (Zhou *et al*, 2005). Nonetheless, these data were consistent with previous studies which did not find any changes (Zhou *et al*, 2005).

# 6.3.6 Rosiglitazone effects on vascular function.

Rosiglitazone treatment *in vivo* failed to affect the relaxations of arteries from ZDF fa/+ and ZDF fa/fa rats by ACh, 2fli and AA relative to untreated animals. These data could be considered simply as being consistent with the lack of observed indicators for vascular dysfunction in our study of ZDF fa/fa rats. However, Walker *et al.* (1999) have reported

that RSG treatment was able to partially prevent the impairment of ACh induced relaxation in Zucker Fatty rats, a model of insulin resistance with hyperinsulinemia and normoglycemia. Ours is the first study to test the effects of RSG treatment on PAR2 and AA relaxations, but its implications are not clear to us. When SNP-induced relaxations were assessed in RSG-treated rats by way of assessing RSG action on vascular smooth muscle sensitivity to NO, we found that RSG treatment of rats enhanced SNP-induced maximum relaxations of arteries from all groups of rats. These enhanced SNP relaxations in arteries from RSG-treated rats at 12 weeks were similar to the relative values reported in untreated ZDF rats in other studies (Zhou et al, 2005). These data are consistent with a study which reported of improved endothelium-independent vasodilation in response to another NO donor, Nitroglycerine, in non-diabetic patients with the metabolic syndrome after treatment with RSG (Wang et al, 2004). SNP releases NO spontaneously and is independent of eNOS and thus, is able to bypass the requirement for the endothelium in causing vasorelaxation. Relaxation caused by SNP is regarded as endotheliumindependent, in contrast to the endothelium-dependent vasorelaxation caused by ACh. NO generated from SNP is thought to follow the same downstream mechanisms as endothelial-derived NO such as by ACh in the vascular smooth muscle cells of large arteries to cause vasorelaxation. Since the response of these arteries to ACh mediated NO vasodilation appears to be preserved we suggest that the effect of RSG was not due to an action on the downstream mediators of NO i.e. guanylyl cyclase and cyclic GMP. One can only speculate that somehow the RSG action enables an exogenous source of NO to cause vascular smooth muscle relaxation differently than endothelial derived NO. We

deemed this effect of RSG to at least indicate that the selected dose of RSG had indeed caused a change in vascular function that was detected and measurable by the assay.

NOS inhibition by L-NAME caused the same degree of block of relaxations by ACh and 2fli in arteries from RSG-treated rats relative to untreated rats. These results would appear to support the evidence for normal endothelial derived NO and EDHF in the arteries from ZDF fa/fa rats. To our knowledge the effects of RSG treatment on AChinduced EDHF relaxations have not been reported earlier. L-NAME treatment enhanced the relaxations by SNP of arteries from all groups of rats tested at both 12 and 18 weeks except for the already extra responsive arteries from rosiglitazone-treated ZDF fa/+ rats. L-NAME treatment of arteries has been known for some time to enhance SNP-induced relaxations (Moncada et al. 1991). The leading hypothesis remains that a decrease in the basal levels of cyclic GMP arising from eNOS inhibition (or physical removal of the endothelium) leads to greater fold-increases in cyclic GMP upon exogenous activation of soluble guanylyl cyclase (Moncada et al. 1991). The data did not inform us of any specific mechanistic explanation for the loss of this nitrovasodilator sensitization effect by L-NAME in RSG-treated ZDF fa/+ rats. We speculate that sensitization could have already been maximized prior to L-NAME treatment of arteries in these rats. This study did not have sufficient evidence to elucidate a possible mechanism, but has provided sufficient to warrant further investigation of this action of RSG treatment.

# 6.3.7 Hcy plasma levels, rosiglitazone, vascular function

ZDF fa/fa (untreated) rats had significantly lower plasma Hcy levels at all three ages which were studied. Lentz *et al* (2000) reported that relaxation of aortic rings in

response to acetylcholine did not differ in CBS<sup>+/+</sup> and CBS<sup>+/-</sup> mice fed a control diet, but greatly differed between the 2 groups when fed a folate-deficient diet with the relaxation being markedly impaired in CBS <sup>+/-</sup> mice. Plasma Hcy did not differ between the two groups on the control diet, but was greatly elevated in the CBS <sup>+/-</sup> mice on the folate deficient diet. These results would support the notion that plasma Hcy was a determinant of vascular relaxation. Diabetic hyperglycemia is also described as a causative determinant for the endothelial dysfunction observed in diabetes (Triggle et al, 2003). Initially it was simply thought that the reduction in Hcy that we observed in ZDF fa/fa rats may have been able to counterbalance the increase in plasma glucose and thus, normalized net endothelial function in the present study. This interpretation would be consistent with the data obtained in the ZDF rats studied by Bohlen and Lash (1995) which also displayed hyperglycemia despite their normal response to ACh. However, RSG treatment of ZDF fa/fa rats was able to normalize hyperglycemia while increasing the plasma Hcy level towards normal, but had no apparent effect on endothelialdependent relaxations relative to untreated rats. Therefore, it seems reasonable to conclude that hyperglycemia alone was not sufficient to produce endothelial dysfunction in the mesenteric arteries of ZDF fa/fa rats. We propose that elevation of plasma levels of homocysteine in this model would lead to endothelial dysfunction.

# 6.3.8 Impact of information regarding vascular function, homocysteine, hyperglycemia, diabetes.

In conclusion endothelium-dependent and -independent vasorelaxation were preserved during insulin resistance as well as during frank diabetes. The normalizing effects of RSG on plasma levels of glucose and Hcy and yet, its lack of enhancement effect on endothelial vasodilator function supports the idea that plasma Hcy may serve as a balance point for development of endothelial dysfunction in this model of Type 2 diabetes.

# Chapter 7

General Discussion and conclusions

Mild hyperhomocysteinemia has been identified as a risk factor for many diseases, including cardiovascular disease. A  $5\mu$ mol/liter increase in total plasma Hcy has been shown to be comparable to an increase in cholesterol of 0.5 mmol/liter, in increasing the risk of coronary artery disease.

Recently, however, uncertainty has arisen regarding the degree of risk associated with elevated plasma Hcy. This may be related to one form of Hcy being more important in causing vascular disease than total Hcy as well as to the specific location of Hcy (Stamm and Reynolds, 1999). It is also likely that the Type of cardiovascular disease is important. The recent Heart Outcome Prevention Evaluation (HOPE) 2 study, which used vitamin B therapy to reduce plasma Hcy found no beneficial effects on the risk of death from cardiovascular causes or myocardial infarction but there was a reduction in stroke incidence (Lonn *et al*, 2006). There are certain situations however, where the risk posed by elevated Hcy is undisputable. Type 2 diabetes in one of these and HHcy has been shown to be a stronger risk factor for cardiovascular disease and for mortality in Type 2 diabetic patients than in non-diabetics (Hogeveen *et al*, 1998).

The principal objective of our work was to identify the changes that occur in plasma Hcy in insulin resistance and Type 2 diabetes and to identify the metabolic steps that lead to these changes. For this, we used the leptin-receptor-defective Zucker Diabetic Fatty rats which are known to go through an initial insulin resistant phase before going on to develop frank Type 2 diabetes.

As discussed in Chapter 3 of this thesis, we were able to show that hormonal changes that occur in insulin resistance and Type 2 diabetes act at several points of the

methionine metabolic pathway leading to alterations in methionine and Hcy metabolism. Our study showed that, similar to what has been shown in Type 1 diabetic humans and rats, plasma total Hcy is reduced in insulin resistance as well as in Type 2 diabetes (Figure 3.1). We also saw that this reduction is brought about by increases in the transsulfuration as well as the remethylation routes of Hcy removal through increases in the activities of CBS, CGL and BHMT (Table 3.2). The increase in the transsulfuration enzymes did not come as a surprise as it has been demonstrated previously in glucagontreated as well as streptozotocin diabetic rats (Jacobs et al, 2001, Jacobs et al, 1998). Work in our lab has also shown the direct effect of insulin and glucagon on CBS expression (Ratnam et al, 2002). What was interesting and novel was the effect that betaine and BHMT had on determining plasma Hcy. We saw that BHMT activity and mRNA levels were increased in both the insulin resistant and diabetic stages with a concomitant reduction in hepatic betaine concentration. These data suggest that increased BHMT activity is driving the Hcy levels down and is depleting hepatic betaine stores. In support of these findings, Schwahn et al (2003) have previously shown a negative correlation between plasma betaine and plasma tHcy in humans while supplementation with betaine has been shown to reduce plasma Hcy (Steenge et al, 2003). Furthermore, the fact that BHMT was more active in ZDF fa/fa rats was further evident in the virtual elimination of Hcy export from isolated hepatocytes incubated with methionine and betaine compared to the significantly lowered effect betaine had on Hcy export from cells isolated from ZDF fa/? rats (Table3.5). The extraordinarily high level of hepatic betaine found in the young rats was another remarkable finding, the function of which we are currently exploring (Table 3.6).

We then went on to explore the changes that occur in amino acid metabolism in insulin resistance and Type 2 diabetes. We measured plasma, liver and skeletal muscle amino acid levels and also calculated the intracellular/extracellular concentration ratios for hepatic and skeletal muscle amino acids. Consistent with previous reports on Type 1 diabetic models (Bloxam, 1972, Brosnan et al, 1980, 1983) we observed a significant increase in plasma BCAA in both insulin resistant and diabetic stages (Table 4.1). Similar changes were seen in the liver and skeletal muscle with valine and leucine being increased in both tissues at 11 weeks while isoleucine and leucine showed increases in skeletal muscle at 5 weeks (Tables 4.2 and 4.4). The literature on the activity of the rate limiting step in the catabolism of BCAA, the branched chain  $\alpha$ -ketoacid dehydrogenase in diabetes is controversial with some studies showing a reduction (Gibson et al, 1993) and others showing increases (Lombardo et al, 1998, Li et al, 2001, Lombardo et al, 1999). However, it appears that increased proteolysis along with Hyperphagia could be the cause for this increase in BCAA, similar to what has been suggested for Type 1 diabetes (Rodriguez et al, 1997, Crandall and Fernstrom 1983). We were also able to provide strong evidence for a common metabolic regulation of these three amino acids, as shown by the almost perfect correlation between the plasma concentrations of the three amino acids (Figure 4.1).

A number of glucogenic amino acids showed decreased concentrations in plasma, liver and skeletal muscle in the ZDF fa/fa rats compared to ZDF fa/? rats (Tables 4.1, 4.2 and 4.4). This is consistent with their use as substrates for glucose synthesis in the ZDF fa/fa rats who have been shown to have defective suppression of hepatic glucose production and, therefore, an increased total glucose output (Fujimoto *et al*, 2004). The reduction of one glucogenic amino acid in particular, serine, stands out in the context of this thesis as our central focus is Hcy. We see reductions in the level of serine in all three tissues studied at both ages. Since serine is an essential substrate for the cystathionine  $\beta$ -synthase reaction, this reduction may somewhat limit Hcy removal through the transsulfuration pathway. Interestingly, although our in-vitro studies did show an increased activity of CBS we did not find a difference in the transsulfuration flux in the presence of methionine alone between the ZDF fa/fa and the ZDF fa/? rats at either age. This will further highlight the importance of the BHMT reaction in the removal of Hcy under insulin resistant and diabetic conditions.

The study on the effect of Rosiglitazone on Hcy metabolism was able to validate the conclusion made at the end of the first study that changes in the level of or the sensitivity towards insulin and its counter-regulatory hormones are responsible for the changes observed in Hcy metabolism in insulin resistance and diabetes. The restoration of insulin sensitivity by Rosiglitazone brought the reduced Hcy level towards normal but was unable to completely normalize it. Here again the changes that were observed in the activity of BHMT proved to be very interesting. Although, BHMT has been shown to be under the regulation of insulin and the counter-regulatory hormones (as is CBS), RSG treatment and the resulting increases in the sensitivity towards insulin did not provide us with the expected results. We saw that the increased activity of BHMT observed in the ZDF fa/fa rats were further increased by the RSG treatment rather than the expected normalization. An explanation for this phenomenon could be obtained from the involvement of BHMT in lipid and lipoprotein metabolism. The insulin resistance and diabetes in the ZDF rats is known to be lipogenic; indeed, the accumulation of fat in liver, muscle and pancreatic  $\beta$  cells is hypothesized to be pathogenic. RSG increases insulin sensitivity by causing adipocyte differentiation with increased FFA deposition in adipose tissue (Oakes *et al*, 2001). RSG therefore is able to lessen the accumulation of lipids in ectopic locations. The interesting involvement of BHMT in the PEMT pathway of PC synthesis, and therefore in VLDL secretion which needs to be increased to accomodate this relocation of FFA, may provide an explanation as to the increased activity of BHMT under the influence of RSG. The direct effect of RSG on BHMT activity as well as the possible role of betaine in VLDL secretion in the presence of RSG should be investigated in the future to gain a full understanding of the function of this enzyme.

Although the exact mechanism by which Hcy causes endothelial dysfunction has not been elucidated, hyperhomocysteinemia has been shown to be a causative agent for endothelial dysfunction (Hossaine *et al*, 2003) as well as atherosclerosis (Zhou *et al*, 2003). Diabetes mellitus and insulin resistance have also been shown to be associated with endothelial dysfunction. It was therefore very interesting to examine the effect of lowered plasma total Hcy on endothelial function in insulin resistance and diabetes.

The endothelium-dependent vasorelaxation was observed to be preserved in both insulin resistant and Type 2 diabetic rats as seen by the response of mesenteric arteries to acetylcholine, 2-fli and arachidonic acid. We speculate that the reduced Hcy levels may have been able to counterbalance the increase in plasma glucose in rescuing endothelial function especially in the diabetic stage.

In the face of this normal endothelium dependent vasorelaxation we were surprised to observe a defect in the endothelium independent vasorelaxation as seen by the response of mesenteric arteries to Na-Nitroprusside. Both groups of untreated rats (ZDF fa/fa and ZDF fa/+) were defective in their response to SNP with the RSG treated rats responding significantly better. However, in the presence of the NOS inhibitor L-NAME, the vessels isolated from the untreated rats were able to respond similar to the RSG treated vessels. This led us to consider that the defective response to SNP arose from a sensitization of the vessels to NO as iNOS is known to be up-regulated in the ZDF rats. The response of the RSG treated vessels also complements this notion as PPAR- $\gamma$  is a known anti-inflammatory agent with inhibition of the activation of iNOS as one of its functions.

In conclusion, our work was successful in demonstrating the importance of hormones in the regulation of Hcy metabolism. We saw that the changes in insulin and the counter-regulatory hormones that occur in insulin resistance and Type 2 diabetes were instrumental in lowering the plasma homocysteine level and that this was achieved through changes in the activity of several enzymes involved in methionine and Hcy metabolism. Specific attention was drawn by our work towards the enzyme BHMT which proved to be a multi-functional enzyme involved in both amino acid and lipid metabolism.

We were also able to describe the changes that occur in amino acid levels in plasma, skeletal muscle and the liver in insulin resistance and Type 2 diabetes. Finally, our work on endothelial function may indicate Hcy as an important determinant of cardiovascular function in diabetes.
References

.

Abbasi F, Facchini F, Humphreys MH, Reaven GM: Plasma homocysteine concentrations in healthy volunteers are not related to differences in insulin-mediated glucose disposal. *Atherosclerosis* 146:175-178, 1999

Abel ED, Peroni OD, Kim JK, Kim YB, Boss O, Hadro E, Minnemann T, Shulman GI, Kahn BB: Adipose-selective targeting of the GLUT 4 gene impairs insulin action in muscle and liver. *Nature* 409:729-733, 2001

Acton S, Rigotti A, Landschulz KT, Xu S, Hobbs HH, Krieger M: Identification of scavenger receptor SR-BI as a high density lipoprotein receptor. *Science* 271:460-461, 1996

Andersson A, Hultberg B, Brattstrom L, Isaksson A: Decreased serum homocysteine in pregnancy. *Eur J Clin Chem Clin Biochem*. 30:377-379, 1992

Araki A, Sako Y, Hideki I: Plasma homocysteine concentrations in Japanese patients with non insulin dependent diabetes mellitus: effect of parenteral methylcobalamine treatment. *Atherosclerosis* 103:149-157, 1993

Arnesen E, Refsum H, Bonaa KH, Ueland PM, Forde OH, Nordrehaug JE: Serum total homocysteine and coronary heart disease. *Int J Epidemiol* 24:704-709, 1995

Audelin MC, Genest J: Homocysteine and cardiovascular disease in diabetes mellitus. *Atherosclerosis* 159:497-511, 2001

Avila MA, Mingorance J, Martinez-Chantar ML, Casado M, Martin-Sanz P, Bosca L, Mato JM: Regulation of rat liver S-adenosylmethionine synthetase during septic shock: role of nitric oxide. *Hepatology* 25:391-396, 1997

Banerjee R: The Yin-Yang of cobalamin biochemistry. Chem Biol. 4:175-186, 1997

Barak AJ, Beckenhauer HC, Tuma DJ, Badakhsh S: Effects of prolonged ethanol feeding on methionine metabolism in rat liver. *Biochem Cell Biol* 65:230-233, 1987

Barak AJ, Beckenhauer HC, Junnila M, Tuma DJ: Dietary betaine promotes generation of hepatic S-adenosylmethionine and protects the liver from ethanolinduced fatty infiltration. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res* 17:552-555, 1993

Barak AJ, Beckenhauer HC, Tuma DJ: Betaine effects on hepatic methionine metabolism elicited by short term ethanol feeding. *Alcohol* 13:483-486, 1996

Bar-on H, Kidron M, Friedlander Y, Ben-Yehuda A, Selhub J, Rosenberg IH, Friedman G: Plasma total homocysteine levels in subjects with hyperinsulinemia. *J intern med* 247:287-294, 2000 Barroso I, Gurnell M, Crowley VE, Agostini M, Schwabe JW, Soos MA, Maslen GL, Williams TD, Lewis H, Schafer AJ Chatterjee VK, O'Rahilly S: Dominant negative mutations in human PPAR gamma associated with severe insulin resistance, diabetes mellitus and hypertension. *Nature* 402:880-883, 1999

Basu TK, Mann S: Vitamin B-6 normalizes the altered sulfur amino acid status of rats fed diets containing pharmacological levels of niacin without reducing niacin's hypolipidemic effects. *J Nutr* 127:117-121, 1997

Beck FX, Burger-Kentischer A, Muller E: Cellular response to osmotic stress in the renal medulla. *Pflugers Arch.* 436:814-27, 1998

Becker A, Kostense PJ, Bos G, Heine RJ, Dekker JM, Nijpels G, Bouter LM, Stehouwer CDA: Hyperhomocysteinemia is associated with coronary events in type 2 diabetes. *J intern med* 253: 293-300, 2003

Bell KS, Schmitz-Peiffer C, Lim-Fraser M, Biden TJ, Cooney GJ, Kraegen EW: Acute reversal of lipid-induced muscle insulin resistance is associated with rapid alterations in PKC-θ localization. *Am J Physiol endocrinol Metab* 279:E1196-E1201, 2000

Bergmeyer HU, Bernt E, Schmidt F, Stork H: D-glucose: determination with hexokinase and glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase. In Methods of enzymatic analysis, Vol. 3, 2 <sup>nd</sup> Ed., Bergmeyer H.U., Ed. Verleg Chemie International, Deerfield Beach, FL, 1196-1201, 1974

Bergo MO, Gavino BJ, Steenbergen R, Sturbois B, Parlow AF, Sanan DA, Skarnes WC, Vance JE, Young SG. Defining the importance of phosphatidylserine synthase 2 in mice. *J Biol Chem* 277:47701-47708, 2002

Berry MN, Edwards AM, Barritt GJ: In Laboratory Techniques in Biochemistry and Molecular Biology (Burdon, R.H., and Van Knippenburg, P.H., eds) Vol. 21, pp. 44-57, Elsevier, Oxford. 1991.

Bertino JR: Karnofsky memorial lecture. Ode to methotrexate. J Clin Oncol 11:5-14, 1993

Bescond A, Augier T, Chareyre C, Garcon D, Hornebeck W, Charpiot P: Influence of homocysteine on matrix metalloproteinase-2: activation and activity. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 263:498-503, 1999

Blankenhorn DH, Azen SP, Crawford DW, Nessim SA, Sanmarco ME, Selzer RH, Shircore AM, Wickham EC: Effects of colestipol-niacin therapy on human femoral atherosclerosis. *Circulation* 83:438-447, 1991

Bligh EG, Dyer WJ: A rapid method of total lipid extraction and purification. Can J Med Sci. 37:911-917, 1959

Blom HJ, Kleinveld HA, Boers GH, Demacker PN, Hak-Lemmers HL, Te Poele-Pothoff MT, Trijbels JM: Lipid peroxidation and susceptibility of low-density lipoprotein to in vitro oxidation in hyperhomocysteinaemia. *Eur J Clin Invest* 25:149-154, 1995

Bloxam DL: Nutritional aspects of amino acid metabolism. Br. J. Nutr 27: 249-259, 1972

Bluher M, Michael MD, Peroni OD, Ueki K, Carter N, Kahn BB, Bahn CR: Adipose tissue selective insulin-receptor knockout protects against obesity and obesity-related glucose intolerance. *Dev Cell* 3:25-38, 2002

Boden G, Chen X, Rosner J, Barton M: Effects of a 48 hr fat infusion on insulin secretion and glucose utilization. *Diabetes* 44:1239-1242, 1995

Boers GH, Smals AG, Trijbels FJ, Leermakers AI, Kloppenborg PW: Unique efficiency of methionine metabolism in pre-menopausal women may protect against vascular disease in the reproductive years. *J Clin Invest* 72:1971-1976, 1983

Boger RH, Bode-Boger SM, Sydow K, Heistad DD, Lentz SR: Plasma concentration of asymmetric dimethylarginine, an endogenous inhibitor of nitric oxide synthese, is elevated in monkeys with hyperhomocyst(e)inemia or hypercholesterolemia. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 20:1557-1564, 2000

Bostom A, Brosnan JT, Hall B, Nadeau MR, Selhub J: Net uptake of plasma homocysteine by the rat kidney in vivo. *Atherosclerosis* 116:59-62, 1995 A

Bostom AG, Shemin D, Lapane KL, Miller JW, Sutherland P, Nadeau M, Seyoum E, Hartman W, Prior R, Wilson PW, Selhub, J: Hyperhomocysteinemia and traditional cardiovascular disease risk factors in end-stage renal disease patients on dialysis: a case-control study. *Atherosclerosis* 114:93-103, 1995 B

Boushey CJ, Beresford SA, Omenn GS, Motulsky AG: A quantitative assessment of plasma homocysteine as a risk factor for vascular disease. Probable benefits of increasing folic acid intakes. *JAMA* 274:1049-1057, 1995

Braissant O, Foufelle F, Scotto C, Dauca M, Wahli W: Differential expression of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors (PPARs): tissue distribution of PPAR-alpha, -beta, and -gamma in the adult rat. *Endocrinology* 137:354-366, 1996

Brand FN, Abbott RD, Kannel WB: Diabetes, intermittent claudication, and risk of cardiovascular events. The Framingham study. *Diabetes* 38:504-509, 1989

Brattstrom L: Vitamins as homocysteine-lowering agents. J Nutr 126:1276S-1280S, 1996

Brattstrom L, Israelsson B, Lindgarde F, Hultberg B: Higher total plasma homocysteine in vitamin  $B_{12}$  deficiency than in heterozygosity for homocystinuria due to cystathionine beta-synthase deficiency. *Metabolism* 37:175-178, 1988

Brattstrom L, Israelsson B, Norrving B, Bergqvist D, Thorne J, Hultberg B, Hamfelt A: Impaired homocysteine metabolism in early-onset cerebral and peripheral occlusive arterial disease. Effects of pyridoxine and folic acid treatment. *Atherosclerosis* 81:51-60, 1990

Brechtel K, Dahl DB, Machann J, Bachmann OP, Wenzel I, Maier T, Claussen CD, Haring HU, Jacob S, Schick F: Fast elevation of the intramyocellular lipid content in the presence of circulating free fatty acids and hyperinsulinemia: a dynamic 1 H-MRS study. *Magn Reson Med* 45:179-183, 2001

Breksa AP 3rd, Garrow TA: Recombinant human liver betaine-homocysteine Smethyltransferase: identification of three cysteine residues critical for zinc binding. *Biochemistry* 38:13991-13998, 1999

Brodsky SV, Gealekman O, Chen J, Zhang F, Togashi N, Crabtree M, Gross SS, Nasjletti A, Goligorsky MS: Prevention and reversal of premature endothelial cell senescence and vasculopathy in obesity-induced diabetes by Ebselen. *Circ Res* 94:377-384, 2004

Brosnan JT: Homocysteine and the kidney. In: R. Carmel and D.W. Jacobsen (eds.), Homocysteine in Health and Disease, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK. pp176-182, 2001

Brosnan JT, Man K-C, Hall DE, Colbourne SA, Brosnan ME: Interorgan metabolism of amino acids in streptozotocin-diabetic ketoacidotic rat. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* 244: E151-E158, 1983

Brosnan JT, Forsey RGP, Brosnan ME: Uptake of tyrosine and leucine in vivo by brain of diabetic and control rats. *Am J Physiol* 247: C450-453, 1984

Brosnan JT, Jois M, Hall BN: Hormonal regulation of glycine metabolism. *Amino acids: chemistry, biology and medicine.* G Lubec and GA Rosenthal. ESCOM science publishers B.V. 896-902, 1990

Brosnan ME, Roebothan BV, Hall DE: Polyamine and amino acid content, and activity of polyamine-synthesizing decarboxylases, in liver of streptozotocin-induced diabetic and insulin treated diabetic rats. *Biochem J* 190:395-403, 1980

Brown AT, Smith TP, Cruz CP, Poirier LA, Simmons D, Williams DK, Wang Y, Eidt JF, Moursi MM: Intimal hyperplasia following carotid endarterectomy in an insulinresistant rat model. *Metabolism* 52:834-839, 2003

Brownlee M: Glycation products and the pathogenesis of diabetic complications. *Diabetes Care* 15:1835-1843, 1992

Bruce C, Chouinard RA, Tall AR: Plasma lipid transfer proteins, high density lipoproteins, and reverse cholesterol transport. *Annu Rev Nutr* 18:297-330, 1998

Buemi M, Marino D, Di Pasquale G, Floccari F, Ruello A, Aloisi C, Corica F, Senatore M, Romea A, Frisina N: Effects of homocysteine on proliferation, necrosis and apoptosis of vascular smooth muscle cells in culture and influence of folic acid. *Thromb Res* 104:207-213, 2001

Burnham MP, Johnson IT, Weston AH. Impaired small-conductance Ca<sup>2+</sup>-activated K<sup>+</sup> channel-dependent EDHF responses in Type II diabetic ZDF rats. *Br J Pharmacol* 148:434-441, 2006

Burnham MP, Johnson IT, Weston AH. Reduced  $Ca^{2+}$ -dependent activation of largeconductance  $Ca^{2+}$ -activated K<sup>+</sup> channels from arteries of Type 2 diabetic Zucker diabetic fatty rats. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 290:H1520-1527, 2006

Buysschaert M, Dramais A-S, Wallemacq PE, Hermans MP: Hyperhomocysteinemia in type 2 diabetes: Relationship to macroangiopathy, nephropathy, and insulin resistance. *Diabetes care* 23:1816-1822, 2000

Cabrero C, Alemany S: Conversion of rat liver S-adenosyl-L-methionine synthetase from high-Mr form to low-Mr form by LiBr. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 952:277-281, 1988

Carey MC, Fennelly JJ, FitzGerald O: Homocystinuria. II. Subnormal serum folate levels, increased folate clearance and effects of folic acid therapy. *Am J Med* 45:26-31, 1968

Carl GF, Smith ML, Furman GM, Eto I, Schatz RA, Krumdieck CL: Phenytoin treatment and folate supplementation affect folate concentrations and methylation capacity in rats. *J Nutr*121:1214-1221, 1991

Carlsen SM, Folling I, Grill V, Bjerve KS, Schneede J, Refsum H: Metformin increases total serum homocysteine levels in non-diabetic male patients with coronary heart disease. *Scand J Clin Lab Invest* 57:521-527, 1997

Carvalho E, Jansson PA, Axelsen M, Eriksson JW, Huang X, Groop L, Rondinone C, Sjostrom L, Smith U: Low cellular IRS-1 gene and protein expression predict insulin resistance and NIDDM. *FASEB J* 13:2173-2178, 1999

Carvalho E, Jansson PA, Nagaev I, Wenthzel AM, Smith U: Deficient IRS-1 and Glut 4 protein expression in adipocytes from insulin resistant subjects. *FASEB J* 15:1101-1103, 2001

Carvalho E, Kotani K, Peroni OD, Kahn BB: Adipose-specific overexpression of GLUT 4 reverses insulin resistance and diabetes in mice lacking GLUT 4 selectively in muscle. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* 289:E551-E561, 2005

Cavaghan MK, Ehrmann DA, Polonsky KS: Interactions between insulin resistance and insulin secretion in the development of glucose intolerance. *J Clin Invest* 106:329-333, 2000

Celermajer DS, Sorensen KE, Gooch VM, Spiegelhater DJ, Miller OI, Sullivan ID, Lloyd JK, Deanfield JE: Non-invasive detection of endothelial dysfunction in children and adults at risk of atherosclerosis. *Lancet* 340:1111-1115, 1992

Chadefaux B, Rethore MO, Raoul O, Ceballos I, Poissonnier M, Gilgenkranz S, Allard D: Cystathionine beta synthase: gene dosage effect in trisomy 21. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 128:40-44, 1985

Chalkley SM, Hettiarachchi N, Chisholm DJ, Kraegen EW: Five-hour fatty acid elevation increases muscle lipids and impairs glycogen synthesis in the rat. *Metabolism* 47:1121-1126, 1998

Champe PC, Harvey RA: Amino acids: metabolism of carbon skeletons. In Lippincott's illustrated reviews: biochemistry 2<sup>nd</sup> ed. 243-256, 1994

Chen H, Li D, Saldeen T, Mehta JL: Transforming growth factor-beta (1) modulates oxidatively modified LDL-induced expression of adhesion molecules: role of LOX-1. *Circ Res* 89:1155-1160, 2001

Chen P, Poddar R, Tipa EV, Dibello PM, Moravec CD, Robinson K, Green R, Kruger WD, Garrow TA, Jacobsen DW: Homocysteine metabolism in cardiovascular cells and tissues: implications for hyperhomocysteinemia and cardiovascular disease. *Adv Enzyme Regul* 39:93-109, 1999

Chen X, Jhee KH, Kruger WD: Production of the neuromodulator  $H_2S$  by cystathionine beta-synthase via the condensation of cysteine and homocysteine. *J Biol Chem* 279:52082-52086, 2004

Chen Z, Chakraborty S, Banerjee R: Demonstration that mammalian methionine synthases are predominantly cobalamin-loaded. *J Biol Chem* 270:19246-19249, 1995

Cheng H, Gomes-Trolin C, Aquilonius SM, Steinberg A, Lofberg C, Ekblom J, Oreland L: Levels of L-methionine S-adenosyltransferase activity in erythrocytes and concentrations of S-adenosylmethionine and S-adenosylhomocysteine in whole blood of patients with Parkinson's disease. *Exp Neurol*145:580-585, 1997

Chico A, Perez A, Cordoba A, Arcelus R, Carreras G, de Leiva A, Gonzalez-Sastre F, Blanco-Vaca F: Plasma homocysteine is related to albumin excretion rate in patients with diabetes mellitus: a new link between diabetic nephropathy and cardiovascular disease? *Diabetologia* 41:684-693, 1998

Chin JH, Azhar S, Hoffman BB: Inactivation of endothelial derived relaxing factor by oxidized lipoproteins. *J Clin Inves* 89:10-18, 1992

Chomczynski P, Sacchi N: Single-step method of RNA isolation by acid guanidinium thiocyanate-phenol-chloroform extraction. *Anal Chem* 162:156-159, 1987

Chou JY: Molecular genetics of hepatic methionine adenosyltransferase deficiency. *Pharmacol Ther* 85:1-9, 2000

Choy PC, Lim PH, Vance DE. Purification and characterization of CTP: cholinephosphate cytidylyltransferase from rat liver cytosol. *J Biol Chem* 252:7673-7677, 1977

Clarke R, Daly L, Robinson K, Naughten E, Cahalane S, Fowler B, Graham I: Hyperhomocysteinemia: an independent risk factor for vascular disease. *N Engl J Med* 324:1149-1155, 1991

Clarke S, Banfield K: S-Adenosylmethionine-dependent methyltransferases. In: R. Carmel and D.W. Jacobsen (eds.), Homocysteine in Health and Disease, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK. pp. 9-20, 2001

Cline GW, Petersen KF, Krssak M, Shen J, Hundal RS, Trajanoski Z, Inzucchi S, Dresner A, Rothman DL, Shulman GI: Impaired glucose transport as a cause of decreased insulin-stimulated muscle glycogen synthesis in type 2 diabetes. *N Engl J Med* 341:240-246, 1999

Consoli A, Nurjhan N, Reilly JJ Jr, Bier DM, Gerich JE: Mechanism of increased gluconeogenesis in non insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. Role of alterations in systemic, hepatic, and muscle lactate and alanine metabolism. *J Clin Invest* 86:2038-45, 1990

Crandall EA, Fernstrom JD: Effect of experimental diabetes on the levels of aromatic and branched-chain amino acids in rat blood and brain. *Diabetes* 32: 222-230, 1983

Cravo ML, Gloria LM, Selhub J, Nadeau MR, Camilo ME, Resende MP, Cardoso JN, Leitao CN, Mira FC: Hyperhomocysteinemia in chronic alcoholism: correlation with folate, vitamin B-12, and vitamin B-6 status. *Am J Clin Nutr* 63:220-224, 1996

Davies L, Wilmshurst EG, Mcelduff A, Gunton J, Clifton-Bligh P, Fulcher GR: The relationship among homocysteine, creatine clearance, and albuminuria in patients with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care* 24:1805-1809, 2001

Davies SE, Chalmers RA, Randall EW, Iles RA: Betaine metabolism in human neonates and developing rats. *Clin Chim Acta* 178:241-9, 1988

Davis SR, Stacpoole PW, Williamson J, Kick LS, Quinlivan EP, Coats BS, Shane B, Bailey LB, Gregory JF 3<sup>rd</sup>: Tracer-derived total and folate-dependent homocysteine remethylation and synthesis rates in humans indicate that serine is the main one-carbon donor. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* 286:E272-279, 2004

De Pergola G, Pannacciulli N, Zamboni M, Minenna A, Brocco G, Sciaraffia M, Bosello O, Giorgino R: Homocysteine plasma levels are independently associated with insulin resistance in normal weight, overweight and obese pre-menopausal women. *Diab Nutr Metab* 14:253-258, 2001

De Vriese AS, Verbeuren TJ, Van der Voorde J, Lameire NH, Vanhoutte PM: Endothelial dysfunction in diabetes. *Br J Pharmacol* 130:963-974, 2000

Deeb S, Fajas I, Nemoto M, Laakso M, Fujimoto W, Auwerx J: A Pro12Ala substitution in PPARgamma2 associated with decreased receptor activity, lower body mass index and improved insulin sensitivity. *Nat Genet* 20:284-287, 1998

DeLong CJ, Shen YJ, Thomas MJ, Cui Z: Molecular distinction of phosphatidylcholine synthesis between the CDP-choline pathway and phosphatidylethanolamine methylation pathway. *J Biol Chem* 274:29683-29688, 1999

den Heijer M, Koster T, Blom HJ, Bos GM, Briet E, Reitsma PH, Vandenbroucke JP, Rosendaal FR: Hyperhomocysteinemia as a risk factor for deep-vein thrombosis. *N Engl J Med* 334:759-762, 1996

Diaz B, Barreto E, Cordeiro R, Perretti M, Martins M, Silva P: Enhanced serum glucocorticoid levels mediate the reduction of serosal mast cell numbers in diabetic rats. *Life Sci* 68:2925-32, 2001

Drell W, Welch AD: Azaribine-homocystinemia-thrombosis in historical perspective. *Pharmacol Ther* 41:195-206, 1989

Dresner A, Laurent D, Marcucci M, Griffin ME, Dufour S, Cline GW, Slezak LA, Andersen DK, Hundal RS, Rothman DL, Petersen KF, Shulman GI. Effects of free fatty acids on glucose transport and IRS-1-associated phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase activity. *J Clin Invest* 103:253-259, 1999

Drummond JT, Matthews RG: Nitrous oxide inactivation of cobalamin-dependent methionine synthase from Escherichia coli: characterization of the damage to the enzyme and prosthetic group. *Biochemistry* 33:3742-3750, 1994

Duce AM, Ortiz P, Cabrero C, Mato JM: S-adenosyl-L-methionine synthetase and phospholipid methyltransferases are inhibited in human cirrhosis. *Hepatology* 8:65-68, 1988

Eberhardt W, Beeg T, Beck KF, Walpen S, Gauer S, Bohles H, Pfeilschifter J: Nitric oxide modulates expression of matrix metalloproteinase-9 in rat mesengial cells. *Kidney Int* 57:59-69, 2000

Emoto M, Kanda H, Shoji T, Kawagishi T, Komatsu M, Mori K, Tahara H, Ishimura E, Inaba M, Okuna Y, Nishizawa Y: Impact of insulin resistance and nephropathy on homocysteine in type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care* 24:533-538, 2001

Endemann DH, Schiffrin EL: Endothelial dysfunction. J Am Soc Nephrol 15:1983-1992, 2004

Engberson AMT, Franken DG, Boers GHJ, Stevens EMB, Trijbels FJM, Blom HJ: Thermolabile 5,10-methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase as a cause of mild hyperhomocysteinemia. *Am J Hum Genet* 56:142-150, 1995

Epstein CJ: Epilogue: toward the twenty-first century with Down syndrome-a personal view of how far we have come and of how far we can reasonably expect to go. *Prog Clin Biol Res* 393:241-246, 1995

Erikssen P, Nilsson L, Karpe F, Hamsten A: Very-low density lipoprotein response element in the promoter region of the human plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 gene implicated in the impaired fibrinolysis of hypertriglyceridemia. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 18:20-26, 1998

Ermens AA, Refsum H, Rupreht J, Spijkers LJ, Guttormsen AB, Lindemans J, Ueland PM, Abels J: Monitoring cobalamine inactivation during nitrous oxide anesthesia by determination of homocysteine and folate in plasma and urine. *Clin Pharmacol Ther* 49:385-393, 1991

Etgan GH, Oldham BA: Profiling of Zucker diabetic fatty rats in their progression to the overt diabetic state. *Metabolism* 49: 684-688, 2000

Fajans SS: Definition and classification of diabetes including maturity onset diabetes of the young. In Derek LeRoith, Simeon I Taylor and Jerrold M Olefsky Eds. Diabetes Mellitus: A fundamental and clinical text. Lippincott-Raven Publishers, Philadelphia. pp 251-260, 1996

Fajas L, Auboeuf D, Raspe E, Schoonjans K, Lefebvre AM, Saladin R, Najib J, Laville M, Fruchart JC, Deeb S, Vidal-Puig A, Flier J, Briggs MR, Staels B, Vidal H, Auwerx J: The organization, promoter analysis, and expression of the human PPARgamma gene. *J Biol Chem* 272:18779-18789, 1997

Faraci FM, Lentz SR: Hyperhomocysteinemia, oxidative stress and cerebral vascular dysfunction. *Stroke* 35:345-347, 2004

Finegood DT, McArthur MD, Kojwang D, Thomas MJ, Topp BG, Leonard T, Buckingham RE:  $\beta$ -cell mass dynamics in Zucker Diabetic Fatty rats: rosiglitazone prevents the rise in net cell death. *Diabetes* 50:1021-1029, 2001

Finkelstein JD: The metabolism of homocysteine: pathways and regulation. Eur J Pediatr 157:S40-44, 1998

Finkelstein JD, Kyle W, Harris BJ: Methionine metabolism in mammals. Regulation of homocysteine methyltransferases in rat tissue. *Arch Biochem Biophys* 146:84-92, 1971

Finkelstein JD, Harris BJ, Kyle WE: Methionine metabolism in mammals: kinetic study of betaine-homocysteine methyltransferase. *Arch Biochem Biophys* 153:320-324, 1972

Finkelstein JD, Kyle WE, Harris BJ: Methionine metabolism in mammals: regulatory effects of S-adenosylhomocysteine. *Arch Biochem Biophys* 165:774-779, 1974

Finkelstein JD, Kyle WE, Martin JL, Pick AM: Activation of cystathionine synthase by adenosylmethionine and adenosylethionine. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 66:81-87, 1975

Finkelstein JD, Martin JJ, Kyle WE, Harris BJ: Methionine metabolism in mammals: Regulation of Methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase content of rat tissue. *Arch Biochem Biophys* 191: 153-160, 1978

Finkelstein JD, Martin JJ, Harris BJ, Kyle WE: Regulation of hepatic betainehomocysteine methyltransferase by dietary betaine. *J Nutr* 113:519-521, 1983

Folch J, Lees M, Stanley GHS. A simple method for the isolation and purification of total lipides from animal tissues. *J Biol Chem* 226:497-509, 1957

Fonseca V, Dicker-Brown A, Ranganathan S, Song W, Barnard RJ, Fink L, Kern PA: Effects of a high fat-sucrose diet on enzymes in homocysteine metabolism in the rat. *Metabolism* 49:736-741, 2000

Forman BM, Tontonoz P, Chen J, Brun RP, Spiegelman BM, Evans RM: 15-Deoxydelta 12, 14-prostaglandin J2 is a ligand for the adipocyte determination factor PPAR gamma. *Cell* 83:803-812, 1995

Freedland RA, Avery EH: Studies on threonine and serine dehydratase. *J Biol Chem.* 239:3357-3360, 1964

Frimpter GW: Cystathioninuria: nature of the defect. Science 149:1095-1096, 1965

Frosst P, Blom HJ, Milos R, Goyette P, Sheppard CA, Matthews RG, Boers GJ, den Heijer M, Kluijtmans LA, van den Heuvel LP, Rozen R: A candidate genetic risk factor for vascular disease: a common mutation in methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase. *Nat Genet* 10:111-113, 1995

Fryer RH, Wilson BD, Gubler DB, Fitzgerald LA, Rodgers GM: Homocysteine, a risk factor for premature vascular disease and thrombosis, induces tissue factor activity in endothelial cells. *Arterioscler Thromb* 13:1327-1333, 1993

Fukishima M, Aihara Y, Ichiyama A: Immunochemical studies on induction of rat liver mitochondrial serine: pyruvate aminotransferase by glucagon. *J Biol Chem* 253: 1187-1194, 1978

Furchgott RF, Zawadzki JV: The obligatory role of endothelial cells in the relaxation of arterial smooth muscle by acetylcholine. *Nature* 288:373-376, 1980

Garrow TA: Purification, kinetic properties, and cDNA cloning of mammalian betaine:homocysteine methyltransferase. *J Biol Chem* 271:22831-22838, 1996

Gaull GE: Homocystinuria, vitamin B 6, and folate: metabolic interrelationships and clinical significance. *J Pediatr* 81:1014-1018, 1972

Genest JJ Jr, McNamara JR, Salem DN, Wilson PW, Schaefer EJ, Malinow MR: Plasma homocyst(e)ine levels in men with premature coronary artery disease. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 16:1114-1119, 1990

Gibson R, Zhao Y, Jaskiewicz J, Fineberg SE, Harris RA: Effects of diabetes on the activity and content of the branched-chain alpha-keto acid dehydrogenase complex in liver. *Arch Biochem Biophys* 306: 22-28, 1993

Gil B, Pajares MA, Mato JM, Alvarez L: Glucocorticoid regulation of hepatic Sadenosylmethionine synthetase gene expression. *Endocrinology* 138:1251-1258, 1997 Giltay EJ, Hoogeveen EK, Elbers JM, Gooren LJ, Asscheman H, Stehouwer CD: Effects of sex steroids on plasma total homocysteine levels: a study in transsexual males and females. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 83:550-553, 1998 A

Giltay EJ, Hoogeveen EK, Elbers JM, Gooren LJ, Asscheman H, Stehouwer CD: Insulin resistance is associated with elevated plasma total homocysteine levels in healthy, non-obese subjects. *Atherosclerosis* 139:197-198, 1998 B

Ginsberg HN: Insulin resistance and cardiovascular disease. J Clin Invest 106:453-458, 2000

Goss SJ: Characterization of cystathionine synthase as a selectable, liver specific trait in rat hepatomas. *J Cell Sci* 82: 309-320, 1986

Gougeon, R., Pencharz, P.B., Marliss, E.B: Effect of NIDDM on the kinetics of whole-body protein metabolism. *Diabetes* 43: 318-328, 1994

Gougeon R, Pencharz PB, Sigal RJ: Effect of glycemic control on the kinetics of whole-body protein metabolism in obese subjects with non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus during iso- and hypoenergetic feeding. *Am J Clin Nutr* 65: 861-870, 1997

Gougeon R, Marliss EB, Jonne PJH, Pencharz PB, Morais JA: Effect of exogenous insulin on protein metabolism with differing non-protein energy intakes in Type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Int J Obes Rela. Metab Disord* 22: 250-261, 1998

Greenberg AS, McDaniel ML: Identifying the links between obesity, insulin resistance and  $\beta$ -cell function: potential role of adipocyte-derived cytokines in the pathogenesis of type 2 diabetes. *Eur J Clin Invest* 32:24-34, 2002

Griendling KK, Fitzgerald GA: Oxidative stress and cardiovascular injury: Part I: Basic mechanism and in vivo monitoring of ROS. *Circulation* 108:1912-1916, 2003

Griffin ME, Marcucci MJ, Cline GW, Bell K, Barucci N, Lee D, Goodyear LJ, Kraegen EW, White MF, Shulman GI. Free fatty acid-induced insulin resistance is associated with activity of protein kinase C theta and alterations in the insulin signaling cascade. *Diabetes* 48:1270-1274, 1999

Grossman EB, Herbert SC: Renal inner medullary choline dehydrogenase activity: characterization and modulation. *Am J Physiol* 25:F107-F112, 1989

Gulati S, Baker P, Li YN, Fowler B, Kruger W, Brody LC, Banerjee R: Defects in human methionine synthase in cblG patients. *Hum Mol Genet* 5:1859-1865, 1996

Gulati S, Chen Z, Brody LC, Rosenblatt DS, Banerjee R: Defects in auxiliary redox proteins lead to functional methionine synthase deficiency. *J Biol Chem* 272:19171-19175, 1997

Guttormsen AB, Ueland PM, Nesthus I, Nygard O, Schneede J, Vollset SE, Refsum H: Determinants and vitamin responsiveness of intermediate hyperhomocysteinemia (≥40 micromol/liter). The Hordaland Homocysteine Study. *J Clin Invest* 98:2174-2183, 1996

Haffner SM, Lehto S, Ronnemaa T, Pyorala K, Laakso M: Mortality from coronary heart disease in subjects with type 2 diabetes and in non diabetic subjects with and without prior myocardial infarction. *N Engl J Med* 339:229-234, 1998

Hague SM, Klaffke S, Bandmann O: Neurodegenerative disorders: Parkinson's disease and Huntington's disease. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry* 76:1058-1063, 2005

Hajjar KA, Mauri L, Jacovina AT, Zhong F, Mirza UA, Padovan JC, Chait BT: Tissue plasminogen activator binding to the annexin II tail domain. Direct modulation by homocysteine. *J Biol Chem* 273:9987-9993.1998

Haley CJ, Harper AE: Glucagon stimulation of phenylalanine metabolism. The effects of acute and chronic glucagon treatment. *Metabolism* 31: 524-532, 1982

Halvatsiotis P, Short KR, Bigelow M, Nair KS: Synthesis rate of muscle proteins, muscle functions, and amino acid kinetics in type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes* 51: 2395-2404, 2002

Harding CO, Arnold G, Barness LA, Wolff JA, Rosenblatt DS: Functional methionine synthase deficiency due to cblG disorder: a report of two patients and a review. *Am J Med Genet* 71:384-390, 1997

Harker LA, Slichter SJ, Scott CR, Ross R: Homocystinemia: vascular injury and arterial thrombosis. *N Engl J Med* 291:537-543, 1974

Harker LA, Harlan JM, Ross R: Effect of sulfinpyrazone on homocysteine-induced endothelial injury and arteriosclerosis in baboons. *Circ Res* 53:731-739, 1983

Haubrich DR, Gerber NH: Choline dehydrogenase. Assay, properties and inhibitors. *Biochem pharmacol* 30:2993-3000, 1981

Heinecke JW, Rosen H, Suzuki LA, Chait A: The role of sulfur-containing amino acids in superoxide production and modification of low density lipoprotein by arterial smooth muscle cells. *J Biol Chem* 262:10098-10103, 1987

Higa M, Zhou YT, Ravazzola M, Baetens D, Orci L, Unger RH: Troglitazone prevents mitochondrial alterations, beta cell destruction, and diabetes in obese pre diabetic rats. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* 96:11513-11518, 1999

Hofmann MA, Kohl B, Zumbach MS, Borcea V, Bierhaus A, Henkels M, Amiral J, Schmidt AM, Fiehn W, Ziegler R, Wahl P, Nawroth P: Hyperhomocyst(e)inemia and endothelial dysfunction in IDDM. *Diabetes Care* 21:841-848, 1998

Hofmann MA, Lalla E, Lu Y, Gleason MR, Wolf BM, Tanji N, Ferran Jr LJ, Kohl B, Rao V, Kisiel W, Stern DM, Schmidt AM: Hyperhomocysteinemia enhances vascular inflammation and accelerates atherosclerosis in a murine model. *J Clin Invest* 107:675-683, 2001

Hollenberg MD, Compton SJ: International union of pharmacology, XX-VIII. Proteinase-activated receptors. *Pharmacol Rev* 54:203-217, 2002

Homocysteine Studies Collaboration. Homocysteine and risk of ischemic heart disease and stroke: a meta-analysis. *JAMA* 288:2015-2022, 2002

Hoogeveen EK, Kostense P J, Beks PJ, Mackaay AJ, Jacobs C, Bouter LM, Heine RJ, Stehouwer DA: Hyperhomocysteinemia is associated with an increased risk of cardiovascular disease, especially in non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus: a population based study. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 18:133-138, 1998

Hoogeveen EK, Kostense PJ, Jakobs C, Dekker JM, Nijepels G, Heine RJ, Bouter LM, Stehouwer CDA: Hyperhomocysteinemia increases risk of death, especially in type 2 diabetes; 5-year follow-up of the Hoorn study. *Circulation* 101:1506-1511, 2000

Horowitz BS, Goldberg IJ, Merab J, Vanni TM, Ramakrishnan R,Ginsberg HN: Increased plasma and renal clearance of an exchangeable pool of apolipoprotein A-I in subjects with low levels of high density lipoprotein cholesterol. *J Clin Invest* 91:1743-1752, 1993

Hoshi S, Shu Y, Yoshida F, Inagaki T, Sonoda J, Watanage T, Nomoto K-I, Nagata M: Podocyte injury promotes progressive nephropathy in Zucker Diabetic fatty rats. *Lab Invest* 82:25-35, 2002

Hossaine GS, van Thienen JV, Werstuck GH, Zhou J, Sood SK, Dickhout JG, de Koning AB, Tang D, Wu D, Falk E, Podder R, Jacobsen DW, Zhang K, Kaufman RJ, Austin RC: TDAG 51 is induced by homocysteine, promotes detachment-mediated programmed cell death, and contributes to the development of atherosclerosis in hyperhomocysteinemia. *J Biol Chem* 278:30317-30327, 2003 Hotamisligil GS, Shargill NS, Spiegelman BM. Adipose expression of tumor necrosis factor-alpha: direct role in obesity-linked insulin resistance. Science 259:87-91, 1993

House JD, Brosnan ME, Brosnan JT: Characterization of homocysteine metabolism in the rat kidney. *Biochem J* 328:287-292, 1997

House JD, Brosnan ME, Brosnan JT: Renal uptake and excretion of homocysteine in rats with acute hyperhomocysteinemia. *Kidney Int* 54:1601-1607, 1998

House JD, Hall BN, Brosnan JT: Threonine metabolism in isolated rat hepatocytes. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 281: E1300-1307, 2001

Hultberg B, Agargh E, Andersson A, Brattstrom L, Isaksson A, Israelsson B, Agardh, CD: Increased levels of plasma homocysteine are associated with nephropathy, but not severe retinopathy in Type 1 diabetes mellitus. *Scand J Clin Lab Invest* 51:277-282, 1991

Hundal HS, Taylor PM, Willhoft NM, Mackenzie B, Low SY, Ward MR, Rennie MJ: A role for membrane transport in modulation of intramuscular free glutamine turnover in streptozotocin diabetic rats. *Biochim Biophys Acta*1180:137-146, 1992

Ishidate K, Nakazawa Y. Choline/ethanolamine kinase from rat kidney. *Methods Enzymol* 209:121-134, 1992

Jacobs RL, House JD, Brosnan ME, Brosnan JT: Effects of streptozotocin-induced diabetes and of insulin treatment on homocysteine metabolism in the rat. *Diabetes* 47:1967-1970, 1998

Jacobs RL, Stead LM, Brosnan ME, Brosnan JT: Hyperglucagonemia in rats results in decreased plasma homocysteine and increased flux through the transsulfuration pathway in liver. *J Biol Chem* 276:43740-43747, 2001

Jacobs RL, Stead LM, Devlin C, Tabas I, Brosnan ME, Brosnan JT, Vance DE: Physiological regulation of phospholipid methylation alters plasma homocysteine in mice. *J Biol Chem* 280:28299-28305, 2005

Jacobsen DW: Practical chemistry of homocysteine and other thiols. In: R. Carmel and D.W. Jacobsen (eds.), Homocysteine in Health and Disease, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK. 9-20, 2001

Jakubowski H: Metabolism of homocysteine thiolactone in human cell cultures: possible mechanism for pathological consequences of elevated homocysteine levels. J Biol Chem 272:1935-1942, 1997 Jakubowski H: Protein homocysteinylation: possible mechanisms underlying pathological consequences of elevated homocysteine levels. *FASEB J* 13:2277-2283, 1999

Jakubowski H: Calcium-dependent human serum homocysteine thiolactone hydrolase. A protective mechanism against protein N-homocysteinylation. *J Biol Chem* 275:3957-3962, 2000

Jakubowski H: Homocysteine is a protein amino acid in humans. Implications for homocysteine-linked disease. *J Biol Chem* 277:30425-30428, 2002

Jakubowski H, Fersht AR: Alternative pathways for editing non-cognate amino acids by aminoacyl-tRNA synthetases. *Nucleic Acids Res* 9:3105-3117, 1981

James GK, Jones MW, Pudek MR: Homocyst(e)ine levels in patients on phenytoin therapy. *Clin Biochem* 30:647-649, 1997

Johnston MT, Creager SJ, Scales KM, Cusco JA, Lee BK, Creager MA: Impaired endothelium dependent vasodilation in patients insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. *Circulation* 88:2510-2516, 1993

Jois M, Hall BN, Fewer K, Brosnan JT: Regulation of hepatic glycine catabolism by glucagon. *J Biol Chem* 264: 3347-3351, 1989

Jones JR, Barrick C, Kim K-A, Lindner J, Blondeau B, Fujimoto Y, Shiota M, Kesterson, RA, Kahn BB, Magnuson MA: Deletion of PPAR gamma in adipose tissues of mice protects against high fat diet-induced obesity and insulin resistance. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* 102:6207-1622, 2005

Jost J-P, Khairallah EA, Pitot HC: Studies on the induction and repression of enzymes in rat liver. V. Regulation of the rate of synthesis and degradation of serine dehydratase by dietary amino acids and glucose. *J Biol Chem* 243: 3057-3066, 1968

Kahn B, Flier JS: Obesity and insulin resistance. J Clin Invest 106:473-481, 2000

Kanamoto R, Su Y, Pitot HC: Effects of glucose, insulin, and cAMP on transcription of the serine dehydratase gene in rat liver. *Arch Biochem Biophys* 288:562-566, 1991

Kang SS, Wong PW, Curley K: The effect of D-penicillamine on protein-bound homocyst(e)ine in homocystinurics. *Pediatr Res* 16:370-372, 1982

Kang SS, Wong PW, Zhou JM, Cook HY: Total homocyst(e)ine in plasma and amniotic fluid of pregnant women. *Metabolism* 35:889-891, 1986

Kang SS, Wong PW, Norusis M: Homocysteinemia due to folate deficiency. *Metabolism* 36:458-462, 1987

Kang SS, Zhou J, Wong PW, Kowalisyn J, Strokosch G: Intermediate homocysteinemia: a thermolabile variant of methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase. *Am J Hum Genet* 43:414-421, 1988

Kang SS, Wong PW, Bock HG, Horwitz A, Grix A: Intermediate hyperhomocysteinemia resulting from compound heterozygosity of methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase mutations. *Am J Hum Genet* 48:546-551, 1991 A

Kang SS, Wong PW, Susmano A, Sora J, Norusis M, Ruggie N: Thermolabile methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase: an inherited risk factor for coronary artery disease. *Am J Hum Genet* 48:536-545, 1991 B

Kang SS, Wong PW, Malinow MR: Hyperhomocyst(e)inemia as a risk factor for occlusive vascular disease. *Annu Rev Nutr* 12:279-298, 1992

Kaplan CP, Porter RK, Brand MD: The choline transporter is the major site of control of choline oxidation in isolated rat liver mitochondria. *FEBS Lett* 321:24-26, 1993

Katz JE, Dlakic M, Clarke S: Automated identification of putative methyltransferases from genomic open reading frames. *Mol Cell Proteomics* 2:525-540, 2003

Kenyon SH, Nicolaou A, Gibbons WA: The effect of ethanol and its metabolites upon methionine synthase activity in vitro. *Alcohol* 15:305-309, 1998

Kery V, Bukovska G, Kraus JP: Transsulfuration depends on heme in addition to pyridoxal 5'-phosphate. Cystathionine beta-synthase is a heme protein. *J Biol Chem* 269:25283-25288, 1994

Khan BV, Harrison DG, Olbrych MT, Alexander RW, Medford RM: Nitric oxide regulates vascular cell adhesion molecule 1 gene expression and redox-sensitive transcriptional events in human vascular endothelial cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* 93:9114-9119, 1996

Kim JK, Gavrilova O, Chen Y, Reitman ML, Shulman GI: Mechanism of insulin resistance in A-ZIP/F-1 fatless mice. *J Biol Chem.* 275:8456-8460, 2000

Kim JK, Zisman A, Fillmore JJ, Peroni OD, Kotani K, Perret P, Zong H, Dong J, Kahn CR, Kahn BB, Shulman GI: Glucose toxicity and the development of diabetes in mice with muscle-specific inactivation of GLUT4. *J Clin Invest* 108: 153-160, 2001

Klerk M, Verhoef P, Clarke R, Blom HJ, Kok FJ, Schouten EG: MTHFR Studies Collaboration Group. MTHFR 677C-->T polymorphism and risk of coronary heart disease: a meta-analysis. *JAMA* 288:2023-2031, 2002

Koblin DD, Watson JE, Deady JE, Stokstad ELR, Eger II EI: Inactivation of methionine synthetase by nitrous oxide in mice. *Anesthesiology* 54:318-324, 1981

Koc H, Mar MH, Ranasinghe A, Swenberg JA, Zeisel SH. Quantitation of choline and its metabolites in tissues and foods by liquid chromatography/electrospray ionization-isotope dilution mass spectrometry. *Anal Chem* 74:4734-40, 2002

Koehler KM, Pareo-Tubbeh SL, Romero LJ, Baumgartner RN, Garry PJ: Folate nutrition and older adults: challenges and opportunities. *J Am Diet Assoc* 97:167-173, 1997

Koppenol WH, Moreno JJ, Pryor WA, Ischiropoulos H, Beckman JS: Peroxynitrite, a cloaked oxidant formed by nitric oxide and superoxide. *Chem Res Toxicol* 5:834-842, 1992

Kraus JP, Oliveriusova J, Sokolova J, Kraus E, Vlcek C, Franchis R, Maclean KN, Bao L, Bukovska G, Patterson D, Paces V, Ansorge W, Kozich, V: The human cystathionine  $\beta$  synthase (CBS) gene: Complete sequence, alternate splicing, and polymorphism. *Genomics* 52:312-324. 1998

Kredich NM, Hershfield MS, Falletta JM, Kinney TR, Mitchell B, Koller C: Effects of 2'-deoxycoformycin on homocysteine metabolism in acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Clin Res* 29:541A. 1981

Krishnaswamy K: Isonicotinic acid hydrazide and pyridoxine deficiency. Int J Vitam Nutr Res 44:457-465, 1974

Krssak M, Petersen KF, Dresner A, DiPietro L, Vogel SM, Rothman DL, Shulman GI, Roden M: Intramyocellular lipid concentrations are correlated with insulin sensitivity in humans: A 1H NMR spectroscopy study. *Diabetalogia* 42:113-116, 1999

Kubota N, Terauchi Y, Miki H, Tamemoto H, Yamauchi T, Komeda K, Satoh S, Nakano R, Ishii C, Sugiyama T, Eto K, Tsubamoto Y, Okuno A, Murakami K, Sekihara H, Hasegawa G, Naito M, Toyoshima Y, Tanaka S, Shiota K, Kitamura T, Fujita T, Ezaki O, Aizawa S, Nagani R, Tobe K, kimura S, Kadowaki T: PPAR gamma mediates high-fat diet-induced adipocyte hypertrophy and insulin resistance. *Mol Cell* 4:597-609, 1999 Kutzbach C, Stokstad EL: Mammalian methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase. Partial purification, properties, and inhibition by S-adenosylmethionine. *Biochim Biophys* Acta 250:459-477, 1971

Leclerc D, Campeau E, Goyette P, Adjalla CE, Christensen B, Ross M, Eydoux P, Rosenblatt DS, Rozen R, Gravel RA: Human methionine synthase: cDNA cloning and identification of mutations in patients of the cblG complementation group of folate/cobalamin disorders. *Hum Mol Genet* 5:1867-1874, 1996

Leclerc D, Wilson A, Dumas R, Gafuik C, Song D, Watkins D, Heng HH, Rommens JM, Scherer SW, Rosenblatt DS, Gravel RA: Cloning and mapping of a cDNA for methionine synthase reductase, a flavoprotein defective in patients with homocystinuria. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* 95:3059-3064, 1998

Lentz SR: Homocysteine and cardiovascular physiology. In Homocysteine in health and disease Carmel R, Jacosen DW (eds) (Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University press), 2001

Lentz SR, Sadler JE: Inhibition of thrombomodulin surface expression and protein C activation by the thrombogenic agent homocysteine. *J Clin Invest* 88:1906-1914, 1991

Lentz SR, Erger RA, Dayal S, Maeda N, Malinow MR, Heistad DD, Faraci FM: Folate dependence of hyperhomocysteinemia and vascular dysfunction in cystathionine  $\beta$ -synthase deficient mice. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 279:H970-H975, 2000

Li, Z, Murakami T, Nakai N, Nagasaki M, Obayashi M, Xu M, Sato J, Oshida, Y, Sato Y, Shimomura Y: Modification by exercise training of activity and enzyme expression of hepatic branched-chain alpha-ketoacid dehydrogenase complex in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats. *J Nutr Sci Vitaminol (Tokyo)* 47: 345-350, 2001

Liao JK, Shin WS, Lee WY, Clark SL: Oxidized low density lipoprotein decreases the expression of endothelial nitric oxide synthase. *J Biol Chem* 270:319-324, 1995

Libby P: Inflammation in atherosclerosis. *Nature* 420:868-874, 2002

Lindenbaum J, Rosenberg IH, Wilson PW, Stabler SP, Allen RH: Prevalence of cobalamin deficiency in the Framingham elderly population. *Am J Clin Nutr* 60:2-11, 1994

Lombardo YB, Thamotharan M, Bawani SZ, Paul HS, Adibi SA: Posttranscriptional alterations in protein masses of hepatic branched–chain keto acid dehydrogenase and its associated kinase in diabetes. *Proc Assoc Am Physicians* 110: 40-49, 1998

Lombardo YB, Serdikoff C, Thamotharan M, Paul HS, Adibi SA: Inverse alterations of BCKA dehydrogenase activity in cardiac and skeletal muscles of diabetic rats. *Am J Physiol* 277: E685-692, 1999

Lonn E, Yusuf S, Arnold MJ, Sheridan P, Pogue J, Micks M, McQueen MJ, Probstfield J, Fodor G, Held C, Genest J Jr: Heart Outcomes Prevention Evaluation (HOPE) 2 investigators: Homocysteine lowering with folic acid and B vitamins in vascular disease. *N Engl J Med* 354:1567-1577, 2006

Loscalzo J. The oxidant stress of hyperhomocyst(e)inemia. J Clin Inves 98:5-7, 1996

Lu T, Wang X-L, He T, Zhou W, Kaduce TL, Katusic ZS, Spector AA, Lee H-C: Impaired arachidonic acid mediated activation of large-conductance Ca<sup>+2</sup>-activated K<sup>+</sup> Channels in coronary arteriolar smooth muscle cells in Zucker Diabetic Fatty rats. *Diabetes* 54:2155-2163, 2005

Ludwig ML, Matthews RG: Structure-based perspectives on B<sub>12</sub>-dependent enzymes. Annu Rev Biochem 66:269-313, 1997

Mak WW, and Pitot HC: Increase of L-serine dehydratase activity under gluconeogenic conditions in adult-rat hepatocytes cultured on collagen gel/nylon mesh. *Biochem J* 198: 499-504, 1981

Malinow MR: Plasma Homocyste(e)ine : A risk factor for arterial occlusive disease. J Nutr 126:1238S-1243S, 1996

Malinow MR, Rajkovic A, Duell PB, Hess DL, Upson BM: The relationship between maternal and neonatal umbilical cord plasma homocyst(e)ine suggests a potential role for maternal homocyst(e)ine in fetal metabolism. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 178:228-233, 1998

Matteucci E, Rossi L, Mariani S, Fagnani F, Quilici S, Cinapri V, Giampietro O: Blood levels of total homocysteine in patients with type 1 diabetes (with no complications, diabetic nephropathy and/or retinopathy) and in their non-diabetic relatives. *Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis* 12:184-189, 2002

Mayer O Jr, Simon J, Rosolova H: A population study of the influence of beer consumption on folate and homocysteine concentrations. *Eur J Clin Nutr* 55:605-609, 2001

Mazza A, Motti C, Nulli A, Marra G, Gnasso A, Pastore A, Federici G, Cortese C: Lack of association between Carotid intima-media thickness and Methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase gene polymorphism or serum homocysteine in non-insulin dependent diabetes mellitus. *Metabolism* 49:718-723, 2000 McAndrew PE, Brandt JT, Pearl DK, Prior TW: The incidence of the gene for thermolabile methylene tetrahydrofolate reductase in African Americans. *Thromb Res* 83:195-198, 1996

McCully KS: Vascular pathology of homocysteinemia: implications for the pathogenesis of arteriosclerosis. *Am J Pathol* 56:111-128, 1969

McGarry JD: What if Minkowski had been ageusic? An alternative angle on diabetes. *Science* 258: 766-770, 1992

McGarry JD: Dysregulation of fatty acid metabolism in the etiology of type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes* 51: 7-18, 2002

McGuire JJ, Ding H, Triggle CR: Endothelium-derived relaxing factors: a focus on endothelium-derived hyperpolarizing factor(s). *Can J Physiol Pharmacol* 79:443-470, 2001

Mehta JL, Li D: Identification, regulation and function of a novel lectin-like oxidized low-density lipoprotein receptor. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 39:1429-1435, 2002

Mehta JL, Li DY, Chen HJ, Joseph J, Romeo F: Inhibition of LOX-1 by statins may relate to upregulation of eNOS. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 289:857-861, 2001

Meigs JB, Jacques PF, Selhub J, Singer DE, Nathan DM, Rifai N, D'Agostino RB, Wilson PWF: Fasting plasma homocysteine levels in the insulin resistance syndrome; The Framingham offspring study. *Diabetes Care* 24:1403-1410, 2001

Miettinen H, Lehto S, Salomaa V, Mahonen M, Niemela M, Haffner SM, Pyorala K, Tuomilehto J: Impact of diabetes on mortality after the first myocardial infarction. The FINMONICA myocardial infarction register study group. *Diabetes Care* 21:69-75, 1998

Miles PDG, Barak Y, He W, Evans RM, Olefsky JM: Improved insulin-sensitivity in mice heterozygous for PPAR  $\gamma$  deficiency. *J Clin Invest* 105:287-292, 2000

Miller AW, Katakam PV, Lee HC, Tulbert CD, Busija DW, Weintraub NL: Arachidonic acid induced vasodilation of rat small mesenteric arteries is lipoxygenase dependent. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 304:139-144, 2003

Miller JW, Nadeau MR, Smith J, Smith D, Selhub J: Folate-deficiency-induced homocysteinaemia in rats: disruption of S-adenosylmethionine's co-ordinate regulation of homocysteine metabolism. *Biochem J* 298 :415-419, 1994

Miller JW, Shukitt-Hale B, Villalobos-Molina R, Nadeau MR, Selhub J, Joseph JA: Effect of L-Dopa and the catechol-O-methyltransferase inhibitor Ro 41-0960 on sulfur amino acid metabolites in rats. *Clin Neuropharmacol* 20:55-66, 1997

Milstien S, Katusic Z: Oxidation of tetrahydrobiopterin by peroxynitrite: Implications for vascular endothelial function. *Biochem Biphys Res Commun* 263:681-684, 1999

Miura H, Gutterman DD: Human coronary arteriolar dilation to arachidonic acid depends on cytochrome P450 monooxygenase and Ca<sup>+</sup>activated K<sup>+</sup> channels. *Circ Res* 83:501-507, 1998

Morgan SL, Baggott JE, Lee JY, Alarcon GS: Folic acid supplementation prevents deficient blood folate levels and hyperhomocysteinemia during long term, low dose methotrexate therapy for rheumatoid arthritis: implications for cardiovascular disease prevention. *J Rheumatol* 25:441-446, 1998

Mosharov E, Cranford MR, Banerjee R: The quantitatively important relationship between homocysteine metabolism and glutathione synthesis by the transsulfuration pathway and its regulation by redox changes. *Biochemistry* 39:13005-13011, 2000

Mudd SH, Poole JR: Labile methyl balance for normal humans on various dietary regimens. *Metabolism* 24:721-735, 1975

Mudd SH, Finkelstein JD, Irreverre F, Laster L: Transsulfuration in mammals. Microassays and tissue distributions of three enzymes of the pathway. *J Biol Chem* 240:4382-4392, 1965

Mudd SH, Skovby F, Levy HL, Pettigrew KD, Wilcken B, Pyeritz RE, Andria G, Boers GH, Bromberg IL, Cerone R, Fowler B, Grobe H, Schmidt H, Schweitzer L: The natural history of homocystinuria due to cystathionine beta-synthase deficiency. *Am J Hum Genet* 37:1-31, 1985

Mudd SH, Levy HL, Skovby F: Disorders of transsulfuration. In: Scriver CR, Beaudet Al, Sly WS, Valle D, (eds.), The metabolic and molecular basis of inherited disease. New York: McGraw-Hill, 1279-1327, 1995

Muller T, Woitalla D, Hauptmann B, Fowler B, Kuhn W: Decrease of methionine and S-adenosylmethionine and increase of homocysteine in treated patients with Parkinson's disease. *Neurosci Lett* 308:54-56, 2001

Munshi MN, Stone A, Fink L, Fonseca V: Hyperhomocysteinemia following a methionine load in patients with non insulin dependent diabetes mellitus and macrovascular disease. *Metabolism* 45:133-135, 1996

Muoio DM, Dohm GL, Fiedorek FT Jr, Tapscott EB, Coleman RA: Leptin directly alters lipid partitioning in skeletal muscle. *Diabetes* 46:1360-1363, 1997

Nagy L, Tontonoz, P, Alvarez JGA, Chen H, Evans RM: Oxidized LDL regulates macrophage gene expression through ligand activation of PPAR gamma. *Cell* 93:229-240, 1998

Naruszewicz M, Mirkiewicz E, Olszewski AJ, McCully KS: Thiolation of low density lipoprotein by homocysteine thiolactone causes increased aggregation and altered interaction with cultured macrophages. *Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis* 4:70-77, 1994

Neschen S, Morino K, Hammond LE, Zhang D, Liu ZX, Romanelli AJ, Cline GW, Pongratz RL, Zhang XM, Choi CS, Coleman RA, Shulman GI: Prevention of hepatic steatosis and hepatic insulin resistance in mitochondrial acyl-CoA:glycerol-sn-3phosphate acyltransferase 1 knockout mice. *Cell Metab* 2:55-65, 2005

Nieman KM, Rowling MJ, Garrow TA, Schalinske KL: Modulation of Methyl Group Metabolism by Streptozotocin-induced Diabetes and All-trans-retinoic Acid. *J Biol Chem* 279:45708-45712, 2004

Nijveldt RJ, Teerlink T, van Der Hoven B, Siroen MP, Kuik DJ, Rauwerda JA, Van Leeuwen PA: Asymmetrical dimethylarginine (ADMA) in critically ill patients: High plasma ADMA concentration is an independent risk factor for ICU mortality. *Clin Nutr* 22:23-30, 2003

Nishimaki-Mogami T, Yao Z, Fujimori K: Inhibition of phosphatidylcholine synthesis via the phophatidylethanolamine methylation pathway impairs incorporation of bulk lipids into VLDL in cultured rat hepatocytes. *J Lipid Res* 43:1035-1045, 2002

Nishinaga M, Ozawa T, Shimada K: Homocysteine, a thrombogenic agent, suppresses anticoagulant heparin sulfate expression in cultured porcine endothelial aortic cells. *J Clin Invest* 92:1381-1386, 1993

Nishio E, Watanabe Y: Homocysteine as a modulator of platelet-derived growth factor action in vascular smooth muscle cells: a possible role for hydrogen peroxide. *Br J Pharmacol* 122:269-274, 1997

Noga AA, Vance DE: A gender specific role for phosphatidylethanolamine Nmethyltransferase-derived phosphatidylcholine in the regulation of plasma high density and very low density lipoproteins in mice. *J Biol Chem* 278:21851-21859, 2003 Noga AA, Zhao Y, Vance DE: An unexpected requirement for phosphatidylethanolamine N-methyltransferase in the secretion of very low density lipoproteins. *J Biol Chem* 277:42358-42365, 2002

Noga AA, Stead LM, Zhao Y, Brosnan ME, Brosnan JT, Vance DE: Plasma homocysteine is regulated by phospholipid methylation. *J Biol Chem* 278:5952-5955, 2003

Noguchi T, Okuno E, Kido R: Identity of isoenzyme 1 of histidine-pyruvate aminotransferase with serine-pyruvate aminotransferase. *Biochem J* 159: 607-613, 1976

Norlund L, Grubb A, Fex G, Leksell H, Nilsson JE, Schenck H, Hultberg B: The increase of plasma homocysteine concentrations with age is partly due to the deterioration of renal function as determined by plasma cystatin C. *Clin Chem Lab Med* 36:175-178, 1998

Nygard O, Vollset SE, Refsum H, Stensvold I, Tverdal A, Nordrehaug JE, Ueland M, Kvale G: Total plasma homocysteine and cardiovascular risk profile. The Hordaland Homocysteine Study. *JAMA* 274:1526-1533, 1995

Nygard O, Nordrehaug JE, Refsum H, Ueland PM, Farstad M, Vollset SE: Plasma homocysteine levels and mortality in patients with coronary artery disease. *N Engl J Med* 337:230-236, 1997 A

Nygard O, Refsum H, Ueland PM, Stensvold I, Nordrehaug JE, Kvale G, Vollset SE: Coffee consumption and plasma total homocysteine: The Hordaland Homocysteine Study. *Am J Clin Nut.* 65:136–143, 1997 B

Oakes ND, Kennedy CJ, Jenkins AB, Laybutt DR, Chisholm DJ, Kraegen EW: A new antidiabetic agent, BRL 49653, reduces lipid availability and improves insulin action and glucoregulation in the rat. *Diabetes* 43:1203-1210, 1994

Oakes ND, Bell KS, Furler SM, Camilleri S, Saha AK, Ruderman NB, Chisholm DJ, Kraegen EW: Diet-induced muscle insulin resistance in rats is ameliorated by acute dietary lipid withdrawal or a single bout of exercise-parallel relationship between insulin stimulation of glucose uptake and suppression of long-chain fatty acyl CoA. *Diabetes* 46:2022-2028, 1997

Oakes ND, Thalen PG, Jacinto SM, Ljung B: Thiazolidinediones increase plasma – adipose tissue FFA exchange capacity and enhance insulin-mediated control of systemic FFA availability. *Diabetes* 50:1158-1165, 2001

Ohneda M, Inman LR, Unger RH: Caloric restriction in obese pre-diabetic rats prevents  $\beta$ -cell depletion, loss of  $\beta$ -cell GLUT 2 and glucose incompetence. *Diabetelogia* 38:173-179, 1995

م يناجلونه

Okada E, Oida K, Tada H, Asazuma K, Eguchi K, Tohda G, Kosaka S, Takahashi S, Miyamori I: Hyperhomocysteinemia is a risk factor for coronary arteriosclerosis in Japanese patients with Type 2 Diabetes. *Diabtes Care* 22: 484-490, 1999

Olefsky, JM: treatment of insulin resistance with peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor  $\gamma$  agonists. J Clin Invest 106:467-472, 2000

Olefsky JM, Saltiel AR: PPAR  $\gamma$  and the treatment of Insulin Resistance. *Trends Endocrinol Metab* 11:362-368, 2000

Oltean S, Banerjee R: Nutritional modulation of gene expression and homocysteine utilization by vitamin  $B_{12}$ . *J Biol Chem* 278:20778-20784, 2003

Olthof MR, van Vliet T, Boelsma E, Verhoef P: Low dose betaine supplementation leads to immediate and long term lowering of plasma homocysteine in healthy men and women. *J Nutr* 133:4135-4138, 2003

Oltman CL, Coppey LJ, Gellett JS, Davidson EP, Lund DD, Yorek MA. Progression of vascular and neural dysfunction in sciatic nerves of Zucker diabetic fatty and Zucker rats. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* 289:E113-122, 2005 Oltman CL, Richou LL, Davidson EP, Coppey LJ, Lund DD, Yorek MA. Progression of coronary and mesenteric vascular dysfunction in Zucker obese and Zucker diabetic fatty rats.*Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 291:H1780-1787, 2006

Outinen PA, Sood SK, Liaw PC, Sarge KD, Maeda N, Hirsh J, Ribau J, Podor TJ, Weitz JI, Austin RC: Characterization of the stress inducing effects of homocysteine. *Biochem J* 332:213-221, 1998

Outinen PA, Sood SK, Pfeifer SI, Pamidi S, Podor TJ, Li J, Weitz JI, Austin RC: Homocysteine-induced endoplasmic reticulum stress and growth arrest leads to specific changes in gene expression in human vascular endothelial cells. *Blood* 94:959-967, 1999

Ozmen B, Ozmen D, Turgan N, Habif S, Mutaf I, Bayindir O: Association between homocysteinemia and renal function in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Ann Clin Lab Sci* 32:279-286, 2002

Pajares MA, Duran C, Corrales F, Pliego MM, Mato JM: Modulation of rat liver Sadenosylmethionine synthetase activity by glutathione. *J Biol Chem* 267:17598-17605, 1992 Pannirselvam M, Anderson TJ, Triggle CR: Endothelial cell dysfunction in type I and II diabetes: The cellular basis for dysfunction. *Drug Rev Res.* 58:28-41, 2003

Panza JA, Quyyumi AA, Brush JE Jr, Epstein SE: Abnormal endothelium –dependent vascular relaxation in patients with essential hypertension. *N Engl J Med* 323:22-27, 1990

Pardridge WM: Brain metabolism: A perspective from the blood-brain barrier. *Physiol Rev* 63: 1481-1535, 1983

Pelleymounter MA, Cullen MJ, Baker MB, Hecht R, Winters D, Boone T, Collins F: Effects of the obese gene product on body weight regulation in ob/ob mice. *Science* 269:540-543, 1995

Petersen KF, Shulman GI: Etiology of insulin resistance. Am J Med 119: 10S-16S, 2006

Petersen KF, Befroy D, Dufour S, Dziura J, Ariyan C, Rothman DL, DiPietro L, Cline GW, Shulman GI: Mitochondrial dysfunction in the elderly: possible role in insulin resistance. *Science* 300: 1140-1142, 2003

Petersen KF, Dufour S, Befroy D, Garcia R, Shulman GI: Impaired mitochondrial activity in the insulin-resistant offspring of patients with type 2 diabetes. *N Engl J Med* 350:664-671, 2004

Peterson RG, Shaw WN, Noel M-A, Little LA, Eichberg J: Zucker Diabetic Fatty rat as a model for Non-insulin dependent diabetes mellitus. *ILAR News* 32: 16-19, 1990

Pogribna M, Melnyk S, Pogribny I, Chango A, Yi P, James SJ: Homocysteine metabolism in children with Down syndrome: in vitro modulation. *Am J Hum Genet* 69:88-95, 2001

Previs SF, Withers DJ, Ren JM, White MF, Shulman GI: Contrasting effects of IRS-1 versus IRS-2 gene disruption on carbohydrate and lipid metabolism in vivo. *J Biol Chem* 275: 38990-38994, 2000

Qian D, Brosnan JT: Administration of Escherichia coli endotoxin to rat increases liver mass and hepatocyte volume in vivo. *Biochem J* 313: 479-486, 1996

Quere I, Paul V, Rouillac C, Janbon C, London J, Demaille J, Kamoun P, Dufier JL, Abitbol M, Chasse JF: Spatial and temporal expression of the cystathionine betasynthase gene during early human development. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 254:127-137, 1999 Radomski MW, Palmer RM, Moncada S: The role of nitric oxide and cGMP in platelet adhesion to vascular endothelium. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 148:1482-1489, 1987

Randle PJ, Garland PB, Hales CN, Newsholme EA: The glucose fatty acid cycle: its role in insulin sensitivity and the metabolic disturbances of diabetes mellitus. *Lancet* 1:785-789, 1963

Randle PJ, Newsholme EA, Garland PB: Regulation of glucose uptake by muscle. Effects of fatty acid, ketone bodies and pyruvate, and of alloxan diabetes and starvation, on the uptake and metabolic fate of glucose in rat heart and diaphragm muscles. *Biochem J* 93:652-665, 1964

Randle PJ, Garland PB, Newsholme EA, Hales CN: The glucose fatty acid cycle in obesity and maturity onset diabetes mellitus. *Ann NY Acad Sci* 131:324-333, 1965

Ratnam S, Maclean KN, Jacobs RL, Brosnan ME, Kraus JP, Brosnan JT: Hormonal regulation of cystathionine  $\beta$  synthase expression in liver. *J Biol Chem* 277:42912-42918, 2002

Ratnam S, Wijekoon EP, Hall B, Garrow A, Brosnan ME, Brosnan JT: Effects of diabetes and insulin on betaine:homocysteine S-methyltransferase expression in rat liver. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* 290:E933-E939, 2006

Ratnoff OD: Activation of Hageman factor by L-homocystine. *Science* 162:1007-1009, 1968

Reaven GM: Role of insulin resistance in human disease. *Diabetes* 37:1595-1607, 1988

Refsum H, Helland S, Ueland PM: Fasting plasma homocysteine as a sensitive parameter of anti folate effect: a study of psoriasis patients receiving low-dose methotrexate treatment. *Clin Pharmacol Ther* 46:510-520, 1989

Refsum H, Wesenberg F, Ueland PM: Plasma homocysteine in children with acute lymphoblastic leukemia: changes during a chemotherapeutic regimen including methotrexate. *Cancer Res* 51:828-835, 1991

Refsum H, Ueland PM, Nygard O, Vollset SE: Homocysteine and cardiovascular disease. Annu Rev Med 49:31-62, 1998

Ridgway ND, Vance DE. Phosphatidylethanolamine N-methyltransferase from rat liver. *Methods Enzymol* 209:366-374, 1992

Robillon JF, Canivet B, Candito M, Sadoul JL, Jullien D, Morand P, Chambon P, Freychet P: Type 1 diabetes mellitus and homocyst(e)ine. *Diabetes Metab* 20; 494-496, 1994

Roden M, Price TB, Perseghin G, Petersen KF, Rothman DL, Cline GW, Shulman GI: Mechanism of free fatty acid induced insulin resistance in humans. *J Clin Invest* 97:2859-2865, 1996

Rodgers GM, Conn MT: Homocysteine: an atherogenic stimulus, reduces protein C activation by arterial and venous endothelial cells. *Blood* 75:895-901, 1990

Rodgers GM, Kane WH: Activation of endogenous factor V by homocysteineinduced vascular endothelial cell activator. *J Clin Invest* 77:1909-1916, 1986

Rodriguez T, Alvarez B, Busquets S, Carbo N, Lopez-Soriano FJ, Argiles JM: The increased skeletal muscle protein turnover of the streptozotocin diabetic rat is associated with high concentrations of branched-chain amino acids. *Biochem Mol Med* 61: 87-94, 1997

Rosolova H, Simon J, Mayer Jr O, Racek J, Dierze T, Jacobsen DW: Unexpected inverse relationship between insulin resistance and serum homocysteine in healthy subjects. *Physiol Res* 51:93-98, 2002

Rothman DL, Shulman RG, Shulman GI: <sup>31</sup>P nuclear magnetic resonance measurements of muscle glucose 6 phosphate. Evidence for reduced insulin dependent muscle glucose transport or phosphorylation activity in non-insulin dependent diabetes mellitus. *J Clin Invest.* 89:1069-1075, 1992

Rothman DL, Magnusson I, Cline G, Gerard D, Kahn CR, Shulman RG, Shulman GI: Decreased muscle glucose transport/phosphorylation is an early defect in the pathogenesis of non insulin dependent diabetes mellitus. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* 92:983-987, 1995

Roviezzo F, Bucci M, Brancaleone V, Di Lorenzo A, Geppetti P, Farneti S, Parente L, Lungarella G, Fiorucci S, Cirino G. Proteinase-activated receptor-2 mediates arterial vasodilation in diabetes. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 25:2349-2354, 2005

Rowling MJ, McMullen MH, Chipman DC, Schalinske KL: Hepatic glycine *N*methyltransferase is up regulated by excess dietary methionine in rats. *J Nutr* 132:2545-2550, 2002

Rowsell EV, Al-Tai AH, Carnie JA: Increased liver L-serine-pyruvate aminotransferase activity under gluconeogenic conditions. *Biochem J* 134: 349-351, 1973 Rozen R: Molecular genetics of methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase deficiency. *J Inherit Metab Dis* 19:589-594, 1996

Saenz TI, Goldstein I, Azadzoi K, Krane RJ, Cohen RA: Impaired neurogenic and endothelium-mediated relaxation of penile smooth muscle from diabetic me with impotence. *N Engl J Med* 320:1025-1030, 1989

Saltiel AR: Perspective series on diabetes: insulin resistance. J Clin Invest 106: 163-164, 2000

Saltiel AR, Olefsky JM: Thiazolidinediones in the treatment of insulin resistance and type II diabetes. *Diabetes* 45:1661-1669, 1996

Samuel VT, Liu ZX, Qu X, Elder BD, Bilz S, Befroy D, Romanelli AJ, Shulman GI: Mechanism of hepatic insulin resistance in non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. *J Biol Chem* 279:32345-32353, 2004

Sanchez-Gongora E, Ruiz F, Mingorance J, An W, Corrales FJ, Mato JM: Interaction of liver methionine adenosyltransferase with hydroxyl radical. *FASEB J* 11:1013-1019, 1997

Schachter M, Raziel A, Friedler S, Strassburger D, Bern O, Ron-El R: Insulin resistance in patients with polycystic ovary syndrome is associated with elevated plasma homocysteine. *Hum Reprod* 18:721-727, 2003

Scheen AJ: Pathophysiology of type 2 diabetes Acta Clin Belg 58:335-341, 2003

Schneede J, Refsum H, Ueland PM: Biological and environmental determinants of plasma homocysteine. *Semin Thromb Hemost* 26:263-279, 2000 Schwahn BC, Chen Z, Laryea MD, Wendl U, Lussier-Cacan S, Genest Jr J, Mar M-H, Zeisel SH, Castro C, Garrow T, Rozen R: Homocysteine-betaine interactions in a murine model of 5,10-methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase deficiency. *FASEB J* 17:512-514, 2003

Schwahn BC, Wendel U, Lussier-Cacan S, Mar M-H, Zeisel SH, Leclerc D, Castro C, Garrow TA, Rozen R: Effects of betaine in a murine model of mild cystathionine  $\beta$ -synthase deficiency. *Metabolism* 53:594-599, 2004

Sehayek E, Wang R, Ono JG, Zinchuk VS, Duncan EM, Shefer S, Vance DE, Ananthanarayanan M, Chait BT, Breslow JL: Localization of the PE methylation pathway and SR-B1 to the canalicular membrane: evidence for apical PC biosynthesis that may promote biliary excretion of phospholipid and cholesterol. *J lipid Res* 44:1605-1613, 2003 Selhub J, Jacques PF, Wilson PW, Rush D, Rosenberg IH: Vitamin status and intake as primary determinants of homocysteinemia in an elderly population. *JAMA* 270:2693-2698, 1993

Selhub J, Jacques PF, Bostom AD, D'Agostino RB, Wilson PW, Belanger AJ, O'Leary DH, Wolf PA, Schaefer EJ, Rosenberg IH: Association between plasma homocysteine concentrations and extra-cranial carotid artery stenosis. *N Eng J Med* 332:286-291, 1995

Selhub J, Jacques PF, Bostom AG, D'Agostino RB, Wilson PW, Belanger AJ, O'Leary DH, Wolf PA, Rush D, Schaefer EJ, Rosenberg IH: Relationship between plasma homocysteine, vitamin status and extracranial carotid-artery stenosis in the Framingham Study population. *J Nutr* 126:1258S-1265S, 1996

Seshadri S, Beiser A, Selhub J, Jacques PF, Rosenberg IH, D'Agostino RB, Wilson PWF, Wolf PA: Plasma homocysteine as a risk factor for dementia and Alzheimer's disease. *N Engl J Med* 346: 476-483, 2002

Shepherd PR, Gnudi L, Tozzo E, Yang H, Leach F, Kahn BB: Adipose cell hyperplasia and enhanced glucose disposal in transgenic mice over-expressing Glut4 selectively in adipose tissue. *J Biol Chem* 268:22243-22246, 1993

Shibata T, Akamine T, Nikki T, Yamashita H, Nobukuni K: Synthesis of betaine:homocysteine S-methyltransferase is continuously enhanced in fatty livers of thyroidectomized chickens. *Poult Sci* 82:207-213, 2003

Shimabukuro M, Koyama K, Chen G, Wang MY, Trieu F, Lee Y, Newgard CB, Unger RH: Direct anti diabetic effect of leptin through triglyceride depletion of tissues. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* 94:4637-4641, 1997

Shimabukuro M, Zhou YT, Lee Y, Unger RH: Troglitazone lowers islet fat and restores beta cell function of Zucker Diabetic Fatty rats. *J Biol Chem* 273:3547-3550, 1998

Shulman GI: Cellular mechanisms of insulin resistance. *J Clin invest* 106:171-176, 2000

Shulman GI, Rothman DL, Jue T, Stein P, DeFronzo RA, Shulman RG: Quantitation of muscle glycogen synthesis in normal subjects and subjects with non-insulin dependent diabetes by <sup>13</sup>C nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy. *N Engl J Med* 322:223-228, 1990

Sowden MP, Collins HL, Smith HC, Garrow TA, Sparks JD, Sparks CE: Apolipoprotein B mRNA and lipoprotein secretion are increased in McArdle RH- 7777 cells by expression of betaine:homocysteine S-methyltransferase. *Biochem J* 341:639-645, 1999

Sparkes JD, Collins HL, Chirieac DV, Cianci J, Jokinen J, Sowden MP, Galloway CA, Sparks CE: Hepatic very-low-density lipoprotein and apolipoprotein B production are increased following in vivo induction of betaine:homocysteine S-methyltransferase. *Biochem J* 395:363-371, 2006

Spiegelman BM: PPAR-gamma: adipogenic regulator and thiazolidinedione receptor. *Diabetes* 47:507-514, 1998

Spruce MC, Potter J, Coppinin DV: The pathogenesis and management of painful diabetic neuropathy: a review. *Diabet Med* 20: 88-98, 2003

Squires SA, Ewart HS, McCarthy C, Brosnan ME, Brosnan, JT: Regulation of hepatic glutaminase in the streptozotocin-induced diabetic rat. *Diabetes* 46: 1945-1949, 1997

Stabler SP, Estacio R, Jeffers BW, Cohen JA, Allen RH, Schrier RW: Total homocysteine is associated with nephropathy in non insulin dependent diabetes mellitus. *Metabolism* 48:1096-1101, 1999

Stamler JS, Simon DI, Osborne JA, Mullins ME, Jaraki O, Michel T, Singel DJ, Loscalzo J: S-nitrosylation of proteins with nitric oxide: synthesis and characterization of biologically active compounds. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* 89:444-448, 1992

Stamler JS, Osborne JA, Jaraki O, Rabbani LE, Mullins M, Singel D, Loscalzo J: Adverse vascular effects of homocysteine are modulated by endothelium-derived relaxing factor and related oxides of nitrogen. *J Clin Invest* 91:308-318, 1993

Stamm EB, Reynolds RD: Plasma total homocyst(e)ine may not be the most appropriate index for cardiovascular disease risk. *J Nutr* 129:1927-1930, 1999 Stampfer MJ, Malinow MR, Willett WC, Newcomer LM, Upson B, Ullmann D, Tishler PV, Hennekens CH: A prospective study of plasma homocyst(e)ine and risk of myocardial infarction in US physicians. *JAMA* 268:877-881, 1992

Stampfer MJ, Malinow MR: Can lowering homocysteine levels reduce cardiovascular risk? *N Engl J Med* 332:328-932, 1995

Stead LM, Brosnan ME, Brosnan JT: Characterization of homocysteine metabolism in the rat liver. *Biochem J* 350:685-692, 2000

Stead LM, Au KP, Jacobs RL, Brosnan ME, Brosnan JT: Methylation demand and homocysteine metabolism: effects of dietary provision of creatine and guanidinoacetate. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* 281:E1095-1100, 2001

Stead LM, Brosnan JT, Brosnan ME, Vance DE, Jacobs RL: Is it time to re-evaluate methyl balance in humans? Am J Clin Nutr 83:5-10, 2006

Steegers-Theunissen RP, Boers GH, Steegers EA, Trijbels FJ, Thomas CM, Eskes TK: Effects of sub-50 oral contraceptives on homocysteine metabolism: a preliminary study. *Contraception* 45:129-139, 1992

Steenge GR, Verhoef P, Katan MB: Betaine supplementation lowers plasma homocysteine in healthy men and women. *J Nutr* 133:1291-1295, 2003

Stehouwer CDA, Gall M-A, Hougaard P, Jakobs C, Parving H-H: Plasma homocysteine concentration predicts mortality in non-insulin dependent diabetic patients with and without albuminuria. *Kidney Int* 55:308-314, 1999

Stein DT, Dobbins R, Szczepaniak L, Malloy C, McGarry JD: Skeletal muscle triglyceride stores are increased in insulin resistance (abstract). *Diabetes* 46 (suppl. 1): 23A, 1997

Steinberg HO, Chaker H, Leaming R, Johnson A, Brechtel G, Baron AD: Obesity/insulin resistance is associated with endothelial dysfunction. Implications for the syndrome of insulin resistance. *J Clin Invest* 97:2601-2610, 1996

Stipanuk MH: Effect of excess dietary methionine on the catabolism of cysteine in rats. J Nutr 109:2126-2139, 1979

Storch KJ, Wagner DA, Burke JF, Young VR: Quantitative study in vivo of methionine cycle in humans using [methyl- ${}^{2}H_{3}$ ]- and [1- ${}^{13}C$ ]methionine. *Am J Physiol* 255:E322-331, 1988

Stubbs M, York DA: Central glucocorticoid regulation of parasympathetic drive to pancreatic  $\beta$ -cells in the obese fa/fa rat. *Int J Obes* 15:547-53, 1991

Stuhlinger MC, Oka RK, Graf EE, Schmolzer I, Upson BM, Kapoor O, Szuba A, Malinow MR, Wascher TC, Pachinger O, Cooke JP: Endothelial dysfunction induced by hyperhomocyst(e)inemia: role of asymmetric dimethylarginine. *Circulation* 108:933-938, 2003

Su Y, Kanamoto R, Miller DA, Ogawa H, Pitot HC: Regulation of the expression of the serine dehydratase gene in the kidney and liver of the rat. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 170: 892-899, 1990

Sullivan DM, Hoffman JL: Fractionation and kinetic properties of rat liver kidney MAT isozymes. *Biochemistry* 22:1636-1641, 1983

Sundler R. and Akesson B: Biosynthesis of phosphatidylethanolamines and phosphatidylcholines from ethanolamine and choline in rat liver. *Biochem J* 146:309-315, 1975

Suwaidi JA, Hamasaki S, Higano ST, Nishimura RA, Holmes DR Jr, Lerman A: Long-term follow up of patients with mild coronary artery disease and endothelial dysfunction. *Circulation* 101:948-954, 2000

Svardal A, Refsum H, Ueland PM: Determination of in vivo protein binding of homocysteine and its relation to free homocysteine in the liver and other tissues of the rat. *J Biol Chem* 261:3156-3163, 1986

Taddei S, Virdis A, Mattei P, Ghiadoni L, Sudano I, Salvetti A: Defective L-argininenitric oxide pathway in offspring of essential hypertensive patients. *Circulation* 94: 1298-1303, 1996

Tai T-AC, Jennermann C, Brown KK, Oliver BB, MacGinnitie MA, Wilkison WO, Brown HR, Lehmann JM, Kliewer SA, Morris DC, Graves RA: Activation of the nuclear receptor peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor  $\gamma$  promotes brown adipocyte differentiation. *J Biol Chem* 271:29909-29914, 1996

Takata Y, Huang Y, Komoto J, Yamada T, Konishi K, Ogawa H, Gomi T, Fujioka M, Takusagawa F: Catalytic mechanism of glycine N-methyltransferase. *Biochemistry* 42:8394-8402, 2003

Tallan HH, Moore S, Stein WH: L-cystathionine in human brain. *J Biol Chem* 230:707-716, 1958

Taoka S, Ohja S, Shan X, Kruger WD, Banerjee R: Evidence for heme-mediated redox regulation of human cystathionine beta-synthase activity. *J Biol Chem* 273:25179-25184, 1998

Thomson SC, Vallon V, Blantz RC: Kidney function in early diabetes: the tubular hypothesis of glomerular filtration. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol* 286:F8-15, 2004 Ting HH, Timimi FK, Boles KS, Creager SJ, Ganz P, Creager MA: Vitamin C improves endothelium-dependent vasodilation in patients with non insulin dependent diabetes mellitus. *J Clin Invest* 97:22-28, 1996

Tonstad S, Refsum H, Ose L, Ueland PM: The C677T mutation in the methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase gene predisposes to hyperhomocysteinemia in children with familial hypercholesterolemia treated with cholestyramine. *J Pediatr* 132:365-368, 1998

Tontonoz P, Hu E, Spiegelman BM: Stimulation of adipogenesis in fibroblasts by PPAR gamma 2, a lipid activated transcription factor. *Cell* 79:1147-1156, 1994

Triggle CR, Hollenberg M, Anderson TJ, Ding H, Jiang YF, Ceroni L, Wiehler WB, Ng ESM, Ellis A, Andrews K, McGuire JJ, Pannirselvam M: The endothelium in health and disease-A target for therapeutic intervention. *J Smooth Muscle Res* 39:249-267, 2003

Tsai JC, Perrella MA, Yoshizumi M, Hsieh CM, Haber E, Schlegel R, Lee ME: Promotion of vascular smooth muscle cell growth by homocysteine: a link to atherosclerosis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* 91:6369-6373, 1994

Tsai MY, Garg U, Key NS, Hanson NQ, Suh A, Schwichtenberg K: Molecular and biochemical approaches in the identification of heterozygotes for homocystinuria. *Atherosclerosis* 122:69-77, 1996

Ubbink JB, van der Merwe A, Delport R, Allen RH, Stabler SP, Riezler R, Vermaak WJ: The effect of a subnormal vitamin B-6 status on homocysteine metabolism. *J* Clin Invest 98:177-184, 1996

Ueland PM, Mansoor MA, Guttormsen AB, Muller F, Aukrust P, Refsum H, Svardal AM: Reduced, oxidized and protein-bound forms of homocysteine and other aminothiols in plasma comprise the redox thiol status-a possible element of the extracellular antioxidant defense system. *J Nutr* 126:1281S-1284S, 1996

Uemura S, Matsushita H, Li W, Glassford A, Asagami T, Lee KH, Harrison DG, Tsao PS: Diabetes mellitus enhances vascular matrix metalloproteinase activity: Role of oxidative stress. *Circ Res* 88:1291-1298, 2001

Undas A, Jankowski M, Twardowska M, Padjas A, Jakubowski H, Szczeklik A: Antibodies to N-homocysteinylated albumin as a marker for early-onset coronary artery disease in men. *Thromb Haemost* 93:346-350, 2005

Unger RH: How obesity causes diabetes in Zucker Diabetic Fatty rats. *Trends Endocrinol Metab* 7:276-282, 1998

Unger RH, Zhou YT, Orci L: Regulation of fatty acid homeostasis in cells: novel role of leptin. *Proc Natl Acad Sci.* 96:2327-2332, 1999

Ungvari Z, Csiszar A, Edwards JG, Kaminski PM, Wolin MS, Kaley G, Koller A: Increased superoxide production in coronary arteries in hyperhomocysteinemia: role of tumor necrosis factor alpha, NAD(P)H oxidase, and inducible nitric oxide synthase. *Arterioscl Thromb Vasc Biol* 23:418-424, 2003

Upchurch GR Jr, Welch GN, Fabian AJ, Freedman JE, Johnson JI, Keaney JF Jr, Loscalzo J: Homocyst(e)ine decreases bioavailable nitric oxide by a mechanism involving glutathione peroxidase. *J Biol Chem* 272:17012-17017, 1997 van der Put NMJ, Eskes TKAB, Blom HJ: Is the common 677C-T mutation in the methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase gene a risk factor for neural tube defects? A meta-analysis. *Q J Med* 90:111–115, 1997

van der Put NM, Gabreels F, Stevens EM, Smeitink JA, Trijbels FJ, Eskes TK, van den Heuvel LP, Blom HJ: A second common mutation in the methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase gene: an additional risk factor for neural-tube defects? *Am J Hum Genet* 62:1044-1051, 1998

van Guldener C, Donker AJ, Jakobs C, Teerlink T, de Meer K, Stehouwer CD: No net renal extraction of homocysteine in fasting humans. *Kidney Int* 54:166-169, 1998

van Meurs JBJ, Dhonukshe-Rutten RAM, Pluijm SMF, van der Klift M, de Jonge R, Lindemans J, de Groot LCPGM, Hofman A, Witteman JCM, van Leeuwen JPTM, Breteler MMB, Lips P, Pols HAP, Uitterlinden AG: Homocysteine levels and the risk of osteoporotic fracture. *N Engl J Med* 350:2033-2041, 2004

Vance DE, Ridgway ND: The methylation of phosphatidylethanolamine. *Prog Lipid Res* 27:61-79, 1988

Vance JE, Vance DE: The role of phosphatidylcholine biosynthesis in the secretion of lipoproteins from hepatocytes. *Can J Biochem Cell Biol* 63:870-881, 1985

Vermeulen PS, Lingrell S, Yao Z, Vance DE: Phosphatidylcholine biosynthesis is required for secretion of truncated apolipoprotein Bs from McArdle RH7777 cells only when a neutral lipid core is formed. *J Lipid Res* 38:447-458, 1997

Vester B, Rasmussen K: High performance liquid chromatography method for rapid and accurate determination of homocysteine in plasma and serum. *Eur J Clin Chem Clin Biochem* 29:549-554. 1991

Vina J, Gimenez A, Puertes IR, Gasco E, Vina JR: Impairment of cysteine synthesis from methionine in rats exposed to surgical stress. *Br J Nutr* 68:421-429, 1992

Vina J, Vento M, Garcia-Sala F, Puertes IR, Gasco E, Sastre J, Asensi M, Pallardo FV: L-Cysteine and glutathione metabolism are impaired in premature infants due to cystathionase deficiency. *Am J Clin Nutr* 61:1067-1069, 1995

Vlassara H, Bucala R: Recent progress in advanced glycation and diabetic vascular disease: role of advanced glycation end product receptors. *Diabetes* 45:S65-S66, 1996

Vollset SE, Nygård O, Kvåle G, Ueland PM, Refsum H: The Hordaland homocysteine study: lifestyle and plasma homocysteine in Western Norway. In Homocysteine Metabolism: From Basic Science to Clinical Medicine Graham IM,
Refsum H, Rosenberg IH, Ueland PM (eds.), Kluwer Academic Publishers, Boston, pp. 177-182, 1997

Wagner C, Briggs WT, Cook RJ: Inhibition of glycine N-methyltransferase activity by folate derivatives: implications for regulation of methyl group metabolism. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 127:746-752, 1985

Walker AB, Chattington PD, Buckingham RE, Williams G. The thiazolidinedione rosiglitazone (BRL-49653) lowers blood pressure and protects against impairment of endothelial function in Zucker fatty rats. Diabetes 48:1448-1453, 1999

Walkey CJ, Yu L, Agellon LB, Vance DE: Biochemical and evolutionary significance of phospholipid methylation. *J Biol Chem* 273:27043-27046, 1998

Wang H, Yoshizumi M, Lai KH, Tsai JC, Perrella MA, Haber E, Lee ME: Inhibition of growth and p21 (ras) methylation in vascular endothelial cells by homocysteine but not cysteine. *J Biol Chem* 272:25380-25385, 1997

Wang TD, Chen WJ, Lin JW, Chen MF, Lee YT. Effects of rosiglitazone on endothelial function, C-reactive protein, and components of the metabolic syndrome in nondiabetic patients with the metabolic syndrome. *Am J Cardiol* 93:362-365, 2004

Wang TW, Byrne CD, Hales CN: Effect of ethanol on hepatic apolipoprotein B synthesis and secretion in vitro. *Biochem Biophys Acta* 1211:234-238, 1994

Weiss N, Zhang YY, Heydrick S, Bierl C, Loscalzo J: Overexpression of cellular glutathione peroxidase rescues homocyst(e)ine-induced endothelial dysfunction. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* 98:12503-12508, 2001

Welch GN, Loscalzo J: Homocysteine and atherothrombosis. *N Engl J Med* 338:1042-1050, 1998

Welch GN, Upchurch GR Jr, Loscalzo J: Hyperhomocyst(e)inemia and atherothrombosis. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* 811:48-58, 1997

Wettstein M, Peters-Regehr T, Kubitz R, Fischer R, Holneicher C, Monnighoff I, Haussinger D: Release of osmolytes induced by phagocytosis and hormones in rat liver. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol* 278:G227-33, 2000

Wijekoon EP, Skinner C, Brosnan ME, Brosnan JT: Amino acid metabolism in the Zucker Diabetic Fatty rat: effects of insulin resistance and of type 2 diabetes. *Can. J. Physiol. Pharmacol* 82:506-514, 2004

Wijekoon EP, Hall B, Ratnam S, Brosnan ME, Brosnan JT: Homocysteine metabolism in ZDF (type 2) diabetic rats. *Diabetes* 54:3245-3251. 2005

Williams B, Galacher B, Patel H, Orme C: Glucose-induced protein kinase C activation regulates vascular permeability factor mRNA expression and peptide production by human vascular smooth muscle cells in vitro. *Diabetes* 46:1497-1503, 1997

Williamson DH, Lopes-Vieira O, Walker B: Concentrations of free glucogenic amino acids in livers of rats subjected to various metabolic stresses. *Biochem J* 104: 497-502, 1967

Wilson PW: Diabetes mellitus and coronary heart disease. Am J Kidney Dis 32:S89-100, 1998

Wollesen F, Brattstrom L, Refsum H, Ueland PM, Berglund L, Berne C: Plasma total homocysteine and cysteine in relation to glomeruler filtration rate in diabetes mellitus. *Kidney Int* 55:1028-1035, 1999

Wright M, Francis K, Cornwell P: Effect of acute exercise on plasma homocysteine. J Sports Med Phys Fitness. 38:262-265, 1998

Yang Q, Graham TE, Mody N, Preitner F, Peroni OD, Zabolotony JM, Kotani K, Quadro L, Kahn BB: Serum retinol binding protein 4 contributes to insulin resistance in obesity and type 2 diabetes. *Nature* 436:356-362, 2005

Yao Z, Vance DE: The active synthesis of phosphatidylcholine is required for very low density lipoprotein secretion from rat hepatocytes. *J Biol Chem* 263:2998-3004, 1988

Yao Z, Vance DE: Head group specificity in the requirement of phosphatidylcholine biosynthesis for very low density lipoprotein secretion from cultured hepatocytes. *J Biol Chem* 264:11373-11380, 1989

Yao Z, Vance DE: Reduction in VLDL, but not HDL, in plasma of rats deficient in choline. *Biochem Cell Biol* 68:552-558, 1990

Ye J.-M, Dzamko N, Cleasby BD, Hegarty BD, Furler SM, Cooney GJ, Kraegen EW: Direct demonstration of lipid sequestration as a mechanism by which rosiglitazone prevents fatty-acid-induced insulin resistance in the rat: comparison with metformin. *Diabetologia* 47:1306-1313, 2004

Zeiher AM, Fisslthaler B, Schray-Utz B, Busse R: Nitric oxide modulates the expression of monocyte chemoattractent protein 1 in cultured human endothelial cells. *Circ Res* 76:980-986, 1995

Zhang C, Cai Y, Adachi MT, Oshiro S, Aso T, Kaufman RJ, Kitajama S: Homocysteine induces programmed cell death in human vascular endothelial cells through activation of the unfolded protein response. *J Biol Chem* 276:35867-35874, 2001

Zhang Y, Proenca R, Maffei M, Barone M, Leopold L, Friedman JM: Positional cloning of the mouse obese gene and its human homologue. *Nature* 372:425-432, 1994

Zhou J, Moller J, Danielsen CC, Bentzon J, Ravn HB, Austin RC, Falk E: Hyperhomocysteinemia promotes the development of collagen-rich and stable plaques in apoE-deficient mice. *Arterioscler Throm Vasc Biol* 21:1470-1476, 2001

Zhou J, Moller J, Ritskes-Hoitinga M, Larsen ML, Austin RC, Falk E: Effects of vitamin supplementation and hyperhomocysteinemia on atherosclerosis in apoE-deficient mice. *Atherosclerosis* 168:255-262, 2003

Zhou W, Wang X-L, Kaduce TL, Spector AA, Lee H-C: Impaired arachidonic acid mediated dilation of small mesenteric arteries in Zucker Diabetic Fatty rats. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 288:H2210-H2218, 2005

Zhou YT, Grayburn P, Karim A, Shimabukuro M, Higa M, Baetens D, Orci L, Unger RH: Lipotoxic heart disease in obese rats: implications for human obesity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* 97:1784-1789, 2000

Zhu X, Song J, Mar M-H, Edwards LJ, Zeisel SH: Phosphatidylethanolamine Nmethyltransferase (PEMT) knockout mice have hepatic steatosis and abnormal hepatic choline metabolite concentrations despite ingesting a recommended dietary intake of choline. *Biochem J* 370:987-993, 2003

Zierath JR, He L, Guma A, Odegoard-Wahlstrom E, Klip A, Wallberg-Henriksson H: Insulin action on glucose transport and plasma membrane GLUT 4 content in skeletal muscle from patients with NIDDM. *Diabetologia* 39:1180-1189, 1996







